Florida State University Libraries

Electronic Theses, Treatises and Dissertations

The Graduate School

2019

Teacher Leaders' Agency in Collaborative Professional Learning in Instructional Reform Contexts

Cassandra C. Howard

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

TEACHER LEADERS' AGENCY IN COLLABORATIVE PROFESSIONAL LEARNING IN INSTRUCTIONAL REFORM CONTEXTS

By

CASSANDRA C. HOWARD

A Dissertation submitted to the
Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Cassandra Howard defended this dissertation on March 25, 2019.

The members of the supervisory committee were:

Motoko Akiba

Professor Directing Dissertation

Jeanine Turner

University Representative

Ayesha Khurshid

Committee Member

Stacey Rutledge

Committee Member

The Graduate School has verified and approved the above-named committee members, and certifies that the dissertation has been approved in accordance with university requirements.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost I must acknowledge the guidance of my adviser Motoko Akiba. Her support and feedback have encouraged and enabled my development as a scholar and researcher. I am extremely grateful for the attention and dedication she gave to my intellectual growth and the opportunity to learn from and with her as both an advisee and member of the research team that she led with an inspiring professionalism and commitment to rigorous, relevant research.

I am also grateful to the other members of my committee and all of my professors in the Department of Educational Leadership and Policy, each of whom supported my capacity and confidence in their unique way.

My family and friends patiently pretended they understood when I bowed out of engagements due to studying or writing, and they were happy to celebrate with me when I reached a milestone, especially Sofia and Uly. My husband, Sergio, did, in fact, understand and extended an extraordinary level of support that helped me to maintain any sanity I may still lay claim to.

Finally, the teachers who were the subject of this study were exceedingly patient and accommodating. This was not due to any fondness for me, but rather their dedication to their profession and their commitment to continuing their own improvement and that of their peers. Their dedication inspires my own attempts at improvement and the hope that we can foster similar commitment and capacities among teachers and students beyond the immediate scope of these inspiring teacher leaders.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of TablesAbstract	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
Teacher Agency and Policy	3
Prior Research on Teacher Agency	6
Teacher Leadership and Teacher Agency in Collaborative Learning	9
Theoretical Framework	10
Description of Study	11
Study Significance	13
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	16
Theoretical Framework on Teacher Agency: Sociocultural Theory	16
Reform Context	21
Teacher Agency in Reform Contexts	26
Teacher Agency in Lesson Study	43
Conclusion	47
CHAPTER 3 METHODS	49
Research Context	50
Participants	51
Lesson Study Process	58
Sources of Data	61
Data Analysis	64

Subjectivities	76
Conclusion	77
CHAPTER 4 FINDINGS	78
RQ1: Meanings	79
RQ2: Opportunities to Learn	111
Conclusions	128
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS	129
Discussion of Findings	129
Reconceptualizing Teacher Agency	133
Study Limitations and Future Research	135
Policy Implications for Teacher Leadership in Professional Learning	138
APPENDICES	143
A IRB APPROVALB CONSENT FORMS	
References	148
Biographical Sketch	159

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Study participants	52
Table 2. Group composition	57
Table 3. Lesson study process by team 2015	58
Table 4. Lesson study process by team 2016	59
Table 5. Data sources	62
Table 6. Coding for meanings about student learning and teaching	67
Table 7. Coding for meanings about teacher learning and facilitating	70
Table 8. Meanings about student learning and teaching	81
Table 9. Meanings about teacher learning/facilitating	97

ABSTRACT

This comparative case study explores the agency of two teacher leaders (TLs) as they facilitate their respective teacher-organized lesson study groups. Applying sociocultural theory, I describe TL agency as manifesting at two levels: (1) the meanings teachers make about student learning, teaching, and teacher learning and (2) their talk and actions as facilitators of teacher learning during lesson study. I find that differences in each TL's meanings of teaching and learning contribute to different approaches to facilitation and ultimately, different opportunities to learn for the teachers in each group, despite a very similar lesson study design and context. One TL's meanings of teaching and learning demonstrate a strong and cohesive vision of instructional improvement that reflects constructivist shifts in mathematics education and emphasizes deepening understanding of the connections between ideas and/or strategies. Her facilitation shapes opportunities to learn characterized by engaging in the resolving of dissonances between new and prior understandings. The other TL's meanings of teaching and learning reflect a fusion of traditional and constructivist approaches to teaching and learning, where exploration of multiple tools and strategies is valued, but primacy remains on the outcome of correct solutions. Her facilitation does not shape opportunities to learn characterized by deepened understandings or shifts in meanings of teaching and learning. Policy implications for supporting TLs' agency in collaborative learning will be discussed.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Teachers need opportunities for sustained professional learning to respond to rapidly changing classroom contexts and a policy environment characterized by instructional improvement reforms (Elmore, 2004; Webster-Wright, 2009). Recognizing this need, a significant amount of federal funding has been invested into teacher professional development (PD) to promote improvement of teaching and student learning (U.S. Department of Education, 2016). However, recent policy reports indicate that teachers are dissatisfied with PD offerings (Gates Foundation, 2014) and the investment has not resulted in instructional improvement (Garet et al., 2001; 2011; Garet & Warner, 2010; The Mirage Report, 2015).

In this context, increasing teacher agency in professional learning has been promoted as a way to overcome the breakdown between PD designed with characteristics identified by research as effective and teachers' actual experiences of research-aligned professional learning (Calvert, 2016). Drawing from a broad definition of agency as acting towards desired outcomes (Bandura, 2001), calls for teacher agency in professional learning are rooted in the belief that empowering teachers to shape their own learning will lead to more meaningful and effective engagement in instructional improvement processes (Calvert, 2016, Gates Foundation, 2014; Rentner, Kober, Frizzell, & Ferguson, 2016). Following a similar logic, teacher leadership has also been promoted as a promising pathway to instructional improvement (Borko, Koellner, & Jacobs, 2014; Elliott et al., 2009; Koellner, Jacobs, & Borko, 2011; Leithwood & Mascall, 2008; Lord & Miller, 2000).

These studies suggest that teacher leaders (TLs) may leverage their experiences, collegial connections, and knowledge of the school context to create unique and relevant learning

opportunities for fellow teachers. In other words, TLs may be seen as models of the highly agentic teacher, shaping her own professional learning and that of her peers. However, few studies have examined the relationship between TLs' agency and opportunities to learn in collaborative professional learning. This is reflective of a research trend focused on teachers' perceptions of agency. Only one empirical study have explored teachers' agency *in action* as they engage in professional learning (Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015). While one study has explored the agency of TLs (Szczesiul & Huizenga, 2015), it did not relate TLs' agency to learning opportunities.

This study aims to address this gap in research by focusing on the agency of two TLs leading two groups of teachers independently practicing a research-aligned form of collaborative professional learning known as lesson study. The comparative case study design facilitates indepth exploration of the cases of Elena and Kate, two TLs who have actively sought to shape their own professional learning experience and that of their peers by initiating and sustaining lesson study groups at their respective schools. It aims to uncover the nature and enactment of teacher agency as manifested in the meanings they make about teaching and learning and their facilitation of group interactions around improvement of instruction and student learning. In prior research with these teams as part of a larger research project (Murata, Akiba, Howard, Kuleshova, & Fabrega, 2016), we have found that although each of the two groups has a very similar lesson study practice on the surface, notable differences exist in their approach to instructional improvement. This study seeks to further understand those differences through an analysis of teacher agency, designed to explore how TL' actions in group learning reflect meanings of teaching and learning that may relate to distinct approaches to instructional

improvement and, ultimately, different learning opportunities for teachers. Such a study focused on TLs' agency in professional learning addresses a central concern of education policy.

Teacher Agency and Policy

The tension between agency and structure is at the heart of policy research (Coburn, 2016). Policy's purpose is to influence human action, but implementation research has well documented how this rarely, if ever, is a unilateral process (Coburn, 2001; Honig, 2006; McLaughlin, 1998; Spillane, Reiser, & Reimer, 2002). Policy implementers influence outcomes by the actions they take in response to policy and the meanings they attribute to policy. In education, the implementing agents whose actions perhaps matter the most are teachers, since their work is most directly linked to student learning (Hanushek & Rivkin, 2006). While debates about the tension between structure and agency may be implied in all studies of education policy, recently, explicitly studying teacher agency in response to reforms has emerged as a topic of interest among researchers in education (Coburn, 2016). Focusing explicitly on teacher agency directs researchers' attention to the microprocesses—internal and external, individual and collective—that influence the outcomes of instructional improvement.

This type of research is particularly relevant given the nature of recent instructional reform movements, which usually seek to standardize the curriculum and are often packaged with accountability and evaluation policies that limit teachers' flexibility (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 2006). These instructional reform movements are caught in a conundrum. As they seek greater control over the instructional core of schooling as a means to improve student learning, they may also decrease teachers' ability to apply professional discretion based on the localized needs of their classrooms (Hargreaves, 1998; Spillane et al., 2002). It is perhaps no surprise, then, that recently there has been an increased call for policies supporting teacher agency.

For example, in a series of 2016 reports, the Center for Education Policy (CEP) used survey results of a nationally representative sample of teachers (n=3,328) and focus groups to argue for increasing teachers' voice in policy decisions (Rentner et al., 2016). They found that teachers feel their voice is not being heard by school, district, state, and federal policymakers, which may have negative effects on teachers' understanding and implementation of instructional reform. In this case, teacher agency is associated with the ability to shape the policy decisions that affect teachers' work.

A report from the previous year by the Gates Foundation reached similar conclusions in relation to teachers' professional development (Gates Foundation, 2014). They found that teachers are largely dissatisfied with PD offerings, but teachers who have a choice in such offerings report higher levels of satisfaction. These findings were echoed in another 2016 report by Learning Forward, who partners with over 33 states on setting PD standards (Calvert, 2016). Their report highlights a need to increase teacher agency in professional learning and calls on policymakers to recognize "the intangible, but enormous value teachers place on being listened to and involved meaningfully as well as the benefits the school community enjoys when teachers are intrinsically motivated to pursue their continued development" (p. 3). Here, as in the CEP report, increasing teachers' ability to influence their learning environment is promoted as a way to be responsive to the needs and motivations of teachers as key policy implementers.

Indeed, the Every Student Succeeds Act (2016) provisions requiring stakeholder-input (including teachers) were celebrated as a response to the need to include teachers' voices in policy decisions (Hirsh, 2017), but those requirements were loosened by Secretary of Education Betsy Devos a few weeks after taking office (Rose, 2017). Recent comments by Secretary Devos, however, suggest that she too recognizes a need to increase teacher agency. Commenting

on a visit to a Washington, D.C. school, Devos said of the teachers she met: "I can tell the attitude is more of a 'receive mode.' They're waiting to be told what they have to do, and that's not going to bring success to an individual child" (Thomas, 2017). This now infamous comment also hints at a perceived relationship between teacher autonomy and student outcomes, where more choice and flexibility are associated with instructional improvement.

These calls for increases in teacher agency echo a similar demand for the development of TLs. In their literature review of teacher leadership, Muijs and Harris (2003) described teacher leadership as "centrally concerned with forms of empowerment and agency" (p. 439). Learning Forward (2017) includes leadership as one of its seven standards for teachers' professional learning, noting that organizations that promote shared leadership benefit from collaborative capacity building and shared norms, goals, and values. In 2014, former Education Secretary Arne Duncan announced the Teach to Lead initiative—a partnership between the Department of Education, the National Board on Professional Teaching Standards, and ASCD that promotes teacher leadership by providing resources to teachers, organizing opportunities for collaboration, and facilitating stakeholder communication. He explained that teacher leadership means that teachers not only have a voice in guiding policies but in supporting the professional learning of fellow teachers (U.S. Department of Education, 2015).

According to the most recent MetLife Survey of the American Teacher (Markow, Macia, & Lee, 2013), such initiatives reflect teachers' desire for leadership responsibilities.

Approximately half (51%) of the 1,000 teachers from a nationally-representative sample responded that they were interested in a formal leadership role. Of the teachers who reported lower job satisfaction this number was even higher: 56% of those teachers reported an interest in a formal leadership role. Because teachers who reported lower job satisfaction were also more

likely to work in a low-achieving school, these findings led the researchers to conclude that teacher leadership may be a "potential resource for translating big challenges into opportunities" (p. 51). Their argument is consistent with other researchers (Berry, 2011; Cochran-Smith, 2004) who have suggested that teacher leadership pathways may be one way to decrease issues, such as burnout and high turnover, that are currently plaguing the teacher profession (Goldring, Taie, & Riddles, 2014; Ingersoll, 2001). Creating opportunities for teacher leadership is thought to confront these issues by: a) providing teachers with career pathways that keep them professionally engaged and acknowledge the value of their expertise and b) leveraging TLs' experience to support novice teachers as they navigate the complex field of teaching.

In many ways, and as will be described below, these calls for increased teacher agency and leadership are supported in education research. However, the reports may paint an overly simplistic picture of what teacher agency looks like and what its results may be. The next section briefly outlines prior research on teacher agency to build the case for further research on the agency of TLs in collaborative learning contexts.

Prior Research on Teacher Agency

Agency is defined broadly as the capacity to act with intention towards valued outcomes within cultural, social, and institutional contexts (Bandura, 2001). Much of the research on teacher agency has specifically focused on teacher agency in large-scale instructional reform contexts and has broadly found that current instructional improvement reforms constrain teacher agency, although teachers' professional identities—their values, goals, and beliefs related to teaching and learning—may mediate the effects of reform (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto, Pietarinin, & Soini, 2012; 2014; 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen and Eteläpelto, 2009). Relatedly, teacher agency has also been implicated as a factor influencing the

implementation of instructional reform, since teachers use their agency to make sense of reform, although these studies may not always use the language of agency (Allen & Penuel, 2015; Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Coburn 2001; 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2014; Vähäsantanen 2015). These "sensemaking" processes usually occur in formal and informal interactions with fellow teachers and administrators.

In fact, all of the above research converges on the potential of collaborative professional learning as mechanisms to support teacher agency, learning, and instructional reform. As spaces in which teachers collaborate and reflect on practice, these communities are thought to lead to more meaningful learning around reform by increasing teachers' agency, collective responsibility of the reform, and the shared meanings that teachers construct around instructional reform (McLaughlin & Talbert, 2001; Stoll et al., 2006). However, the nature and enactment of teacher agency in collaborative learning groups remains unknown, since few empirical studies have focused on teacher agency within collaborative professional learning contexts in the United States, where teacher agency is currently being promoted by influential education entities (Calvert, 2016).

The results of studies on teacher agency and professional identity, teachers' sensemaking, and teachers' collaborative learning point to a complex relationship between teacher agency and collaborative learning in instructional reform contexts, where agency may take various shapes and may be used to resist or approve a reform, change or maintain practices, or, perhaps most commonly, negotiate a middle ground. However, these studies nonetheless tend to take an oversimplified and uncritical approach to the relationship between agency and collaborative learning, assuming that more teacher agency will result in more positive collaborative learning outcomes such as enhanced teacher capacity and improved instruction and student learning. For

example, Buchanan (2015), Vähäsantanen and Eteläpelto, (2011), and Pyhälto and colleagues (2015) all use their findings to call for *more* teacher agency in professional learning, despite each including empirical evidence that agency may be enacted in various ways. Studies on teacher agency also tend to focus on teachers' self-described *perceptions* of teacher agency (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2012; 2014; 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen and Eteläpelto, 2011), without exploring what agency looks like in practice as teachers negotiate their response to reform. While sensemaking studies *have* examined teachers' interactions, those observations have occurred while teachers are engaged in a researcher- or policy-designed activity to support implementation and have not explored the relationship between sensemaking and teacher agency in more autonomous learning environments (Allen & Penuel, 2015; Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Coburn, 2001; 2005).

While valuable findings about the relationship between teacher agency and collaborative professional learning have emerged from these studies, focusing explicitly on the agency of TLs involved in a more autonomous process of collaborative professional learning would add depth and nuance to our developing understanding of teacher agency in instructional improvement reform contexts, particularly since the autonomous nature of their practice is more aligned with the above-described policy calls for teacher agency. Furthermore, critically examining the assumption that teachers need more agency in professional learning may illuminate the more varied ways that agency may be exercised in a teacher-led and initiated collective learning environment. Moving beyond an analysis of teachers' perceptions of agency to include analysis of agency in action would also further our understanding of the relationship between TL agency and collaborative professional learning by shedding light on their actual negotiated responses to

reform. As the next section describes, this research would also inform our growing understanding of the role that TLs may play in supporting collaborative learning.

Teacher Leadership and Teacher Agency in Collaborative Learning

In research with considerable thematic overlap to that on teacher agency, research on professional learning communities (PLC) has identified collaborative learning groups as contexts for teachers to assume leadership responsibilities (Stoll et al., 2006), which has also been supported as a mechanism for facilitating instructional improvement (Borko et al., 2014; Elliott et al., 2009; Koellner et al., 2011; Leithwood & Mascall, 2008; Lord & Miller, 2000). Teacher leaders may leverage their accumulated experience, personal connections with colleagues, and knowledge of the local context to provide targeted support to their fellow teachers (Mangin & Stoelinga, 2008; Neumerski, 2013; York-Barr & Duke, 2004). However, research on teacher leadership within collaborative learning environments suggests that this relationship may also be complex (Harris et al., 2007; Louis, Dretzke, & Wahlstrom, 2010). For one, there is evidence that within a reform environment focused on accountability and evaluation, TLs might act merely as transmitters of "best" or administration-approved practices, which could work to stifle meaningful learning opportunities (Margolis & Doring, 2012; Timperly, 2005). Much of the literature on teacher leadership in professional learning has furthermore focused on how districtor school-designated TLs facilitate the learning of colleagues as they participate in formal or mandated professional development activities (Borko et al., 2014; Scribner et al., 2007). However, there has been little research focused on the actions of emergent, informal TLs participating in non-mandated collaborative professional learning. The one study (to my knowledge) that took such an approach found that informal TLs may influence teachers' sense of efficacy and motivation to engage in collaborative learning, but they did not relate TLs' agency to opportunities to learn (Szczesiul & Huizenga, 2015). Given that this level of agency and

leadership is one of the ultimate goals of research and policy calls for teacher agency, teacher leadership, and collaborative professional learning, there is a need to examine how these factors are enacted within contexts where informal leadership has emerged and been enacted via collaborative professional learning.

In sum, there is evidence that teachers and TLs exercise agency in diverse ways in collaborative professional learning environments, but this has not been the explicit focus of empirical studies. This indicates a need for more fine-grained, in-depth studies of what teacher agency looks like in collaborative professional learning environments and how TLs' agency shapes teachers' opportunities to learn. Developing a better understanding of how TLs exercise agency during professional learning may help illuminate ways to support productive professional learning in the contexts of instructional reforms.

Theoretical Framework

This study approaches the analysis of TLs' agency via a theoretical framework informed by sociocultural theory. Sociocultural theory emphasizes the way that social interactions and cultural tools shape learning and behavior. A sociocultural approach to agency directs attention to the ways teachers' agency may reflect the socially, culturally, and historically shaped meanings and tools teachers use to act. This makes it particularly relevant for a comparative study on TLs' agency in collaborative professional learning in a context of instructional improvement reform. Applying sociocultural theory, I approach the study of teacher agency using the following definition of TLs' agency in professional learning: TL's capacity to act towards desired outcomes related to professional learning, where capacity and desired outcomes are shaped via the socio-culturally situated meanings TLs construct related to their lesson study practice. Such a definition facilitates comparison of how approaches to instructional

improvement may shape and be shaped by TLs and their groups in collaborative professional learning.

Sociocultural theory suggests that understanding teachers' agency inherently requires an understanding of the cognitive and cultural tools teachers use to achieve agency, since tools and the actions they enable are mutually dependent (Wertsch, Tulviste, & Hagstrom, 1993). In this study, teachers' meanings related to lesson study are analyzed as a cognitive tool that mediates action and composes a crucial aspect of agency. TLs' facilitation of group discussions are also analyzed as a mediator and manifestation of teacher agency. Finally, I analyze the influence of TLs' agency on the sociocultural context of their lesson study groups by considering how TLs' agency shape teachers' opportunities to learn. Approaching the study of two TLs via this definition of agency extends attention beyond an examination of what teachers are doing or feel that they can do in response to reforms, to an analysis of how what they do and feel they can do is shaped via a dynamic and reciprocal process of meaning-making and action.

Description of Study

This study approaches the exploration of TLs' agency in collaborative professional learning in the context of two groups of teachers practicing a self-initiated, inquiry-based, collaborative professional development called lesson study. In lesson study, teachers work together to identify and research a topic, design a lesson to explore student understanding of the topic, teach the lesson, and discuss their observations of the lesson (Lewis & Hurd, 2011). This context has several features that make it particularly appropriate for studying teacher agency in professional learning. First, the collaborative, content-focused, inquiry-based, and teacher-driven nature of lesson study means it is precisely the kind of professional learning that research has suggested will empower teachers to improve instruction (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Loucks-Horsley,

Hewson, Love, & Stiles, 1998; Hawley & Valli, 1999; Hiebert, Gallimore, & Stigler, 2002; Lewis, Perry, & Murata, 2006; Perry & Lewis, 2009; Wilson & Berne, 1999). While lesson study cycles generally follow the same set of steps, within these steps, facilitators may have considerable flexibility in how they shape teachers' opportunities to learn. The conversations held in frequent meetings over the course of lesson study provide a data source that makes visible (or audible) both TLs' manifestations of agency via facilitation and teachers' opportunities to learn in relation to that facilitation.

Second, because the teachers in this study practice lesson study outside of any requirement to do so, they have demonstrated agency through their decision to participate in an independent PD practice. That agency was uniquely supported by the district and school context that honored the teacher-driven aspect of lesson study by not constraining the teachers' autonomous practice. One of the teacher leader-facilitators has sustained her lesson study practice for 14 years and the other for nine years, despite challenges in funding and constantly changing school and district leadership and priorities, suggesting a particularly strong agentic orientation. Because these TLs not only demonstrated agency to promote their own professional learning, but have actively sought to build the capacity of their peers through lesson study participation, they displayed and sustained a type of teacher leadership that research suggests may promote instructional improvement (Hargreaves & Fullan, 2012; Wenner & Campbell, 2017).

As stated above, few empirical studies have examined how TLs exercise agency to influence the learning opportunities of peers while engaged in collaborative professional learning. This context provides an excellent opportunity to understand how two TLs enact their agency in facilitating teacher learning, and how that shapes teachers' opportunities to learn.

Given this context, this study addresses the broader research question: How do TLs exercise agency as they facilitate lesson study? To answer this question, I was guided by two subquestions:

- 1. What meanings do TLs construct regarding their lesson study practice?
- 2. How do those meanings shape teachers' opportunities to learn via lesson study? To answer these questions, I drew upon over three years of data collected with each TLs' lesson study groups, including transcripts of more than 70 hours of lesson study planning meetings, interviews, surveys, and written reflections. In three phrases of analysis, I first coded interview data for TLs' meanings, relying especially on an extensive semi-structured interview with each TL that I conducted with the purpose of better understanding their agency. I then combed planning meeting data to identify teachers' opportunities to learn. Informed by research on teacher learning in reform (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Opfer & Pedder, 2011; Thompson & Zeulli, 1999), I applied a definition of learning opportunities characterized by potential to engage in resolving cognitive conflicts. Within these opportunities, I analyzed facilitators' talk moves to understand their purpose, how that purpose reflected (or not) TLs' meanings of teaching and learning, and how facilitators' talk shaped teachers' opportunities to learn. Across-case analysis deepened my interpretation of individual cases and made it possible to consider generalizations about TLs' agency in collaborative learning that can be further investigated in future studies (Flyvbjerg, 2006).

Study Significance

This study leverages the unique context of an independent, long-term, teacher-led collaborative professional learning practice to explore TLs' agency in professional learning. The significant similarities in the practices and contexts of these groups allowed me to investigate

how teacher leadership and agency in professional learning may lead to different learning opportunities for the teachers in each group.

To develop a more critical and fine-grained understanding of TLs' agency and the differences that may emerge between teachers in similar environments, research on teacher agency must move beyond a sole focus on teachers' reported feelings of agency to an in-depth exploration of agency as meaning-making *and* action. This study zooms in on the interactions of two TLs and their groups to gain insights into teacher agency that may be obscured by studies with larger samples and those that rely solely on self-reported data. By applying a theoretical framework that draws from sociocultural theory, I explore agency at the level of meaning-making and at the level of actions/talk where those meanings are manifested and shaped. I relate TLs' agency to teachers' opportunities to learn via collaboration, a relationship not yet empirically investigated.

Instead of assuming these TLs are involved in highly agentic activity with positive outcomes, I cast a critical eye on each TL's agency as they facilitate lesson study. By questioning the assumption that more teacher agency in collaborative learning leads to positive outcomes, I develop a more nuanced understanding of the relationship between agency and teacher learning.

Given calls to support teacher agency and teacher leadership in professional learning, it is important that we further our understanding of the relationship between TLs' agency and instructional improvement. By critically examining the relationship between agency and professional learning, comparing two TLs leading independent lesson study groups, analyzing agency at the level of meaning making and talk/actions, and exploring the relationship between TL agency and teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study, this study aims to contribute to our understanding of how teachers respond to and engage with instructional improvement, which

should, in turn, inform our efforts to support teachers and TLs as they make sense of a complex and changing profession.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter reviews literature relevant to teacher leadership and teacher agency in professional learning contexts. It begins by situating this study of teacher agency within a theoretical framework informed by sociocultural theory. It then reviews literature on teacher agency in reform contexts and teacher agency in collaborative learning contexts to identify a knowledge gap. The chapter concludes with a discussion of how the current study contributes to filling the knowledge gap and increases our understanding of TLs' agency in collaborative learning contexts.

Theoretical Framework on Teacher Agency: Sociocultural Theory

The concept of agency has been studied by psychologists, sociologists, anthropologists, and economists, among others (Eteläpelto, Vähäsantanen, Hökkä, & Paloniemi, 2013). In education, research on teacher agency is often under-theorized, but the influence of sociocultural theory is frequently observed (e.g. Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2012). For example, in her work on teacher agency and vulnerability, Lasky (2005) draws heavily on Wertsch (1993) and Vygotsky (1962) to define her approach to agency as "the ways people act to affect their immediate settings through using resources that are culturally, socially, and historically developed" (p. 900). Pyhälto and colleagues (2012) likewise describe agency as teachers' capacity to act with intention within the "historical, cultural, and social structures of the schools that are also reflected in the mediating tools, such as a policy and a curriculum" (p. 100). More succinctly, in a study on teacher agency and identity, Buchanan (2015) cites Ahearn's (2001) definition of agency as "socioculturally mediated capacity to act" (p. 109).

Approaching agency through a sociocultural lens draws analytical attention to the social nature of human activity (Wertsch, Tulviste, & Hagstrom, 1993). Sociocultural theory's most basic premise is that cognitive processes have social origins. Vygotsky (1981) proposed that mental functioning occurs primarily on the *intermental* level, or between people. *Intramental* functioning, or individual cognition, thus, derives from processes occurring at the intermental level. In other words, the way we think, or make meanings and develop responses to stimuli, is a result of our social relations.

Another major interrelated component of sociocultural theory is the "cultural" aspect. Vygotsky (1981) described culture as "the product of social life and human social activity" (p. 164) and described human action as mediated by cultural tools. Cultural tools do not merely facilitate action and/or mental processes, they determine the nature of thought and action, making them irrevocably linked to agency (Wertsch & Tulviste, 1992). In Vygotsky's description, cultural tools are semiotic, signs we use to convey and construct meaning. Language is therefore the most obvious example of a cultural tool. The role of cultural tools in explaining mental functioning will vary based on the activity in which someone is engaged and the socioculturally situated setting in which the activity occurs (Gallimore, Goldenberg, & Weisner, 1993; Scribner & Cole, 1981). Building on these ideas, Scribner (1985) proposed that to understand the relationship between knowledge and action, "the starting point and primary unit of analysis should be culturally organized human activities" (p. 199), or "goal-directed actions" that represent a synthesis of mental processes, behavior, and the tools, capabilities and sign systems employed to execute such activities.

In their description of socioculturally-mediated agency, Wertsch and Rupert (1993) add further nuances to how a sociocultural approach to agency can inform our understanding of

human action in learning environments. They suggest that "by incorporating dimensions of value and authority as well as dimensions of cognitive efficacy into our analyses," we can gain a better understanding of why certain types of thinking, knowing, and speaking are privileged over others. Their argument gets to the heart of why focusing on agency is important: because the instrumentality of cognitive processes is not so neatly defined by what is most efficient, but is also linked to issues of authority—involving perceptions and negotiations of power—reflective of what is valued within groups, where what is valued might have as much to do with the negotiation of power relations (or the negotiation of the power to decide what can and should be valued/accomplished) as it does the accomplishing of a particular task.

In teacher learning groups in which teachers make sense of new approaches to instructional improvement, group interactions should not only signal valued ways of learning and knowing but the negotiation (or perpetuation) of those values. This power dimension is implicit in the term "agency" and definitions that describe agency as "capacity to act." Sociocultural theory defines this capacity as highly dependent upon the social, cultural, and historical context and the human and material resources it affords, but it also suggests that through our social interactions, we help to shape this context.

Combining the two central tenets of sociocultural theory—that cognitive processes are social in nature and mediated by cultural tools—I approach the study of teacher agency by separating agency into two levels for the purpose of analysis. One manifestation of TLs' agency occurs at the level of meaning-making, as TLs respond to external cues about teaching and learning by constructing meanings about these processes. This aspect of agency is a more cognitive process, occurring via what Vygotsky termed intramental functioning, although it is a product of intermental, or social, processes. Building on Vygotsky's ideas and incorporating

Bakhtin's ideas about meaning in speech, Wertsch (1993) described cognitive activity at this level as employing and mediated by semiotic processes and cultural tools, where response to stimuli is negotiated via an ever-present and dynamic tension between accepting the authoritative or transmitted meaning of a "text" or creating a new meaning in dialog with ourselves, others, or other aspects of our context.

As mentioned above, Wertsch (1993) describes agency as inseparable from the mediational tools used to make action possible. In agreement with this idea, I conceptualize meaning-making as both a manifestation of agency and a cognitive tool that shapes the nature of agency. In my analysis, I explore the meanings TLs make related to their lesson study practice as a key part of understanding what I call the nature of teacher agency, or what teacher agency is like in relation to the meanings that undergird teachers' actions. This focus is especially important because recent calls for teacher agency have tended to discuss teacher agency without an explicit description of what that agency is like or to what ends it may be used.

Because I cannot actually observe intramental processes, I rely on teachers' talk during interviews and reflections to identify key meanings related to lesson study practice. I focus on "meanings" instead of constructs like definitions, goals, beliefs, or values to highlight the dynamic aspect of the nature of teacher agency. Meanings are constructed and reconstructed in interaction with our socioculturally situated context, and this process is key to understanding both learning and responses to policy.

However important, meaning-making is only one aspect of agency. Another manifestation of agency occurs at the level of action and talk. At this level, TLs' meanings about teaching and teacher learning manifest as they enact lesson study processes, including the facilitation of group discussions and the setup of lesson study tasks. I refer to this as the

enactment of agency to draw attention to its visible and audible manifestation via actions and talk and to distinguish it from studies that rely on teachers self-reported perceptions of agency as the unit of analysis. Here, I want to be clear that what I call the enacted aspect of agency is both reciprocal and integral to the meaning-making aspect, since meaning-making is influenced by talk and interactions and vice versa.

Finally, tying the tenets of sociocultural theory to the goal of professional learning, I explore how one aspect of the sociocultural context of a lesson study group—TL's facilitation—shapes teachers' opportunities to learn. I suggest that, via their role as facilitators, TLs are in a position of more authority to shape the nature of teacher learning in lesson study. As they guide conversations about student learning and teaching, they have potential to signal valued ways of learning and knowing and present opportunities for the teachers in their group to consider, accept, reject—or negotiate a response—to those ideas. In other words, the way TLs guide conversations via their facilitation influences the type of learning possibilities made possible via lesson study. In sum, sociocultural theory allows me to a) conceptualize TLs' agency as socioculturally shaped and occurring at the levels of meanings and talk/action via facilitation and b) analyze how TLs' agency influences teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study.

Because this study seeks to capture and analyze an in-depth portrait of TLs' agency in professional learning, a framework informed by sociocultural theory helpfully orients my analysis to the dynamic and complex nature of teacher agency. In the following literature review, I will explain that this approach was particularly warranted because prior research has not fully explored the varied nature and enactment of teachers' agency in professional learning or the relationship between teacher agency, teacher leadership, and professional learning in instructional improvement contexts.

Reform Context

Many recent reforms, particularly in mathematics and English language arts, have asked teachers to significantly alter the way they approach instruction (Ball & Cohen, 1999). Such reforms and attempts to prepare teachers for them via professional learning often reflect shifts from traditional to more constructivist approaches to teaching (National Research Council, 2000). Traditional approaches to teaching view knowledge as transmitted from someone who has knowledge about a particular topic to someone who does not. It is associated with lecture and rote memorization and explains why the traditional image of a classroom includes desks lined up in rows facing a teacher ready to pass on knowledge (Tyack & Cuban, 1995). Constructivist approaches to teaching and learning are backed by a slew of big-name educationists (e.g. Dewey, Piaget, and Vygotsky) who might disagree on the particulars but share the belief that knowledge, or understanding, is constructed as individuals interact with new ideas and make meaning of those ideas in relation to what they already know and believe (Brown, Collins, & Duguid, 1989; Resnick, 1987; Richardson, 1997). This approach emphasizes the role of conversations and active problem-solving as ways for new knowledge to become integrated.

A more constructivist vision of education is reflected in many of the reforms that began in the United States in the latter half of the twentieth century, particularly in science and mathematics, where students are no longer asked to memorize facts and procedures but "think like mathematicians and scientists." The most infamous and recent evidence of a constructivist shift to education in the U.S. can be seen in the Common Core State Standards, which have been adopted to some degree by over 80% of states to help develop the "critical-thinking, problem-solving, and analytical skills students will need to be successful" (Core Standards Website, 2018). In mathematics, this means the standards stress conceptual understanding and its

application to solving real-world problems. As suggested by the phrase, "thinking like a mathematician," the shift towards a more constructivist approach to teaching not only requires changes in *what* students learn, but *how* students learn and think.

Reasonably, the same may be said of the teachers charged with shifting their instruction to a more constructivist approach. While constructivist ideas have gained traction in recent reforms, most teachers in the U.S. were taught using more traditional methods, and much of teacher professional learning continues to employ traditional methods, such as set-and-get workshops (Darling-Hammond, 2005; The Gates Foundation, 2014). Much research has cast doubt on the potential of such professional developments to adequately prepare teachers for new approaches to teaching (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Darling-Hammond, 2005; Desimone et al., 2002; Garet et al., 2001; Hawley & Valli, 1999; Kennedy, 2016; Lampert, 1990; Lampert & Ball, 1999; Putnam & Borko, 2000; Stein, Silver, & Smith, 1999; Wilson & Berne, 1999). This research suggests that teacher learning experiences where knowledge is passed from an expert to a non-expert, or where teachers are merely updated on a new policy or practice are not considered up to the task of supporting teachers in what may be seen as a complete shift in their approach to teaching. Instead, teachers need opportunities to learn that support shifts in teachers' meanings of teaching and learning and deepen their understanding of the relationship between subject matter, student thinking, and pedagogy.

(Re)Defining Teachers' Opportunities to Learn

A major challenge that literature has identified for supporting teachers as they learn about constructivist approaches to learning and teaching is that, because most teachers were likely not taught using the methods they are being asked to employ, teachers will need opportunities to craft new meanings related to teaching, knowing, and learning (Lampert, 1990; Putnam &

Borko, 2000). To do so, research has suggested that teachers need opportunities to learn characterized by specific types of content and pedagogy.

A fundamental premise of the content of teacher professional learning aimed at supporting shifts to constructivist instruction is that teachers need opportunities to learn about how students think and how to support student thinking in a way that builds on and advances students' understanding (Thompson & Zeuli, 1999). In order to effectively leverage students' understanding, teachers must have an understanding of subject matter that includes meanings and connections between ideas and information, not just memorization and procedures (Ball & Cohen, 1999; National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Mathematics, 2018). Teachers also need opportunities to develop knowledge of the relationship between student thinking and subject matter and teaching and subject matter, so that they can effectively guide students as they make sense of new ideas (Ball, Thames, & Phelps, 2008). This may require teachers to also learn a new way to define concepts such as teaching, learning, knowing, and thinking, and, of course, to learn new approaches to pedagogy that reflect these new definitions. Each of these aspects of the *content* of teachers' opportunities to learn are challenging in their own right, and to coordinate their learning entails a particular approach to the *pedagogy* of teacher learning that is grounded in the constructivist ideas it seeks to enable.

If the fundamental goal of the content of teachers' professional learning opportunities is aimed at increasing teachers' knowledge of how to support and leverage students' thinking, then a fundamental aspect of the pedagogy of teachers' professional learning is that it must include opportunities to investigate student thinking. Thus, one of the defining features of the pedagogy of teacher learning to support constructivist shifts is that it is situated within the contexts of teachers' practice (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Putnam & Borko, 2000). Research has suggested that

this means teachers need opportunities to learn from both their own practice and others'. Because teachers may not have been exposed to the instructional approach they are asked to employ, they will need learning opportunities where they can observe teaching and learning that reflects such an approach (Putnam & Borko, 2000). Furthermore, because teaching using more constructivist-oriented methods entails uncertainty and improvisation, teachers must "become serious learners in and around their practice" so that they can use classroom experiences "to correct, refine, and improve instruction" (p. 4).

While opportunities to learn may emerge from teachers' observation of and reflection on practice, these opportunities may also be characterized by the accumulation of strategies or best practices, instead of shifts in teachers' meanings of teaching and learning. In order to shift teachers' meanings, teachers will also need opportunities to surface their previous understandings, make sense of those in light of new evidence, and perhaps forge new meanings of teaching, learning, and knowing (National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Mathematics, 2018; Thompson & Zeulli, 1999; Wilson, & Berne, 1999). These "dissonance-inducing phenomena" are opportunities for teachers to make tacit knowledge explicit (Thompson & Zeulli, 1999). This is important because while prior knowledge may facilitate new learning, it may also constrain learning, since teachers depend on existing schema to make sense of new information (National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Mathematics, 2018; Spillane et al., 2002). While overcoming the bias of prior knowledge may happen organically, it is much more likely to require intention and guidance.

In, perhaps a slight exaggeration, Thompson and Zeulli (1999) lamented that changing such habits is "more like unlearning the patellar reflex than like changing one's normal route to

work" (p. 349). They suggest that the pedagogy of teacher learning must include explicit attempts to:

create a sufficiently high level of cognitive dissonance to disturb in some fundamental way the equilibrium between teachers' existing beliefs and practices on the one hand and their experience with subject matter, students' learning, and teaching on the other (p. 355).

Thompson and Zeulli describe the inducing and resolving of dissonance as key to the kind of teaching and learning envisioned in reforms, and they argue that in order for teachers to learn how to support students' thinking, it is essential that teachers must also have opportunities to engage in the kind of thinking they are expected to support. In fact, by their constructivist-informed definition of learning, content and pedagogy can only create successful opportunities to learn when they result in the surfacing and resolving of cognitive dissonance.

The need for opportunities to learn characterized by this type of content and pedagogy has influenced calls for collaborative professional learning opportunities such as lesson study, which affords opportunities for dissonance as teachers observe, research, and reflect on student thinking and classroom practices. However, as such approaches have gained ubiquity, evidence has amassed that even within professional learning formats reflective of the content and pedagogy described above, teachers may experience differential opportunities to learn (Bausmith & Barry, 2011; Curry, 2008; Grossman et al., 2001; Hargreaves, 1991; Horn & Little, 2010; Horn & Kane, 2015; McLaughlin & Talbert, 2001).

Within this context, research and policy reports have started to look at the role of teacher agency in professional learning. Much of this focus seems to stem from two premises. First, because reforms promoting a constructivist approach to teaching and learning have developed

alongside standardization and accountability policies, teachers may feel less agency to respond flexibly and creatively to their classroom environments (Hargreaves, 1998; Lasky, 2005). Second, collaborative professional learning may be a way for teachers to both exercise and develop agency as they make sense of policies and shifts in instructional improvement (Buchanan, 2015; Calvert, 2016; Pyhälto et al., 2014; Vähäsantanen, 2015). Similarly, teacher leadership has been promoted as a way for teachers to leverage their knowledge of the school context and experiences to support fellow teachers as they navigate shifts in instruction (Borko, et al, 2014; Elliott et al., 2009; Koellner et al., 2011; Leithwood & Mascall, 2008; Lord & Miller, 2000). Below I synthesize the valuable insights gleaned from research on teacher agency in reform contexts and teacher leadership to describe what a comparative study exploring the nature and enactment TLs agency can contribute to our understanding of how to support teachers' opportunities to learn.

Teacher Agency in Reform Contexts

Literature on teacher agency in reform contexts has applied the language of agency to understand teachers' sensemaking and implementation of reform. Some of this research has focused on ways that teachers' agency is constrained by instructional improvement reform contexts that increase surveillance and limit teacher flexibility (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005). Other research has focused on teachers' agentic actions in the implementation of reforms, although this literature may not always use the language of agency (e.g. Allen & Penuel, 2015; Biesta et. Al, 2015; Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Coburn 2001; 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2014; Vähäsantanen 2015). From both strands, studies report that teacher agency in reform contexts is mediated by formal structures (such as policies and institutional arrangements), teacher-level factors such as goals and beliefs, as well as by teachers' informal interactions with other teachers

and administrators. In particular, this body of literature has shown how teachers use agency to learn about or "make sense" of reforms in interaction with others and within situated contexts (Spillane et al., 2002). The result may be agency via resistance to, or token implementation of, the reform, or agency as a vehicle for teachers to take ownership and collective responsibility of the reform.

From these studies, two salient points emerge. One, although aspects of instructional reform may in some ways constrain teacher agency, the effect of reforms are mediated via teachers' values, goals, and beliefs—often described collectively as "professional identity." Two, social interactions are key opportunities for teachers to exercise agency as they make sense of reforms. Thus, the interplay of teachers' values, goals, and beliefs and collaborative sensemaking about instructional improvement within sociocultural contexts are key components shaping teachers' agency in response to reforms and influences whether their agency is directed at resisting, embracing, or forging new meanings around a reform effort. However, missing from the literature are studies that capture the complex nature, enactment, and influence of teacher agency in practice as teachers collaborate to make sense of instructional improvement. Also absent in the literature is an examination of the agency of TLs leading collaborative professional learning. This gap is notable given evidence from the above studies that teachers' interactions with other teachers, particularly in collaborative professional learning, may play an important role in influencing teachers' response to instructional improvement.

Professional Identity and Teacher Agency

Most studies that have described teacher agency in reform contexts focus on teachers' perceptions to examine whether teachers perceive a fit between their own goals and values and that of the reform (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2012; 2014; 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011). Most of these studies use the language

of professional identity as an umbrella term that includes teachers' values, goals, and beliefs related to learning and instruction (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011). Although these studies all hint at the complex nature of agency, they tend to a simplistic and uncritical approach to agency, where more teacher agency in reform contexts is assumed to be positive. They nonetheless point to the importance of studying agency by suggesting that teacher agency shapes the instructional improvement process through teachers' values, goals, and beliefs about teaching and learning.

Studies on the relationship between teachers' professional identity and agency in reform contexts position identity (or, in the case of the Pyhälto and colleagues' studies, teachers' selfperceptions) as an interpretive framework through which teachers determine how a reform idea "fits" with their goals, beliefs about learning, and professional values. In general, these studies assume that the more teachers perceive a fit between their professional identity and a reform, the more agency they experience (Buchanan, 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011). Intuitively, this makes sense. If a teacher shares the goal of a reform and a belief in the reform mechanism employed to bring about that goal, then that teacher should feel more capacity to act towards the goal when a reform is implemented. On a psychological level, the reform reaffirms the approving teachers' professional goals and values as the right ones (Vähäsantanen, 2015), and on a material level, a reform aligned with a teachers' goals should (hypothetically) provide resources to act towards valued outcomes (Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011). Empirical examples of this type of strong fit have been noted, albeit sparsely, in prior studies—e.g. a California school teacher with a strong belief in standardized assessment as a means to hold all students to high expectations (Buchanan, 2015) and a Finnish vocational teacher who agreed with her country's move to provide more real-world work experiences for

students (Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011). In both cases, teachers felt empowered by reforms that matched their goals and values related to teaching.

More common, however, are instances in which the relationship between teacher agency in reform and professional identity are more complex. For example, based on survey (n=59) and interview data (n=4) with teachers undergoing a large-scale fiscal, curricular, and accountability reform in Canada, Lasky (2005) found that even if teachers agree with the goals of a reform, they may feel deprofessionalized by public discourses surrounding the reform and constrained by a lack of material resources to implement reform. Conversely, based on semi-structured interviews with nine California school teachers, Buchanan (2015) found that it is more important for teachers to perceive a fit between their professional identity and the *school* culture (as opposed to the national reform environment), since the school culture mediated the effects of national-level reform. Buchanan describes teachers who feel constrained by national reforms, but nonetheless experience agency within their school setting, when that setting conforms to their meanings related to teaching and learning.

In fact, although the primary finding of all studies reviewed is that recent reform contexts tend to constrain teacher agency (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2012; 2014; 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015; Vähäsantanen & Eteläpelto, 2011), all of these studies also mention ways that teachers nonetheless exercise some agency despite a lack of fit between their identity and the reform. This may be through negotiating a new professional identity in response to the reform (often through social relationships) (Pyhälto et al., 2014; Vähäsantanen, 2015), maintaining an existing professional identity but complying with the reform (Buchanan, 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015), "stepping up" to go beyond the expectations of the reform (Buchanan, 2015), resisting the reform outright (Buchanan, 2015; Vähäsantanen, 2015), or implementing

some aspects of the reform that are non-negotiable while choosing to resist or ignore other aspects (Lasky, 2005).

In other words, there are significant variations in how teachers exercise agency in response to reform. While professional identity—teachers' values, goals, and beliefs—may offer a clue to explaining these variations, its role seems to be less of a predictor of teachers' response to reform and more of a reference point for teachers as they negotiate their response to reform. For example, in their studies, Buchanan (2015), Lasky (2005), and Vähäsantanen (2015) describe professional identity as a resource that teachers leverage in response to reform, so even if teachers do not perceive a fit between their professional identity and a reform, they call upon their professional identity to find ways to take action towards the valued outcomes they *do* have control over. Because professional identity is not a static trait, teachers can also change their professional identity in response to reform. An example of this is outlined in Vähäsantanen and Eteläpelto's (2011) study of 14 Finnish vocational teachers, in which they describe the case of a teacher who initially opposed a nationwide curricular reform, but after implementation, changed her view of teaching and learning based on the success she experienced as part of the reform.

However, Buchanan and Lasky also note that the teachers in their study developed their professional identities based on early career experiences. Although they both acknowledge that these identities are dynamic, these studies suggest that teachers' professional identities may be difficult to change, since they are formed early on. Pyhälto, Pietarinin, and Soini (2015) reach a similar conclusion in their analysis of quantitatively coded teacher essays (n=187) before and after a designed collaborative professional learning intervention in Finland. They find that it may be easier to change teachers' perceptions of reform than it is to change their self-perceptions or identity. Indeed, one could argue that that is what happened to the vocational teacher in

Vähäsantanen and Eteläpelto's study whose professional identity changed *after* she saw the effectiveness of the reform. Thus, although the perceived fit between a teacher's professional identity and a reform may influence a teacher's agency, that relationship is complex and, to a certain extent, dynamic, where negotiation is not only possible, but an inherent part of the process of articulating an agentic response to reform.

Across all studies, a key site identified for the negotiation of agency and professional identity in reform contexts is collaboration with other teachers. Reflecting the influence of sociocultural theory, Pyhälto and colleagues (2015) describe collaborative learning communities as spaces for teachers to negotiate changes at the interpersonal level (in interactions with other teachers) before negotiating those changes at the intrapersonal level, the level of meaning-making. In fact, they call upon researchers and policymakers to "focus on monitoring and developing the dynamic fit between these levels by, for example, negotiating the interrelation between personal and collective learning goals" (p. 320). This seems to be a fruitful area for future research and a logical next step for research on teachers' agency in reform contexts.

The literature on teacher agency and professional identity has given us valuable insights into how teachers' values, goals, and beliefs mediate their feelings of agency in response to reforms. However, as I will continue to argue below, to advance our understanding of teacher agency in reform contexts, we need more research that evaluates how the values, goals, and beliefs that make up a teachers' professional identity influence action as teachers negotiate their response to reforms in sociocultural contexts. I suggest that one way to build on these studies is to shift analysis from a focus on teachers' identities, goals, and values to analysis of the meanings teachers make about teaching and learning. A shift of this type would further direct attention to the dynamic nature of the ideals that undergird teacher agency and complement

studies on teachers' collaborative sensemaking by emphasizing the relationship between agency and the meanings teachers actively construct as they teach and learn to teach. A comparative case study of two teacher-leaders facilitating lesson study groups is well positioned to further illuminate ways that teachers' values, goals, and beliefs—or the meanings they make about teaching and learning—relate to variations in the nature and enactment of teacher agency.

Teachers' Collaborative Sensemaking about Reforms.

The above findings from research on teacher agency and reform are similar to the policy implementation research that studies teachers' sensemaking (Allen & Penuel, 2015; Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Coburn, 2001; 2005; Spillane et al., 2002). Sensemaking theory draws on insights from social and cognitive psychology and institutional theory to articulate an integrative, cognitive framework of implementation in which individual and situated cognitions interact with policy representations as implementers make sense of policy signals to determine if and how to implement policy (Spillane et al., 2002). Within this framework, sensemaking is defined as an "active attempt to bring one's past organization of knowledge and beliefs to bear in the construction of meaning from present stimuli" (p. 294). Said differently, implementing agents use their agency—informed by the past and situated in a present context—to make meaning of policy directives. Like the above findings focused more explicitly on teacher agency, empirical research on teachers' sensemaking has identified collaborative processes as key factors shaping teachers' agency in responses to policy. However, unlike the literature on professional identity and agency, sensemaking literature has focused on analysis of teachers' interactions and conversations with other teachers as they negotiate responses to reforms. This analysis suggests that the nature and content of collaboration around reform ideas mediate teachers' response to reform. It also adds to the evidence above (Buchanan, 2015) on the role that school-level culture

and administration may play in sending messages about reform and creating spaces for collaboration.

For example, Coburn (2001) interviewed and observed 18 teachers in an urban California elementary school to examine how those teachers constructed and reconstructed multiple messages about reading instruction. She found that teachers relied on both informal and formal networks (with fellow teachers and school administrators) to make sense of reading reform. The meanings teacher made through such interactions were influenced by their worldviews, preexisting practices, access to knowledge resources, and shared understandings. As a result, they privileged some reform messages more than others and this mediated the way teachers implemented the reform. However, Coburn (2005) cautions that professional collaboration alone does not explain teachers' engagement with reform:

It is not these practices in and of themselves that facilitate substantive implementation. Rather, it is the nature, quality, and content of the interaction in the course of these activities that shapes the degree to which teachers engage with policy in ways that transforms their practice or that reinforces preexisting approaches (p. 501).

In other words, the *nature* of that collaboration (along with cognitive processes influenced by teachers' worldviews) instead of collaborative practice itself shapes the *nature* of teachers' agency.

Similarly, Allen and Penuel (2015) examined the sensemaking of three teachers (at two different schools) around the coherence of science professional development with larger systems of curriculum, assessment, and standards. They found that teachers' perceptions of coherence are influenced by interactions occurring within PD, associated curriculum materials, and interactions with colleagues and school leaders. In particular, the presence of conflicting goals (between the

researchers' designed PD and school and district initiatives) served to either spur sensemaking conversations around these conflicts or disrupt teachers' attempts to apply the PD and implement new standards.

This finding is reminiscent of the above studies (Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005) on teachers' perception of "fit" and professional identity and perhaps further elucidates ways that teachers negotiate agency in response to reforms. The incongruence, in Allen and Penuel's study, served as an impetus for collective sensemaking, where differences in the nature and content of sensemaking explained differential responses to the same PD between schools. Although the teachers in their studies all shared a value aligned with the PD, Allen and Penuel suggest that school-specific management strategies influenced different approaches to sensemaking, where the two teachers in a school that afforded more teacher autonomy and opportunity to collaborate displayed greater ability to reconcile issues such as conflicting goals and ultimately create new instructional materials to support implementation of the PD.

Although Coburn's study examined sensemaking in a single school, she had a similar finding related to autonomy. Coburn (2001) noted that teachers in her study were less likely to engage deeply with reform messages in highly-structured formal school activities that made it difficult for teachers to see the link between the assigned activities and their classrooms. This was in stark contrast to informal conversations, which were almost always linked to classroom practice and more likely to bring about incremental changes in teachers' perception of the reform. However, the self-selected nature of these informal interactions also often led to conversations that reinforced preexisting worldviews and practices. While Coburn (2001) and Allen and Penuel's (2015) work suggests a relationship between teachers' autonomy and the

quality and nature of collaborative sensemaking, this study also demonstrates how, given more autonomy, teachers may use their agency to maintain or transform practices.

A more recent study that characterizes teachers' sensemaking as institutional agency (Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015) offers further detail on how the context and nature of collaborative sensemaking influences whether collaboration serves to foster change or maintain the status quo. Analyzing a school undergoing comprehensive school reform in the U.S., Bridwell-Mitchell identifies three mechanisms that drive teacher agency in school-based reform contexts: (1) peer learning, (2) patterned social interactions, and (3) shared instructional understandings, aims, or practices. These mechanisms are mediated by the balance between cohesion vs diversity, cognitive and normative divergence vs convergence, and innovation vs socialization, where for example, too much cohesion in collaboration can result in teacher agency that maintains institutional practices instead of changing them in reform contexts. This study stands out as the lone example of an analysis that explicitly addresses teacher agency *in practice* as teachers collaboratively make sense of a reform and offers a promising way to apply its findings about collective sensemaking at the school level to a similar study of group-level interactions.

These studies reinforce the finding that teacher collaboration is a key site for the shaping of agency in response to reforms but suggest a need to more closely examine the nature of collaboration within particular contexts to understand how agency may be used to reinforce or transform practices. The sensemaking studies also highlight the role of the sociocultural context—including both schools and the micro-communities within them—in shaping the nature of collaboration as well as access to knowledge resources that influence teachers' agency via sensemaking processes.

Teacher Agency in Collaborative Professional Learning

Given the research highlighting the important role that collaboration may play in teachers' response to policy and given another strand of research that identifies collaboration as a key component to effective professional development (Garet et al., 2001; McLaughlin & Talbert, 2001), much recent research and policy attention has focused on collaborative professional development as a vehicle for supporting teachers during implementation of instructional reform. However, only a few studies have explored teacher agency in collaborative professional learning, and none have studied agency in the context of a teacher-led, autonomous, collaborative professional learning community.

Teacher collaborative learning emerged as a popular professional development paradigm after teacher isolation was implicated as a culprit for low student achievement and teacher burnout (Little, 1990; Lortie, 1975). When teachers are allowed time and space to collaborate, the logic goes, they can potentially learn from one another's commonly-held problems and benefit from shared professional expertise (Bryk et al., 1999; McLaughlin & Talbert, 2001). As mentioned above, the rise in research and reforms promoting constructivist approaches to teaching and learning also contributed to calls for collaborative learning as contexts where teachers could engage in the kind of learning that more closely mirrored the kind of teaching required by reforms (Ball & Cohen, 1999). However, that teachers' collaboration may be a mechanism for both change and resistance to change is also a frequent observation (e.g. Buchanan, 2015; Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015; Coburn, 2001; Datnow, 2012; Hargreaves, 1994; Horn & Little, 2009; Servage, 2009; Pyhälto et al., 2014; Vähäsantanen, 2015). Thus, again, it seems that collaborative spaces are key sites for teachers to negotiate the tension between agency and structure as they make sense of reforms. Yet, despite the importance of teacher collaboration

as a key site to understand teacher agency, no studies have specifically looked at how teachers exercise agency *during* teacher-led collaborative professional learning.

In fact, the only studies that focused explicitly on teacher agency in collaborative learning are those associated with the "Learning and Development in the Comprehensive School" (2004–2009) project in Finland (Pyhälto et al., 2012; 2014; 2015) (referenced above in relation to their findings on teachers' perceptions because of their focus on the influences of a designed PLC on teachers' self-perception and perception of a reform). Applying a design research approach, researchers conducted site visits and interventions with nine case schools over a two-year period, collecting data related to teachers' views of the reform and perception of agency. The intervention consisted of building collaborative learning communities designed to promote teacher empowerment and ownership of the reform, create spaces for collaborative learning, and foster shared meaning making around the reform.

In their analysis of pre- and post-intervention teacher essays, Pyhälto, Pietarinin, and Soini (2014) found that collaboration in communities with other teachers (the intervention) increases the likelihood that teachers will view themselves as having more professional agency and increases the likelihood that teachers will adopt a more holistic view of the reform, meaning that teachers recognize the multilevel coherence of the reform as it relates to their classroom practice, professional learning, and national goals for education. However, echoing the above findings from sensemaking, the authors caution that professional learning in collaborative communities does not lead to professional agency or a holistic view of the reform for *all* teachers.

Supported by findings from the larger study, Pyhälto and colleagues call attention to the complexity of teacher learning and professional agency in reform, pointing out that teachers'

motivations and beliefs interact with organizational supports that foster occupational well-being and attend to collaborative and individual teacher capacity-building. Thus, where the professional identity and agency literature points to ways that teachers' values, goals, and beliefs mediate reform messages, and sensemaking literature shows how teachers interact with others to construct meaning in response to reform, Pyhälto and colleagues' study, along with the broader literature on professional learning communities suggests that PLCs are not only sites to make sense of a reform but also to potentially *build capacity* to respond to reform.

Unfortunately, although Pyhälto and colleagues (2014) stress the importance of conducting research that captures the complexity of teacher professional agency and professional learning, they did not examine what professional agency and learning look like during teachers' participation in learning communities. To truly understand the complexity of the relationship between teacher learning and professional agency, qualitative research that captures an in-depth, fine-grained portrait of teacher agency in professional learning is needed. Furthermore, like much of the literature on professional learning, teacher agency, and even teachers' sensemaking, the "Learning and Development in the Comprehensive School" project studied teachers as they applied an intervention designed by researchers aimed to help implement a top-down reform. While this focus is certainly warranted given the ubiquity of such interventions, the design of those very interventions would almost certainly benefit from an understanding of teacher agency in an emergent and autonomous collaborative professional learning practice, where teachers' meanings about teaching and learning may be more manifest as they direct their own sensemaking process. Such a study would also hopefully contribute to our growing understanding of the role of TLs in supporting the learning of their peers.

Teacher Leadership and Teacher Agency in Collaborative Professional Learning

The relationship between agency and teacher leadership is frequently implied in studies on teacher leadership that identify the important role of TLs in supporting other teachers' professional learning (Borko et al., 2014; Gigante & Firestone, 2008; Harris et al., 2007; Margolis & Huggins, 2012; Stein & Nelson, 2003; Taylor et al., 2011; Vernon-Dotson, 2008). As highly committed and respected professionals, TLs are uniquely positioned to leverage their experience to support the learning of their peers as they make sense of reform-based practices (Borko et al., 2014; Elliott et al., 2009; Koellner et al., 2011; Lord & Miller, 2000). Their localized knowledge of teachers, students, and the school context is a resource they can use to provide targeted supports to fellow teachers (Mangin & Stoelinga, 2008; Neumerski, 2013; York-Barr & Duke, 2004). As leaders of collaborative professional groups, TLs' agency should play a critical role in influencing other teachers' learning opportunities. However, the links between agency, teacher leadership, and collaborative learning have rarely been empirically explored.

The sole study (Szczesiul & Huizenga, 2015) that I found with this focus succinctly describes the theoretical premise for linking teacher leadership and agency in learning:

Teacher leadership—as a process of individual and collective influence—is therefore theorized by many scholars to be the critical bridge between organizational structure and teacher agency that makes building collective capacity for instructional improvement possible (p. 369).

To explore this theoretical relationship empirically, Szczesiul and Huizenga (2015) analyzed how informal TLs (from two teacher teams at a high-performing middle school) leverage psychological factors (such as efficacy and motivation) and structural factors (such as common

planning) to guide conversation routines (as defined in Little & Horn, 2010) that promote collective learning during common planning time. Through analysis of interviews, surveys, and observations, they found that the informal TLs who emerged during common planning created and maintained positive social processes that increased relational trust and nurtured a serious professional stance towards collaboration. They also found that the TLs fostered motivation and collective efficacy (Bandura, 2001) by highlighting teams' professional strengths without negating areas where improvement was needed.

Although Szczesiul and Huizenga's (2015) findings are valuable for what they reveal about how informal teachers influence learning in collaboration, they focus primarily on the nature of leadership instead of the nature of agency. In doing so, they conceptualize teacher leadership but fail to explore the nature of teacher agency. Like other studies, their implicit definition takes for granted that more agency is a good thing. It seems that by agency, they mean teachers' sense of efficacy and motivation in relation to professional learning, since these are the outcomes they describe as resulting from teacher leadership in collaborative learning. However, as mentioned above, Bandura (2006) himself (whom the authors frequently cite to support their focus on efficacy and motivation) warned that agency was value neutral. A similar study with a focus on a more critical conceptualization of agency might afford a more nuanced analysis on the under-studied relationship between teacher leadership, agency, and collaborative professional learning.

Contributions and Limitations of Teacher Agency Research

Collectively, studies on teacher agency and professional identity, teachers' sensemaking, professional learning communities, and teacher leadership suggest that there are variations between teachers in exactly how reforms interact with agency, since teachers may use their

agency to maintain or transform existing practices. These studies highlight teachers' professional identities, their interactions with coworkers, and the organizational context as factors that mediate the reciprocal relationship between reform and agency. These observations are important because they suggest two insights into teacher agency and reform that may inform future studies:

1) Professional collaboration is a venue in which teachers' agency may be exercised and shaped in response to reforms, but the nature of collaboration matters, and 2) individual cognitive factors also mediate teachers' agentic response to reforms, but these individual factors may also be negotiated in social interactions. While these insights can be deduced from the reviewed studies, they did not form the focus of the studies, pointing to a need for research that explicitly studies teacher agency in collaborative professional learning from a perspective that captures differences in the ways that cognitive and social processes influence teachers' agency and opportunities to learn in response to reforms.

Most of the above studies relied on self-reported data from teachers, primarily interviews, and none examined teacher agency as teachers actively responded to reform in interaction with other teachers. The reliance on teachers' self-reported perceptions of agency makes it difficult to capture the dynamic nature of agency and teachers' response to reforms as something that is under constant negotiation (Pyhälto et al., 2014). Although all of the studies reviewed point to the role of collaboration in shaping teachers' actions as they respond to reforms, only one prior study (Bridwell-Mitchell, 2015) has explicitly approached the study of teacher agency by examining agency *in action* as teachers collaborate around reform ideas.

Another gap related to these studies concerns the generally uncritical assumption that more teacher agency will have positive results for teachers and students. For example, despite the finding that agency can be enacted for multiple purposes in reform contexts, each of the studies

on teacher agency and professional identity nonetheless call for policy environments that are less constraining to teacher agency. This paints an overly simplistic portrayal of agency, despite findings from the same studies that signal a more complex reality, and limits our understanding of how to best support teacher agency in ways that lead to instructional improvement. The reviewed sensemaking articles also promote more teacher "autonomy" in collaboration, which is also an underlying theme in much of the PLC literature and teacher leadership literature.

The problem with assuming that teachers need more agency is that it takes for granted that teachers' intentions and mediational means will align in "positive" ways, which is not necessarily so. Indeed, this is the very conundrum that increasing teacher agency has been supposed to solve: that instructional improvement policies and/or research-based innovations fail when they fail to mobilize the support of teachers, the agents most responsible for their implementation (McLaughlin & Mitra, 2001). Thus, assuming teachers need more agency leads to two problems. One, a teachers' agency may not be used to serve the interests of her students, fellow teachers, administrators, or policymakers, and, relatedly, starting from the assumption that teachers need more agency focuses analysis on the amount of agency, instead of the nature of that agency. Without developing a more nuanced understanding of the varied enactments of teacher agency in collaborative learning environments and their influence on teachers' opportunities to learn, figuring out how to design the kind of environments that support that kind of teacher agency will be difficult.

This study aims to contribute to that understanding by exploring variations in the nature and enactment of two TLs' agency as they facilitate lesson study and how those variations influence teachers' opportunities to learn. The unique cases of two emergent and informal TLs who have led and sustained their own lesson study groups present an ideal opportunity to further

investigate how and why teachers' agency may vary. By removing the assumption that more teacher agency is a good thing, we can move beyond considerations of how agency is afforded or constrained in certain contexts to consider the complex and myriad ways that teachers may act, pushing the conversation beyond *capacity to act* to consider *capacity to act towards what end*. This is particularly relevant in the unique context of a study of teachers independently leading the learning activities of other teachers, since their agency may or may not be driven by intentions aligned with institutional goals, and since their capacity to act towards those intentions may influence the learning opportunities of teachers within their lesson study groups. By exploring agency as both the meanings teachers make about teaching and learning and how those meanings are enacted via facilitation, this study contributes to our understanding of how to support TLs and teachers as they engage in collaborative instructional improvement.

Teacher Agency in Lesson Study

As a teacher-led, research-aligned, collaborative professional learning practice in which teachers collectively research student learning and plan and teach a research lesson to better understand how students respond to specific instructional approaches (Lewis & Hurd, 2011; Perry & Lewis, 2009), lesson study offers a fruitful context for studying TLs' agency in a collaborative group setting. Lesson study embodies the kind of content-focused, coherent, continuous, and collaborative teacher learning (Perry & Lewis, 2009) that has been empirically demonstrated to be associated with improved instruction and student learning in the United States (Hawley & Valli, 1999; Loucks-Horsley, Hewson, Love, & Stiles, 1998; Wilson & Berne, 1999). Lesson study has also been identified as a powerful model for enacting teaching aligned with the Common Core State Standards because it has been found to facilitate teacher enactment of effective instruction (Hiebert et al., 2002; Lewis et al., 2006). Yet, research from a project on

lesson study implementation in Florida suggests that there may be wide variations in the way that lesson study is practiced or the collaborative focus of groups (Akiba & Wilkinson, 2016). Lesson study therefore provides a fruitful context to better understand variations in teacher agency, since its architecture provides a promising frame for instructional improvement, but also leaves flexibility for teachers—and especially TLs— to shape the learning process.

Lesson study teams are led by a facilitator who ensures meetings run smoothly and guides conversations towards learning goals. In the case of the two teams in this study, each is led by a teacher-facilitator who is also largely responsible for initiating and coordinating each group's lesson study. The teacher-facilitator potentially wields considerable power over the structure of the lesson study cycle and, especially, the content of conversations, which ultimately means the teacher-facilitator may be a major factor in shaping groups' opportunities to learn. However, as mentioned above, the relationship between teacher leadership, agency, and professional learning has rarely been explored empirically.

Lesson study is usually practiced in cycles of four steps (Fernandez & Yoshida, 2004; Hart, Alston, & Murata, 2011; Lewis & Hurd, 2011), each of which offer distinct opportunities for TLs to exercise and demonstrate agency via their facilitation. In the first step, a team of teachers meets to study curriculum, identify long-term student learning goals, and select a topic or problem to study (Lewis & Hurd, 2011). Because the selected topic will significantly shape the type of learning that occurs throughout the remainder of the cycle, TLs' facilitation in this first step may be critical to the shaping of teacher learning opportunities.

In the second step, teachers plan a research lesson together that will be taught by one of the participating teachers. In this process, a multitude of opportunities exist for TLs to enact their meanings about teaching and student learning via conversations about which instructional practices to include in the lesson. In this step, many ideas are proposed, debated, and sometimes tested, but only a few can make it into the lesson. Thus, this step offers the opportunity to observe how TLs respond as they confront values or practices that may be different from their own.

In the third step of lesson study, one teacher teaches the research lesson while the others observe. The research lesson is part of what makes lesson study unique, because it offers teachers the opportunity to not only learn from each other, but to learn from students. Thus, the research lesson presents a key learning opportunity for teachers. However, the facilitator's framing of the research lesson's role and importance and the way conversation are guided over the course of the lesson design can significantly influence teachers' opportunities to learn from the research lesson. For example, one group might approach the research lesson as an opportunity to investigate student thinking while another considers it a demonstration of an ideal lesson, with meanings about teaching and learning undergirding each approach.

Finally, in the fourth step, teachers debrief and reflect about the research lesson, usually immediately after it has been taught. In this step, teachers use data gathered during the research lesson to identify areas of improvement that may be addressed in future lesson study cycles. As TL facilitators share their own observations and interpretations, they also invite others to do so and guide the conversation according to what they think should be noticed. They may also guide conversations towards particular interpretations of the data observed during the lesson.

Due to its teacher-driven nature, throughout all steps of lesson study, teachers have opportunities to use collegial conversations to describe and address problems of practice. This requires facilitators to respond flexibly to topics of concern as they arise. These conversations are particularly important contexts to observe TLs' agency, since their unpredictable nature

prompts TLs to improvise in ways that may reveal their meanings of teaching and learning. Such conversations may also represent key opportunities for teachers to learn as they use the process of lesson study to investigate their concerns. In more autonomous and voluntary lesson study groups, such moments may be even more common, since teachers have more flexibility regarding the topic and focus of lesson study and have elected to participate based on self-identified learning needs.

In sum, lesson study is an ideal context for a comparative case study of TLs' agency because a) it embodies precisely the kind of collaborative learning that has been identified as a key venue for teachers to build and exercise agency in instructional improvement and b) its steps create opportunities to observe and compare TLs' enactment of their meanings related to teaching and learning. It also enables observation of the relationship between TLs' agency and opportunities to learn by providing a context in which TLs may respond to teachers' emergent problems of practice.

By problematizing the assumption that more teacher agency results in instructional improvement in a context, such as lesson study, in which teachers are presumably demonstrating the type of agency we assume to be positive, we can learn more about the conditions under which this relationship holds or not (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2011). Given calls for teacher agency in collaborative learning, the context of two TLs facilitating their own independent lesson study teams affords the opportunity to better understand what agency in teacher learning looks like and how TLs' agency may shape teachers' opportunities to learn as they engage in the various processes of a teacher-driven professional learning activity.

Conclusion

In sum, prior research on teacher agency in collaborative professional learning contexts has not adequately problematized the idea that teachers need more agency in learning or sufficiently examined both the nature and enactment of teacher agency in collaborative learning contexts. Furthermore, little is known about how TLs exercise agency in collaborative professional learning or how their agency influences teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study.

Given calls for increasing teacher agency in teacher learning (The Mirage Report, 2016), the ubiquity of collaborative PD (Markow et al., 2013; Stoll et al, 2006), and a research and policy focus on fostering teacher leadership (Leithwood & Mascall, 2008), there is a need to examine the complex nature and enactment of teacher agency through a detailed analysis of TLs' meanings about teaching and learning and the enactment of those meanings via facilitation. Such a study would assume a critical view of teacher agency, collaborative learning, and teacher leadership to refine our understanding of how these elements contribute (or not) to teacher learning aimed at instructional improvement.

The need for such research is supported by calls for professional learning policies that support teacher agency (Calvert, 2016, The Gates Foundation, 2014; The Mirage Report, 2016) and further fomented by research that explores teacher agency and instructional improvement reforms more broadly. Given agreement (Garet et al., 2008; 2010; The Gates Foundation, 2014; The Mirage Report, 2016) that spending on teacher professional development in the United States has not produced the desired results, such a study could inform our efforts to understand how to better support the professional learning of all teachers as they engage with instructional improvement reforms.

A conceptual framework that applies sociocultural theory orients analysis to how TLs' cognitive processes (via meaning-making) interact with social processes (via talk and action) as TLs' enact meanings about teaching and learning as they facilitate lesson study, ultimately shaping the learning opportunities of teachers in their group.

Building on the findings from the research reviewed in this chapter, the next chapter describes how the application of such a framework was applied to data collection and analysis.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

This study is a comparative case study that relies primarily on semi-structured teacher interviews and analysis of data collected throughout all steps of two lesson study cycles with two teams over a three-year period. My analysis draws partially from data collected as part of a larger research project on lesson study in Florida. I have been a member of this research team for four years and have been active in the data collection and analysis. A teacher survey was conducted to gather background information from each participant. To understand the nature of TLs' agency, I focused analysis on multiple semi-structured interviews (five total with each lasting from 30 min to 115 min) conducted with TLs during and after lesson study cycles, including an extended interview in the spring of 2018 designed specifically to address the research questions of this study. To understand the enactment of TLs' agency and how that influences teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study, I analyzed over 70 hours of transcripts of lesson study meetings, teachers' written reflections after lesson study meetings, interviews with teachers, lesson plans, and other documents related to each group's lesson study practice.

A comparative case study approach was selected to develop an in-depth understanding of the unique cases of two TLs who self-initiated and sustained lesson study groups at their respective schools in Coast County, Florida (Creswell, 2005). This approach also facilitated analysis of variations in the nature and enactment of teacher agency and how variations in facilitation may create different opportunities to learn between groups. Treating each TLs' facilitation as a separate case helped me to understand the "context-dependent knowledge and experience" that is at "the very heart of expert activity" (Flyvbjerg, 2006, p. 222). Each case is bounded by each TL's activities related to lesson study facilitation between 2014-2016,

particularly their facilitation of lesson study cycles in the 2014-15 and 2015-16 school years¹. In keeping with the goals of case study research, I employed multiple data collection methods to develop an in-depth understanding of the nature and enactment of TLs' agency as it relates to their facilitation of lesson study and how TLs' agency shapes teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study (Yin, 1994). This chapter details and justifies the sample, describes the research context and its relevance to the research questions, identifies the data sources, and details my data analysis.

Research Context

This study focuses on the cases of two TLs, Kate and Elena, who each organize and lead their own lesson study groups at two school sites in Coast County School District—a mid-size school district (61,000 students) with average poverty and diversity levels (39% of student receiving free or reduced-price lunch and 39% ethnic minority) in the state of Florida. Florida began promoting lesson study as a statewide professional development model in 2010 using federal Race to the Top Funding (Akiba & Wilkinson, 2015). However, one of the teachers (Elena) started practicing lesson study in 2003 and the other (Kate) in 2008, before the state promoted lesson study and outside of a school or district mandate to do so. Kate and Elena hold no official leadership title. Instead, inspired by their own professional learning experiences, they emerged as informal TLs who promote and lead lesson study groups. Thus, the context offers a unique opportunity to explore the agency of two TLs who, on the surface, conform to research and policy-supported ideals of a teacher leader engaged in continuous and sustained professional learning.

1

¹ Because the research lesson was taught in the spring of each year, for simplicity's sake I refer to the 2014-15 team as "2015" and 2015-16 as "2016"

These teachers were also uniquely supported by a school and district who honored their autonomy in lesson study practice. Although Elena and Kate describe variations in level and type of administrator support over the years, each credits supportive principals with providing them with time and space to practice lesson study and helping them to locate funding to pay for resources such as materials and substitutes to cover the teachers as they observe and collect data during the research lesson. Although in the past, the district has had very little influence on the teams' practice, they recently partnered with our research team to explore how to grow lesson study practice in the county. In recent years, the district has collaborated with these two teams to promote lesson study, but has honored the teacher-led aspect by making participation voluntary.

Participants

The participants of this study belonged to two lesson study groups led by two TLs, Elena and Kate, who—to my knowledge—are the only two TLs in Florida to initiate and sustain a lesson study practice outside of any school, district, or state mandate to do so. In prior analysis as part of the larger research project, we found that despite similarities in their contexts—both as independent practitioners in similar schools in the same district—conversations within each group were notably different, where, generally, in Elena's group, conversations focused on teaching approaches and content, while conversations in Kate's group focused on the procedural aspects of designing of the lesson. The uniqueness of their long-term, teacher-led lesson study practice and observed differences between their approaches warranted further investigation of the relationship between professional learning, agency, and teacher leadership.

In addition to Elena² and Kate, the study participants also include 20 teachers who participated in lesson study in 2015 and 2016, nine from Kate's school and 11 from Elena's.

_

² All names used are pseudonyms.

Table 1 lists the teachers along with their participation in the 2015 and 2016 cycles of lesson study and their background—the number of years they have taught and the number of lesson study cycles they participated in previously—gathered from a teacher background survey conducted as part of the larger research project. Common to all of these teachers is that they decided to participate in lesson study even though they were not required to do so. The uniqueness of their independent practice and observed differences in the nature of each group's conversations present an apt context to comparatively explore TLs' agency and the learning opportunities shaped via lesson study.

Table 1. Study participants

School/Team		Lesson Study Participation		Years	Lesson Study
		2015	2016	Taught	Cycles
Riverside	Elena (Facilitator)	X	X	24	13
	Stacey*	X		19	15
	Elena*	X		26	10
	Vicky*	X		22	6
	Emily	X		14	8
	Maggie	X		11	0
	Christine	X		17	0
	Allie	X	X	14	1
	Melissa		X	20	0
	Carmenza		X	2	0
	Manuela		X	11	0
Warrior	Kate (Facilitator)	X	X	29	7
	Beth	X		23	6
	Nikki	X		12	4
	Anna	X		11	6
	Laura	X		27	5
	Vanessa	X	X	30	3
	Eva	X	X	12	2
	Carol		X	1	2
	Brittany		X	1	0

Notes: * Elena invited these teachers from Trailways to participate in lesson study because they worked with Elena closely on lesson study before she transferred to Riverside. Stacey and Elena are teachers at Trailways and Vicky is a retired teacher who used to work at Trailways.

Elena

Elena is the facilitator of lesson study at Riverside Elementary School, where she has been teaching since 2014. Before transferring to Riverside, Elena taught at Trailways Elementary School, located less than two miles from Riverside and the school where Elena taught when she formed the first lesson study team. As suggested by their geographical proximity, Riverside and Trailways have similar student demographics. At Riverside, 43% of students receive free and reduced lunch, and 23% are ethnic minorities, while 46% of students at Trailways receive free and reduced lunch, and 19% are ethnic minorities. Elena has 26 years of teaching experience in grades 3-5 and currently teaches gifted and non-gifted mathematics to third, fourth, and fifth graders. She holds a master's degree in Elementary Education, is certified in elementary education with a gifted endorsement, and holds a National Board Certification in Mathematics.

Elena is a veteran teacher who has organized and facilitated lesson study groups in Coast County for 15 years. She has worked to educate school and district leaders about the potential benefits of lesson study, but has maintained her practice with and without official school or district support depending on administrative changes and priorities. The core group of teachers with whom she has practiced over the years speak of her approach to teaching mathematics and leading lesson study as a source of inspiration. For example, one teacher describes her as having "a world of expertise", while others credit her for being "very knowledgeable about math," "so good at what she does," and "the best leader." As such, Elena has many of the qualities of the kind of agentic teacher leader that has been suggested as a key to instructional improvement, warranting further analysis of the nature of that agency, and how her agency shapes her group's opportunities to learn in lesson study.

In fact, lesson study was brought to Coast County by Elena, who was introduced to lesson study in 2003 when she attended a conference in Washington, D.C., and overheard teachers discussing a form of professional development that "empowers teachers through collaboration" (personal communication, June 8, 2015). She approached one of the teachers to learn more and was told about lesson study. From 2003 to 2017, Elena has facilitated nine cycles of lesson study. Although the composition of her teams has varied from cycle to cycle, she slowly formed a core group of four teachers who have continued practicing with her, even as two of them (including Elena) transferred to another school and one retired.

In 2014, our team approached Elena to participate in our project after learning about her practice from another lesson study researcher who had previously collaborated with Elena's team. Since Elena was new at Riverside, she invited three teachers from Trailways to participate in the 2015 cycle of lesson study alongside four teachers from the school.

Kate

Kate is also a veteran teacher, currently teaching 5th grade, who has sustained a lesson study practice at her school for ten years, without any mandate or requirement to do so. Like Elena, Kate embodies the sort of highly agentic teacher leader that research and policy has suggested may be a key to instructional improvement. Kate is the facilitator at Warrior Elementary, where she currently teaches fourth grade. Warrior is in the same town as Riverside and Trailways, but is located in a more metropolitan part of the city about five miles away from Riverside and Trailways. At Warrior, 49% of students receive free and reduced lunch, and 31% are considered ethnic minorities. Kate has taught at Warrior Elementary for all 28 years of her teaching experience. She currently teaches 4th grade, but has previously taught grades K-5 and

spent many years as a physical education teacher. In fact, Kate has a Ph.D. in Exercise Science, but is certified in elementary education and physical education, with an ESOL endorsement.

Kate was introduced to lesson study via her friendship with Elena. After attending a 2008 conference in Coast County that highlighted the success of Elena's team, Kate and three of her colleagues immediately began practicing lesson study in her school. Since 2009, Kate's team has completed eight cycles of lesson study. Her first team was composed of seven members, five of whom have continued with Kate throughout all six cycles. Kate has actively sought to spread lesson study in the school and district by teaching a school-wide lesson study, presenting lesson study summaries at staff meetings, leading a grade-level lesson study, participating in a summer facilitator's workshop to spread lesson study in the district, and actively recruiting members to her group.

Our team also collaborated with Kate after Elena introduced her to us beginning in 2014. For our collaboration, Kate organized a team that included the five members who have regularly practiced lesson study with Kate since 2008. She also coordinated with our research team in her initiative to promote lesson study via a schoolwide lesson study cycle meant to introduce teachers at her school to the benefits of lesson study practice.

Like Elena, Kate's team speaks glowingly of her leadership, often focusing on her ability to organize and take charge. Says one teacher,

She's just a leader on everything, and she's one of those people who can take charge, and tell you what to do, but you never take it the wrong way, whereas some people might come across as bossy, and you don't want to listen. She just has that natural leadership quality (Anna, Interview, 2015).

Another long-term member of her team, Eva, describes her as organized, explaining, "she takes charge; that's what she does. She's good at it" (Interview, 2016). A newer member from her 2016 describes her as a "professional lesson study guru," elaborating, "she definitely knows her stuff about lesson study. She's definitely an expert in that area. And if she got a question, she'll know who to go to if she didn't know the answer, and she was just really helpful" (Brittany, Interview, 2016).

In sum, there are many overlaps in Elena and Kate's lesson study practice. They both practice outside of any school or district requirement to do so and have taken the initiative to organize and facilitate multiple lesson study cycles and grow lesson study in their district. Both teachers are seasoned veteran teachers who value collaboration and who are respected and trusted by their peer teachers. These similarities create a backdrop against which I can observe differences in TLs' agency and how those differences may shape different learning opportunities for teachers in each group.

The Teams

Table 2 presents the group composition of the Riverside and Warrior teams with the number of group members, teaching experience and lesson study experience. In 2015, the Riverside team was composed of eight members, two of whom were new to lesson study, one of whom had only practiced one cycle of lesson study at another school, and six of whom had multiple years of lesson study practice alongside Elena (Table 1). All 2015 members had been teaching for at least ten years. For this team, Elena strategically invited four teachers with whom she had practiced lesson study in the past, two of whom traveled from a nearby school to participate and one of whom was already retired. In contrast, in 2016, three of the five members on Elena's team had no lesson study experience. In fact, besides Elena, the only other member

with lesson study experience had completed her first cycle the year before. The 2016 Riverside team also included a teacher with only two years of teaching experience, and another teacher with 20 years of teaching experience but no prior lesson study experience.

Table 2. Group composition

Group		Members	Average	Average	Average LS	Average
			Teaching	Teaching	Experience:	LS
			Experience	Experience	Num of	Experience
			(ALL)	(Excluding	Cycles	(Excluding
				Facilitator)	(ALL)	Facilitator)
Riverside	2015	8	18	18	7	6
	2016	5	14	12	3	0
Warrior	2015	7	21	19	5	4
	2016	5	15	11	3	2

Similarly, in 2015, the Warrior team had seven members with an average of 21 years of teaching experience, all of whom had some lesson study experience. However, in 2016, this Warrior team split into two groups, and Kate facilitated a group of five (including herself), two of whom were brand new teachers. In fact, this group was quite different from any group Kate had previously facilitated, since all of her prior lesson study cycles (including 2015) had included the core group of teachers who also attended the regional lesson study conference in 2008 and often shared facilitation duties with Kate.

In both cases, Elena and Kate facilitated very different groups in 2015 and 2016, with notable differences in teaching experience and lesson study experience. Each of the 2015 teams are composed of several experienced teachers who have practiced lesson study with one another for years, while in 2016, Elena and Kate facilitated teams with more teachers who are new to the profession and/or new to lesson study, with fewer veteran lesson study practitioners on their team. Differences between each facilitator's teams made it possible to examine each TL's agency

and facilitation across group contexts and identify the aspects of their facilitation that remained the same despite the changes in their group compositions.

Lesson Study Process

As described above, lesson study is practiced in multi-step cycles in which teams collectively research a topic related to student learning and teaching and design a research lesson to investigate student thinking around the selected topic. Within this basic premise, there is a wide range of variation in how the process may be organized and practiced. However, Elena and Kate's teams follow a very similar lesson study process, with meetings of varying lengths held over a period several weeks, culminating in the research lesson and debrief. Tables 3 and 4 describe the length and topic of each meeting by team for 2015 and 2016. Shorter meetings were held after school and longer meetings were held on scheduled professional development days that lasted all-day or half-day.

Table 3. Lesson study process by team 2015

	Riverside Team		Warrior Team	
	Length (min)	Topic	Length (min)	Topic
Intro	75	Discuss lesson study process; identify goals; choose topic	n/a*	n/a
Planning 1	80	Explore standard	40	Choose topic; review data; explore standard
Planning 2	320	Discuss research, developmental story	280	Discuss research, developmental story
Planning 3	80	Debate lesson situation	60	Debate lesson situation; choose task
Planning 4	160	Choose lesson task, discuss flow of lesson	65	Review lesson
Planning 5	80	Anticipate student responses	330	Anticipate student responses
Planning 6	60	Review and practice	55	Practice lesson

Table 3 – continued

	Riverside Team		Warrior Team	
	Length (min)	Topic	Length (min)	Topic
Research lesson	#	Research lesson and data collection	#	Research lesson and data collection
Debrief	65	Discuss research lesson	100	Discuss Research lesson
Total	15 h		15.5 h	

^{*}Did not convene for introductory meeting.

Table 4: Lesson study process by team 2016

	Riverside Team			Warrior Team	
	Length (min)	Topic	Length (min)	Topic	
Intro	120	Discuss lesson study process	n/a	n/a	
Planning 1	320	Discuss research; identify goals; choose topic	320	Discuss research; choose topic; developmental story	
Planning 2	120	Developmental story; choose lesson task	180	Review data; choose lesson task; discuss flow of lesson	
Planning 3	120	Debate lesson situation, flow of lesson	180	Review lesson; anticipate student responses	
Planning 4	120	Anticipate student responses	n/a	n/a	
Planning 5	120	Review and practice lesson	n/a	n/a	
Research lesson	#	Research lesson and data collection	#	Research lesson and data collection	
Debrief 1		Discuss research lesson	110	Discuss research lesson; prepare reteach	
Debrief 2	n/a	n/a	45	Discuss research lesson	
Total	15 h		14 h		

One notable difference is that the Riverside team includes an introductory meeting each year in which Kate discusses the purpose and process of lesson study and assigns reading materials before the actual planning meetings begin. In 2016, the district encouraged lesson

study teams to follow a three-day model of lesson study. This was a model promoted in several districts across the state (Akiba & Wilkinson, 2016) in which teachers meet intensively for three days and then teach two research lessons in one day, the second of which is designed based on feedback from the first research lesson. While Kate's team followed this approach in 2016, Elena opted to not follow this model.

Otherwise, the overall process of lesson study for all four groups follows a very similar trajectory. In early planning meetings, the focus is on selecting and understanding a topic related to student learning. For example, in 2015, Elena's team focused on multiplication of a fraction by a fraction, while Kate's team focused on representing mixed fractions. Based on the selected topic, both teams read research related to the topic and engage in discussion of what each refers to as the "developmental story." In this task, teams draw on curriculum maps to understand the mathematical ideas that students will need to understand in order to engage in the selected topic. They also discuss how the selected topic will inform future understanding of mathematical ideas. The lesson is designed over multiple meetings, in which teachers debate potential lesson situations. Both teams a use a lesson planning template that includes columns that prompt teachers to consider students' anticipated responses and how teachers will address those responses. Both teams also spend some time in each cycle actually practicing the tasks that students will be asked to complete during the lesson.

In addition to meeting lengths and focus, lesson study processes may also vary by the selection of the who teaches the research lesson and the class in which it will be taught. Some teams in Florida, for example, choose the teacher by drawing a name from a hat shortly before the research lesson. Both Kate and Elena approach this decision through discussion with their team, using criteria such as scheduling, the teachers' comfort level, and the selected topic, to

decide who should teach the research lesson. In each group, the conversation of who will teach emerged organically as the teams planned the lesson.

Overall, the lesson study process for Kate and Elena's groups share far more similarities than differences, and yet, our research team observed a notable divergence in the nature of conversations between groups. This oriented my analysis away from how the lesson study process shapes teachers' opportunities to learn to how conversations that occur across these processes shape opportunities to learn. Because the primary role of the lesson study facilitator is to guide these conversations, I drew upon multiple sources of data to better understand Elena and Kate's facilitation as the enactment of their agency.

Sources of Data

To answer my research question about how TLs exercise agency in lesson study, I relied on data collected over a four-year period as part of a larger project on lesson study in Florida. Sources of data include videos and transcriptions of planning meetings and debriefings, transcriptions of interviews, a teacher survey, written reflections, video and transcripts of research lessons, and documents, such as lesson plans and research articles, related to lesson study practice (see Table 5). Each facilitator also participated in a summer facilitator institute sponsored by the district in partnership with our research team. Video and transcripts from the institute were also analyzed, particularly instances in which Elena and Kate shared their facilitation experiences with other potential facilitators in the district. In an effort to promote lesson study at her school, Kate also organized an open house lesson study at her school in the spring of 2016, in which her team taught a public research lesson for all of the teachers in her school. Video and documents from the open house also informed my analysis. Although Kate facilitated this "cycle," I did not use this data to analyze her approach to facilitation, given the

uniqueness of the context of a public research lesson. Rather, this data was included in my analysis of Kate's meanings related to lesson study. For each lesson study cycle and during the facilitator training institute, teachers completed a background survey where they reported their prior teaching experience, professional preparation, past experiences with leadership and professional development, and their prior lesson study experience. Also in each cycle, the team conducted teacher interviews, and, in 2015, a focus group interview at the end of each cycle. These were not analyzed explicitly (save for the TL interviews) for this project, but teachers' commentary on Elena and Kate's facilitation did inform my understanding of Kate and Elena as emergent and informal leaders.

Table 5. Data sources

	2014-15	2015-16	2017-18	Summer 2015
	Meeting 1	Meeting 1	TL Interview	(Both TLs)
	Meeting 2	Meeting 2		
	Meeting 3	Meeting 3		Facilitator
	Meeting 4	Research Lesson 1		Training
	Meeting 5	Debrief 1		Institute:
	Meeting 6	Research Lesson 2		
	Research Lesson	Debrief 2		Survey
	Debrief	Lesson Plan		Day 1
	Lesson Plan	TL Interview 1		Day 2
	TL Interview 1	TL Interview 2		Day 3
Warrior	TL Interview 2	Teacher		Research lesson
	Teacher Interviews	Interviews		Debrief
	Focus Group	Teacher survey		Feedback form
	Teacher survey	Documents		
	Reflections			
	Documents	Schoolwide LS:		
		Intro Meeting		
		Research lesson		
		Lesson Plan		
		Debrief		

Table 5 - continued

	2014-15	2015-16	2017-18	Summer 2015
Riverside	2014-15 Intro Meeting Meeting 1 Meeting 2 Meeting 3 Meeting 4 Meeting 5 Meeting 6 Debrief Lesson Plan	2015-16 Meeting 1 Meeting 2 Meeting 3 Meeting 4 Meeting 5 Debrief TL Interview 1 TL Interview 2 Lesson Plan	2017-18 TL Interview	Summer 2015
	TL Interview 1 TL Interview 2 Teacher Interviews Focus Group Teacher survey Reflections Documents	Teacher Interviews Teacher survey Documents		

For each lesson study cycle, the research team conducted a mid- and post-cycle interview with each teacher leader to gather their impressions of the lesson study cycle and learn more about their lesson study experience and facilitation process. In previous analysis of these interviews, I sought to understand the motivations and values behind each TL's lesson study practice. Based on my findings from these earlier rounds of analysis, I created an extensive, semi-structured interview protocol tailored to each teacher leader in which I sought to further probe their understanding of teaching, learning, and facilitating. In total, I analyzed 42 pages of interview transcripts for Kate and 47 pages of interview transcripts for Elena (single-spaced, 12-point Times New Roman font).

To understand how TLs' agency shapes teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study, I analyzed planning meeting data, lesson plans, research lesson recordings, debriefing meetings, and all other data collected during two cycles of lesson study (per team) in the 2014-15 and 2015-16 school years. All meetings for these cycles were videotaped and transcribed as part of a

larger project on lesson study in Florida. Elena's team met for an average of 25 hours each cycle, and Kate's team met for an average of 19 hours each cycle.

The purpose of utilizing meeting and research lesson data was to move the analysis beyond teachers' perceptions of agency or the factors influencing teacher agency to the underexplored topic of what teacher agency looks like in practice in collaborative learning environments. Interview data was used primarily to inform my understanding of each TLs' meanings related to lesson study. As will be described below, analysis applied a sociocultural lens to explore TLs' agency at the level of meanings and teacher talk/action. I also analyzed meeting data to explore how the agency enacted by TLs shaped teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study.

Data Analysis

In alignment with my research questions, my data analysis had three purposes: 1) to understand the nature of TLs' agency by analyzing the meanings they make related to their lesson study practice, 2) to understand the enactment of TLs' agency via their talk and actions as they facilitate lesson study, and 3) to identify the learning opportunities afforded by each TLs' facilitation. Each of these purposes required their own phase of data analysis, which will be described below.

To analyze data, I used the Nvivo12 Pro qualitative coding software. While analyzing key segments of planning meeting data, I also found it useful to export transcript excerpts to Microsoft Excel to create a simple, chart-style representation of talk turns with multiple codes and my notes. Throughout all phases of analysis, I relied heavily on memo writing to organize and elaborate on findings as they developed. To write memos, I would organize notes from a session of data analysis into a narrative loosely structured around the affordances and constraints

of that session's analysis. This served as a helpful way to reorient myself after breaks in analysis. More importantly, memos helped me to capture the "conceptual details" that integrated findings and described the nuances between cases (Corbin & Strauss, 1990, p. 10).

Phase 1: Meanings

I analyzed teachers' meanings related to lesson study as a way to understand the nature of their agency at a cognitive level. This focus reflects a view of agency that considers the meanings teachers make about action as key to understanding agency. To begin this analysis, I used Nvivo12 Pro software to perform open coding of TLs' interview, surveys, and written reflections to answer the question: What kinds of meanings do TLs make about their lesson study practice? This broad round of coding was primarily aimed at first identifying what concepts TLs discuss in relation to lesson study, or, said differently, the things that TLs make meanings about in relation to their lesson study practice. This coding process resulted in 35 codes.

In a second round of coding, I sought to refine these codes according to my definition of "meanings" as both the way TLs define key aspects related to their lesson study practice and the significance teachers attach to their lesson study practice. Therefore, in this round of coding I returned to my existing codes guided by the questions:

- What do TLs mean by this concept?
- Why is that concept significant for them?

For example, if a TL discussed the importance of teacher collaboration, I reviewed all that teachers' codes for collaboration to understand how she defined collaboration and/or why collaboration is significant or important to her. This round of coding helped me to develop a more cohesive definition of meanings of learning and teaching for each teacher.

Based on emerging themes, I reorganized and condensed those codes into two broader domains that I identified as most salient: meanings about student learning/teaching and meanings about teacher learning/facilitating. This resulted in 12 primary codes across both domains, representing 12 primary meanings of teaching and learning. In each category, meanings were further aggregated by whether they suggest a more traditional or constructivist view of teaching and learning. I aggregated codes according to these constructs based on the research reviewed in Chapter 2 about shifts in mathematics instruction and the type of teacher learning experiences needed to support these shifts. This was particularly relevant given the role that lesson study is assumed to play in supporting such shifts (Hiebert et al., 2002; Lewis et al., 2006) and justifies analysis of how the meanings TLs make about their lesson study participation and facilitation reflect (or not) constructivist shifts.

The final codes used for the domain of Meanings about Teaching and Student Learning are presented below in Table 6. The parent³ code representing a more traditional view of teaching and learning was labeled "Knowledge-giver/Teacher-centered" to describe an approach to teaching and learning in which knowledge is seen as being transmitted from someone with more knowledgeable about a given topic to someone with less knowledge. Freire (2007) used the metaphor of banking to describe (and criticize) how learning according to this meaning is conceptualized as "an act of depositing, in which the students are the depositories and the teacher is the depositor" (p. 27). Within this "parent" code, three "child" codes captured talk in which a specific type of meaning reflected a more traditional view of student learning and/or teaching. These were: meanings about tools and strategies, meanings about student struggle, and meanings about the purpose of classroom discourse.

_

³ The terms "parent" and "child" code reflect the terms for coding hierarchies used in the Nvivo12 software.

Table 6. Coding for meanings about teaching and student learning

Traditional: Knowledge-giver/ Teacher- centered		Constructivist: Mediator/Student-centered	
Tools & Strategies	Captures instances in which student learning is associated with building a repertoire of tools, skills and strategies to solve problems	Reasoning & Ideas	Captures instances in which student learning means applying prior knowledge to reason through ideas and/or make connections between concepts and strategies
Struggle	Captures instances in which student struggle means students have not yet figured out the correct or best strategy to get to the correct answer. (May be fixed by someone else telling you the correct answer or strategy.)	Struggle	Captures instances in which the role of struggle in student learning is described as an opportunity to deepen understanding between the connection of ideas and/or evaluate your own thinking about mathematical ideas
Exploration	Captures instance in which student exploration is described as opportunities for students to try different tools and strategies in order to select the best one.	Exploration	Captures instances in which student exploration is described as opportunities for students to make connections between ideas and problems and/or strategies.

Talk coded as "tools and strategies" within this domain captured instances in which a TLs' talk suggested that student learning consists primarily of accumulating a repertoire of tools, skills, and strategies. Talk captured under this category may also explicitly or implicitly describe teaching as the "giving" of tools or strategies, where the focus is on transmission of knowledge, with little to no emphasis on how students construct knowledge using current understandings.

Talk coded as "student struggle" captured instances in which a TL described a view of student struggle in which a student does not yet know the correct answer or best strategy to get the correct answer. To describe differences in views of student struggle (between traditional and constructivist approaches), I found it helpful to consider the implied or described solution to

student struggle. Meanings of student struggle categorized under the "traditional" parent code generally view the resolution of student struggle as being told the correct answer or strategy or having the correct answer or strategy demonstrated. In other words, a more knowledgeable person fixes or corrects a student's "not knowing" by transmitting their knowledge to the student.

Finally, talk coded as "student exploration" under the parent code of "Knowledge-giver/Teacher-centered" captured meanings of student exploration in which exploration is taken to mean students are shown or given multiple tools and strategies so that they can select the best one to solve a given problem.

In the domain of Student Learning and Teaching, another set of codes captured meanings that represent a more constructivist view of teaching and learning. These were labeled "Mediator/Student-centered" to describe an approach to teaching and learning in which students' construction of knowledge takes primacy over teachers' transmission of knowledge. The broad meaning of teaching according to this conception involves facilitating opportunities for students to build understanding through activity and interactions with the teacher and other students.

Talk coded as "Reasoning and Ideas" captured instances in which TLs' talk reflected a meaning of learning that emphasizes applying prior understandings to reason through ideas. Talk coded in this category describes learning as a process of connecting prior understandings to new information, and the role of the teacher is seen as facilitating opportunities for students to make those connections. Included under this code are instances in which value is placed on reasoning processes instead of correct answers.

Talk coded as "Struggle" under the "Mediator/Student-centered" parent code captures instances in which student struggle is associated with deepening understanding by connecting

ideas. The solution to this type of struggle is not for teachers to tell students the correct answer but prompt them to further evaluate their thinking in relation to new ideas. According to this view, struggle is not negatively associated with "not knowing," but rather with a process of coming to know more by evaluating and building upon prior understandings.

Similarly, talk coded as "exploration" in the constructivist category captures instances in which students have opportunities to "struggle" or explore the connections between new and prior ideas, problems, and strategies. This meaning of exploration emphasizes surfacing students' understandings and misunderstandings and facilitating opportunities for students to build upon those ideas by testing and exploring conjectures.

Codes for the domain of Meanings about Teacher Learning and Facilitating are described in Table 7. Child codes in this domain were also aggregated by whether the meanings described in each code reflected a more constructivist or traditional view of teacher learning. The parent code representing more traditional meanings of teacher learning was labeled "Accumulation of Tools and Strategies" and included child codes for "struggle," "talk," and "tool/strategy focused." The parent code representing more constructivist meanings was labeled "Coconstructed" and included the child codes "struggle, talk, and content-focused."

Talk coded as "tool/strategy-focused" under the "traditional" parent code captures instances in which TLs' talk suggests that teacher learning primarily means that teachers identify and accumulate new tools and strategies for teaching. Not included under this category are instances in which tools and strategies are problematized, evaluated, and/or tied to ideas of student learning. Rather, these codes capture instances in which the accumulation of tools/strategies is viewed as an end to itself, without connections made between strategies and broader learning ideas.

Table 7. Coding for meanings about teacher learning and facilitating

Traditional: Accumulation of tools & strategies		Constructivist: Coconstructing understandings	
Tools & Strategies	Captures instances in which teacher learning means identifying effective tools and strategies for teaching.	Content- focused	Captures instances in which teacher learning means exploration of content (as it relates to teaching)
Struggle	Captures instances in which teacher struggle is described as an opportunity to correct a misunderstanding or seek out a new tool or strategy	Struggle	Captures instances in which teacher struggle is described as opportunities to deepen understanding (often of the relationship between mathematical ideas and/or instruction)
Talk	Capture instances in which teacher talk in learning is described as opportunities to exchange tips, tools, and strategies	Talk	Captures instances in which teacher talk during learning means collective exploration and exchange of ideas

Talk coded as "struggle" under the "traditional" parent code captures instances in which TLs' talk suggested a meaning of teacher struggle, in which teacher's struggle means teachers do not yet know something that may be quickly found out by consulting a colleague, administrator, or someone with more knowledgeable about a particular topic. Common examples of talk coded under this category include references to teachers not knowing the definition of a word or the meaning of a standard. Like with student struggle, resolution of this kind of struggle may be instantaneous, since teachers only need to be told the piece of information they are missing.

Finally, traditional meanings of "talk" capture instances in which TLs' descriptions of the purpose of teacher talk in lesson study emphasizes the identification and exchange of tips, tools, and strategies, with little exploration of the reasons behind the use of particular approaches.

These codes may reflect a meaning of talk as the sharing of ideas, without reference to building

upon one another's ideas or critically evaluating ideas. These codes may include instances in which TLs' talk suggest that the facilitator's role is to facilitate the exchange of ideas, tips, or strategies.

Under the constructivist category of Meanings about Teacher Learning and Facilitating, talk coded as "content-focused" include all instances in which a TL expressed a meaning of teacher learning in which TLs examine their own understanding of content and how that relates to their teaching. While a content-focused meaning of teacher learning may not inherently reflect a constructivist view, my analysis did not uncover any instances in which a TL suggested a meaning of teacher learning focused on content that did not *reflect* a constructivist approach.

Meanings coded as "struggle" in the "constructivist" category of teacher learning/facilitating reflect a view of teacher struggle in which teachers discuss and evaluate current understandings in light of new information that may conflict with those understandings. Teacher struggle according to this definition is not a problem to be fixed, but an opportunity to deepen understanding through a process of reflection and inquiry.

Similarly, teacher "talk" in this category captures instances in which TLs suggest that teachers' talk in lesson study means an opportunity to engage in the exploration of ideas, where exploration is defined as discussing the reasons behind particular ideas, strategies, or approaches to teaching. Also included within this code are instances in which TLs' talk suggests that the role of the facilitator is to probe exploration and evaluation of ideas.

By noting meanings that followed a similar theme and were frequently observed, I was able to develop a general view of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating for each teacher and identify key meanings associated with those views. Perhaps reflecting the dynamic nature of meanings, each TL expressed meanings that were at times contradictory to

meanings they expressed elsewhere in the data. To make sense of these contradictions, I employed several strategies. First, I revisited negative instances in the context of larger blocks of talk to ensure that my coding accurately reflected the intended meaning. I also allowed some talks to be coded as reflecting both a constructivist and traditional view of teaching and learning, since my intention was never to dichotomously describe TLs' meanings, but rather to capture where their meanings primarily fell along a traditional/constructivist continuum. Finally, throughout this and all phases of the coding process, I was able to share my coding with and receive feedback from the lesson study research team, who also helped me talk through negative instances and clarify my coding scheme.

Phase 2: Opportunities to Learn

To identify teachers' opportunities to learn, I drew from research on the kind of learning experiences that support teachers' learning in reform contexts. As described in Chapter 2, this literature identifies the importance of opportunities for teachers to experience dissonance, or cognitive conflict, related to their current understandings of teaching and learning and engage in dissonance resolving through a process of evaluating and connecting current understandings with new evidence (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Cochran-Smithi & Lytle, 1999; Opfer & Pedder, 2011; Thompson & Zeulli, 1999). This approach informs a definition of teachers' opportunities to learn as opportunities to engage in dissonance resolving related to problems or issues of practice. In alignment with my sociocultural approach to understanding teacher agency, this definition sees dissonance resolving opportunities as potential moments for teachers to shape new meanings related to teaching and learning as they evaluate current meanings and understandings in light of new evidence.

Thus, to identify opportunities to learn, I searched planning meeting transcripts for conversations in which competing ideas, meanings, or understandings emerged, considering these as potential sources of dissonance. Interestingly, I found that while in each lesson study cycle, multiple sources of dissonance may develop, each cycle was defined by the repeated remergence of competing ideas around a particular idea or approach. I took this as strong evidence of potential for teachers to experience and learn from dissonance related to the debated topic and focused my analysis on key episodes from each cycle in which that potential source of dissonance surfaced and resurfaced. I defined key episodes as moments in which competing ideas temporarily composed the primary topic of conversation. I exported each of these key episodes into an excel spreadsheet to create what Horn and Little (2010) described as a *conversation map*. In my case, this initially consisted of a chart marking divergent ideas and narratively describing their variation. In the next round of analysis, this simple chart was expanded upon to investigate how facilitators shape opportunities to learn.

Phase 3: Enactment/Facilitation

Having identified teachers' opportunities to learn, I then sought to understand how TLs' facilitation helped to shape—support or hinder—those opportunities. To code facilitators' talk, I returned to my conversation maps of key episodes of potential dissonance guided by the questions:

- What seems to be the purpose of facilitator talk during this conversation?
- How does facilitator talk in this task reflect meanings about teaching/student learning and/or teacher learning?

This first round of this analysis consisted of a brief narrative description of the purpose of a talk turn (in one column) and a phrase/phrases describing any meanings about teaching and learning

suggested by the talk turn (in another column). To better understand how to classify the relationship between identified facilitator moves and opportunities to learn, I revisited literature on teachers' talk and professional learning. Comparing this literature to my findings, I refined my descriptions of the purpose of talk into two categories, partially informed by Slavit, Nelson, and Deuel's (2013) descriptions of dialogical stances towards student-learning data:

- 1. Procedural/clarifying: Describes facilitator moves focused on moving the conversation forward and/or clarifying *what* should be done without consideration of the beliefs and assumptions underlying an approach.
 - a. Glossing over: Describes facilitator moves that minimize cognitive conflict by glossing over or failing to acknowledge differences between ideas (Thompson & Zeulli, 1999)
 - b. Sharing-not connected: Describes facilitator moves that share an experience or anecdote without clearly connecting it to a broader meaning of teaching and learning.
 - c. Prompting-what: Describes facilitator moves that prompt teachers to decide what to do, clarify what they mean, or share what they think should be done.
- 2. Building/Connecting: Describes facilitator moves that build on other teachers' ideas and either explicitly connect those ideas to other ideas or evidence or create opportunities for teachers to connect ideas and/or evidence.
 - a. Reframing⁴: Describes facilitator moves that reframe problems and concerns by connecting them to different meanings related to teaching and learning (Bannister, 2015).

74

⁴ Although talk aimed at "reframing" may also be used in ways that reflect procedural/clarifying goals, all talk coded as "procedural-reframing" also fell into the category of "glossing over," so these codes were collapsed.

- b. Sharing-connected: Describes facilitator moves that share an experience or anecdote with the clear purpose of connecting it to a broader goal/idea.
- c. Prompting-why: Describes facilitator moves that prompt teachers to discuss why to use a certain strategy, why a certain approach is valuable, or why they think students may/may not struggle.

While I found that the broader categories of procedural/clarifying and building/connecting captured the purpose of most facilitator moves, defining specific purposes such as glossing over, sharing (connected/not connected), and reframing helped further capture nuances within each approach. This coding illuminated notable differences in each facilitator's approach and indicated ways that facilitation reflected TLs' meanings of teaching and learning.

Comparing Cases

Finally, the last part of my analysis was aimed at identifying and explaining similarities and differences between the two cases. Because analysis of each case occurred concurrently throughout all phases of the analysis, comparison served as a useful way to interpret and understand my data throughout the analysis. However, in this final phase, I was especially interested in systematically comparing cases to identify themes related to how the nature and agency of TLs' agency shapes opportunities to learn. Cross-case analysis was facilitated by first writing detailed within-case memos that I used to create an outline of the defining characteristics of the nature and enactment of each teacher leader's agency, as well as opportunities to learn within each group. Graphic representations of the data were also useful for comparing cases in this phase, especially concept maps and Venn diagrams. These activities allowed me to identify common themes and served as a reference point to return to the data, seek for negative examples

that might disconfirm those themes, and strengthen the nuanced understanding of differences and similarities between groups (Johnson & Christensen, 2008).

Subjectivities

My study of this topic was especially informed, and in some ways limited, by my experiences as a former teacher and current researcher of lesson study in Florida. My experiences as a teacher sensitized me to the challenges I perceived for the study's participants and made it difficult or even impossible to objectively describe teachers' actions. This was particularly so because I was keenly aware of the multiple, competing demands that influence teachers' actions. Because both Kate and Elena each have over twenty years more teaching experience than I have, I recognized and respected the value of their experience and expertise and often found myself slipping into a role of learning *from* their meanings and facilitation instead of learning *about* their meanings and facilitation. This slippage made it challenging to take the critical perspective to their agency that I described as necessary to better understand how to support teachers' agency.

Relatedly, my role as a researcher in the multi-year lesson study project meant that I spent a considerable amount of time interacting with each TL and her teams as I observed their meetings and classroom practices and conducted interviews. Over the course of these interactions and observations, I naturally developed conceptions about each TL, both personal and professional. While on the one hand, these interactions helped me to develop a more nuanced understanding of each TL, they also resulted in the sort of subjective judgements that occur as the result of compatibility with particular personality types and shared experiences.

To counteract each of these biases and any others that might color my analysis or interpretation, I attempted to maintain a consistent focus on the theoretical premises that guided

my analysis. I also sought out negative instances to counteract all major findings and took advantage of the diverse perspectives of my research team to receive feedback and invite alternative interpretations of my data.

Conclusion

This study employed a qualitative comparative case study design to add to our growing knowledge of teacher agency in instructional reform by exploring the nuances of the nature and enactment of TLs' agency as they facilitate lesson study and shape fellow teachers' opportunities to learn. By comparing the agency of two TLs' as they facilitate lesson study groups within very similar contexts, the design of this study illuminates ways that teacher agency may vary and lead to differences in opportunities to learn. This type of study was not only warranted for its uniqueness, but for what it might contribute to our knowledge of the relationship between teacher leadership, teachers' agency, and collaborative professional learning in instructional reform contexts.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS

This chapter describes findings related to the overall research question of how TLs exercise agency in lesson study and the two subquestions:

- 1. What meanings do teacher leaders construct regarding their lesson study practice?
- 2. How do those meanings shape teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study? Findings are organized by research question so that thematic comparison of each teacher leader can illuminate differences in TL meanings' and how those meanings shape teachers' opportunities to learn within each group. Broadly, I explain that TLs exercise agency in lesson study by enacting distinct meanings of teaching and learning that shape (and are shaped by) their approach to facilitation.

In the case of Elena, her meanings related to lesson study reflect the constructivistinspired approaches to teaching and learning advocated by research and some recent policies
aimed at instructional improvement (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Richardson, 1997). In her facilitation,
Elena's strong vision of what teaching and learning should look like serves as a source of
expertise that guides her to notice and leverage moments of cognitive dissonance as an
opportunity to deepen teacher learning in her lesson study group. She facilitates conversations
that create opportunities for teachers to shift and deepen their understanding of teaching and
student learning as they resolve dissonance by connecting their current understandings to ideas
and information shared during lesson study. In the case of Kate, her meanings related to lesson
study reflect a fusion of traditional and constructivist approaches. Kate views learning as the
accumulation of tools and strategies to solve problems, and over the course of her ten years of
lesson study practice, she has accumulated constructivist tools and strategies without fully

shifting her view of learning to reflect the constructivist meanings undergirding mathematics reform. Importantly, her meanings retain a focus on solutions instead of connecting ideas to deepen or shift understanding. Thus, when potential moments of dissonance surface in Kate's lesson study groups that question teachers' beliefs about teaching or learning, she responds by focusing on the effectiveness of tools and strategies to guide students to the correct answers, instead of engaging teachers in resolving the dissonance by connecting new and old understandings and information. This shapes opportunities to learn characterized by evaluation of how well a particular strategy helps students identify the correct solution, but it limits teachers' opportunity to explore how and why certain approaches to teaching and learning may support students' conceptual understanding.

RQ1: Meanings

To understand the ideas and motivations that undergird and compose TL's agency, I investigated the meanings that teachers make in relation to their lesson study practice. This analysis revealed four types of meanings across two domains that stood out as particularly salient for both teachers. They are: 1) meanings about student struggle and 2) meanings about classroom discourse, which make up the domain of student learning/teaching, and 3) meanings about teacher struggle, and 4) meanings about teacher group discourse, which make up the domain of teacher learning/facilitating. These meanings related to and significantly contributed to each teacher's general view of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating.

Although I identified notable divergences in each teacher's approach to: (1) student learning and teaching and (2) teacher learning and facilitating, on the surface their approach to each—and lesson study's role within that—seems quite similar. For example, both teachers make frequent reference to constructivist learning ideas associated with trends in mathematics reforms

such as "student exploration," "discovery," "student struggle," "inquiry lesson," and "teaching for understanding." However, upon closer analysis, particularly of planning meetings and follow-up interviews that probed teachers' understandings of these concepts, it became apparent that each teacher had very distinct ideas about what those concepts meant. These differences in meanings are an important starting point to understanding each TL's agency in relation to teachers' opportunities to learn.

Meanings About Teaching and Student Learning

Because the broad purpose of lesson study is to improve student learning by improving teaching, the meanings TLs construct about the kind of student learning and teaching that characterizes instructional improvement should influence how they engage other teachers in learning through lesson study. My analysis revealed notable but nuanced differences in each TLs' meanings about student learning/teaching. Elena's meanings associated with student learning and teaching largely reflect the influence of constructivist teaching ideologies, where the role of the mathematics teacher is to facilitate learning by providing opportunities to explore connections between mathematical ideas and strategies and between new information and existing knowledge. Kate's meanings, on the other hand, are somewhere in between traditional and constructivist approaches, where, broadly, the teacher's role is to model the use of multiple strategies and tools that students can practice and use to solve mathematical problems. These strategies and tools have the potentials to reveal and deepen students' mathematical understanding, yet Kate sees them simply as methods to guide students to the correct answers without recognizing the connections between ideas and strategies. Over the course of my analysis, I found that TLs' views on student struggle and the purpose of classroom discourse provided key insights into the differences between each TL's meanings of student learning and

teaching. These differences are detailed in Table 8 below to build the case that differences in these meanings are a key aspect of TLs' agency that shapes different opportunities to learn in each TL's lesson study group.

To explore *how* these meanings were shaped based on their prior experience and beliefs, I begin each section with a brief description of how Elena and Kate describe the role of lesson study in influencing their current approach to teaching. Their descriptions suggest that, for each, lesson study was as a key factor in shaping their meanings of student learning and teaching. Thus, while analysis focuses primarily on how these meanings shape their approach to facilitation, it is important to note that these meanings have also been shaped by their participation in and facilitation of lesson study.

Table 8: Meanings about student learning and teaching.

	Elena	Kate
General view	Student learning occurs when students make connections between mathematical ideas, strategies, and solutions. The teachers' role is to provide opportunities for students to explore those connections and orchestrate discussions that build off students' prior knowledge and developing ideas.	Student learning occurs when teachers demonstrate that there are multiple tools and strategies that can be used to solve problems. The teachers' role is to model the use of different strategies and tools and give students opportunities to practice using them.
Struggle	Struggle means that students consider and work to resolve dissonances between previous understandings and new evidence. Struggle is a key part of learning because it allows students to analyze their own thinking and use their ideas to deepen understanding.	Struggle often means students have not yet figured out the correct or best strategy to get to the correct answer. Struggle is a key part of learning, because it helps students identify what they don't know so that they can figure it out.

Table 8 - continued

	Elena	Kate
Classroom Discourse	Classroom talk means an opportunity to share, evaluate, and apply mathematical ideas. Interactions between teachers and students and among students allow students to evaluate and build off one another's ideas to resolve dissonances between previous understandings and new information.	Classroom talk means an opportunity to identify and correct incorrect answers. Interactions between teachers and students and among students help students find the correct answer or best strategy to solve a problem.

Elena. A recurring theme in Elena's discussion of lesson study is that she credits lesson study as helping her to develop the competencies needed to teach mathematics for understanding. Her frequent references to "teaching for understanding" emphasize the importance of helping students to understand mathematical concepts, not just memorize procedures for producing the correct answer. Her motivation to change her teaching to align with this approach stemmed from a watershed moment as part of professional development workshop (also independently pursued) in which a professor of mathematics education demonstrated the connection between mathematical ideas from 2nd grade to algebra. This caused Elena to realize that her approach to teaching mathematics did not enable students to make those connections—that she herself did not know how to make those connections. She explained, "I had never thought of deeply connecting math ideas all the way from second grade to middle school. But he did that one idea, and it was like, 'What else is out there that you can connect in that way and help children build understanding so they can reason?" (Interview, 2018). For Elena, lesson study practice is a way to continue the learning that began at that workshop: "I was looking, when I started this journey,

for ways to deepen my own math knowledge so that I could help children see and build those connections through math" (Interview, 2018).

Elena's description of the way lesson study has shaped her practice sounds very much aligned with the type of changes in instruction envisioned by constructivist-inspired reforms (Ball & Cohen, 1999) and further analysis of the meanings she associates with lesson study suggest this is indeed the case. Collectively, these meanings compose a general view of student learning and teaching that emphasizes reasoning to make connections between ideas. In this view, the mathematics teachers' role is to provide opportunities for students to explore those connections and orchestrate discussions that build off students' knowledge and developing ideas. This general view contributes to particular meanings for student struggle and classroom discourse that are helpful to understanding the nuances of Elena's meaning of student learning/teaching and, eventually, how it differs from Kate's in ways significant to their approach to instructional improvement.

Meanings about student struggle. For Elena, struggle means that students consider and work to resolve dissonances between previous understandings of mathematics and new evidence, such as mathematical ideas, tools, or strategies. Student struggle according to this meaning is an opportunity for students to analyze their own thinking and use their ideas to deepen understanding. In fact, Elena describes struggle as not only important to learning, but as learning itself:

I tell my students now—they get frustrated when they don't get the answer or I don't give them the answer, and my response is, 'if you're not struggling just a little bit, then you're not learning. You're just practicing something you already know. Struggling is a highly valued experience in this classroom, because it tells us you're learning.' That's a

common conversation with kids, because they get frustrated with the struggle, and just 'tell me' kind of stuff. Helping them to understand that the learning is in the struggle, as you struggle, you learn, and you get that 'aha.' That's a good thing, that's a good moment. It's funny. I heard a kid just say it the other day to one of the other kids—a fifth grader said to one of my fourth graders: 'She doesn't care what you're answer is. She just wants to know what you're thinking.' [Laughs.] And I was like, 'yeah. That's about right!' At that moment, it was not the final answer, it's what's happening with the struggle. What are you thinking? Let's evaluate that. And yeah, I think that's true all the way around. If you don't struggle, I'm not too sure you're learning. (Interview, 2018)

In the anecdote about the fifth grader, we see Elena associates struggle with thinking and describe thinking (instead of correctness of the answer) as something that can be evaluated as a part of learning. This view of struggle is consistent with Elena's general view of student learning as synthesizing, reasoning, and creating knowledge from previous understandings:

I value the ability to reason very highly. I want my children to be able to reason. I think today there's a lot of information and knowledge out there, and I can't expect children to know or people to know all information and all knowledge, so what you've got to do is have enough knowledge that you can put together pieces of knowledge and solve a problem. I highly value that as the job of education. I think the process of discovering, of putting together pieces, ideas—that process is an important idea for our children to learn how to do. (Interview, 2018)

This comment suggests that resolution of struggle emanates from the students as they "put together pieces of knowledge and solve a problem." This means that the teacher's role is to create situations conducive to that kind problem solving and guide students through their own

process of evaluating, reasoning, and integrating. For Elena, learning how to do this is a central motivator behind her practice.

Combining these ideas, we can see that lesson study for Elena is a means to learn how to support what has been described elsewhere as students' "productive struggle," or attempts to make sense of mathematical ideas (Warshauer, 2015). Hiebert and Grouws (2007) described this kind of struggle as "restructuring one's mental connections in more powerful ways" and tracing the idea's constructivist roots, identified it as a key feature for promoting students' conceptual development of mathematics. In fact, Elena's view of struggle essentially defines struggle as a particular type of thinking, and her definition sounds very much like the definition of thinking described by Thompson and Zeuli (1999) as the "inner intent" and "essential point" of current reforms:

By "think," we mean that students must actively try to solve problems, resolve dissonances between the way they initially understand a phenomenon and new evidence that challenges that understanding, put collections of facts or observations together into patterns, make and test conjectures, and build lines of reasoning about why claims are or are not true. Such thinking is generative. It literally creates understanding in the mind of the thinker (p. 346).

This definition illustrates how Elena's meaning of struggle in student learning strongly aligns with the vision of current reforms. Her view of struggle has specific implications for the meaning Elena attributes to discourse in student learning, and together her views of struggle and classroom discourse form an important aspect of the nature of her agency in lesson study.

Meanings about classroom discourse. Another way to understand the meanings Elena makes about student learning/teaching concerns the meanings she makes about the purpose of

classroom discourse, or talk between teachers and students and between students and students. Both Elena and Kate make frequent mention of ways that lesson study has both influenced the way they talk and interact with students and the way they have learned to listen and respond to students' talk. However, their meanings of classroom discourse differ in significant ways. Like her view of student struggle, Elena's meanings related to classroom discourse align with constructivist reform ideas about the kind of talk that should occur in mathematics classrooms.

For Elena, classroom discourse is an opportunity to surface, share, evaluate, discuss, and apply mathematical ideas. In the following interview excerpt where Elena defines what she means by teaching for discovery, she succinctly describes an approach to classroom discourse that she consistently espouses in interviews and planning meetings:

For me a discovery lesson is, you present a situation that children can understand. They can enter that situation. They can understand it well enough to play around with the ideas. And if they can understand the context and understand the parts of the conversation well enough to play around with it, the kids can play and discover—I'm saying play—*explore* and discover with those ideas, and then you come back together as a group and let them present what they discovered, and then it's your job as a teacher to focus on the ideas that you want them to learn, that you expect them to learn, so you end up guiding that conversation, and that becomes the summary of the lesson. (Interview, 2018)

Here, we can see that Elena views the role of the teacher in classroom discourse as guiding conversations in ways that allows students to connect their "discoveries" with the mathematical ideas underpinning the lesson. Student conversations with one another are described as "play" and "exploration" as they problem solve about a given situation.

Elena's descriptions of the relationship between lesson study and classroom talk further illuminate Elena's view of the purpose of classroom discourse. For Elena, lesson study is not only a way for her to learn how to surface and guide student ideas in discussion, but it is an opportunity to *actually* surface student ideas via the research lesson and discuss those ideas—and implications for instruction— with her lesson study group. For example, reflecting on the success of a research lesson, she explains:

I think these students, this lesson brought out the ability of these students to communicate. These were first graders. They are six years old. And they were talking math extremely well. They were very comfortable in trying to explain their ideas. Very few of them just did the [shrugs her shoulders] or "I just did it," "It just happened." They were reaching to communicate their ideas. That's the climate in the classroom, that's what that teacher has built, but this lesson brought out their ability to communicate and probably helped develop it in some way. That's one of the benefits I saw for this lesson and these children. (Interview, 2016)

In this example, we see that Elena values "talking math," which she defines as students' explaining their ideas and attributes to a classroom culture built by the teacher. Later in the interview, while praising the teacher who taught the research lesson, she further points to the teachers' role in surfacing these ideas:

I thought [the teacher] did a great job with her questioning. She was constantly asking them: "Why did you do this? What happened to you? Why did you do that?" So I think [the teacher] with her questioning pushed the children to reason about the numbers, to reason about what was going on. (Interview, 2016)

This comment shows the importance Elena assigns to teachers asking probing questions, where the purpose of those questions is to "push" students to reason about mathematics. Applying the definition of thinking/struggle presented above, she praised this teacher's questioning as an opportunity for students to surface their ideas and evaluate their thinking. The surfacing of previous understandings creates the potential for those ideas to be considered in light of new evidence, setting the stage for the dissonance that Elena associates with the kind of student struggle she sees as key to learning.

Elena's reflection on that lesson also shows that she not only sees the surfacing of student ideas as valuable for students' learning but also for teachers' learning. In a separate interview about another lesson study cycle, Elena explains that surfacing student ideas via the research lesson is a way to build professional knowledge about teaching and learning:

I think the discussion today, if we were to address this topic again, I think we would be able to come up with a unit at this point in time, because we listened to children's understanding of this idea and we have the opportunity to speak with other professionals and their ideas about it, about the children's reaction.' (Interview, 2015)

This comment illustrates how Elena not only sees classroom talk as a way to surface and leverage student ideas in discussion, but, in the context of a research lesson, as a way for teachers to build knowledge about teaching mathematics by investigating the student thinking surfaced in class discussions. In fact, in this comment, she is specifically suggesting that the sequence of instruction around a particular mathematics topic should be determined by how students respond to and connect mathematical ideas related to the topic.

Thus, like her view of student struggle, Elena's view of classroom discourse is strongly aligned with the constructivist-inspired vision of mathematics instruction promoted in current

reforms (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Core Standards Website, 2018; NCTM, 2018; Wilson et al., 2017). Classroom discourse is a means for students to generate knowledge about mathematics as they interact with fellow students and teachers. The teachers' role is to create moments of disequilibrium between previous understandings and new evidence and guide conversations in ways that help students to make connections between mathematical ideas and strategies. In the process, new knowledge may be generated for teachers too. Combined with her view of student struggle, Elena's meaning of classroom discourse composes a general view of student learning/teaching that I argue is a key aspect of the nature of Elena's agency. Eventually, I suggest that Elena's meanings of student learning and teaching relate to her meanings of teacher learning/facilitating in a way that shapes her facilitation of lesson study and teachers' opportunities to learn in her lesson study groups. However, first, I describe the results of my analysis of Kate's meanings of student learning/teaching to highlight key differences in their approach.

Kate. Like Elena, Kate describes the way she teaches now as "profoundly different" because of what she has learned through her lesson study practice. She describes these changes as major a shift away from traditional approaches to teaching towards a more constructivist approach and credits lesson study for helping her to notice student thinking, allow students time to struggle and think during lessons, and, like Elena, teach for mathematical understanding. For example, speaking about how her teaching has changed via lesson study, Kate explains,

Through lesson study, that has also helped me to feel like, you know what. If they get it-they're going to get it. I'm going to try to find a way. There are all the different ways.

My hardest thing was to say that it's okay for them to struggle. I always wanted to go
there and help them: "Oh. Don't struggle." But now I relish the struggle, and that's the

biggest change in the way I teach now. When they struggle, I'm so happy. (Interview, Spring 2018)

In another comment from a few years prior, Kate makes a similar statement about how lesson study has changed her approach to classroom discourse:

And what I've learned a lot from lesson study, that's really so important, is to listen to kids, how they speak. Because they have taught me so much about the way I teach, by listening to them talk. I go around each group, and I write things down that they say. I got a very good handle of who says what now, because I listen to my students talk to each other. And before, I was a teacher who never allowed extra talking to each other. I didn't know that was so valuable. And lesson study taught me how valuable it is for students to talk to each other, and for students to learn from each other. (Interview, Spring 2015)

These comments indeed suggest that Kate has shifted to a more constructivist approach to teaching via her lesson study practice. However, my analysis of the meanings Kate attributes to her lesson study practice and their manifestation in group conversations show that although lesson study is a way for Kate to explore constructivist teaching ideas, she has not fully shifted her teaching to a constructivist approach.

Instead, Kate's approach to student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating reflects a unique view that fuses constructivist and traditional approaches. Her general view of student learning/teaching sees student understanding of mathematics as emerging from classroom interactions in which teachers and/or students model multiple correct ways to solve a problem. While, in Kate's view, students may sometimes explore multiple ways to reach a solution, the emphasis remains on finding an effective procedure to reach the correct answer. What is *not* emphasized in Kate's meanings of student learning/teaching is conceptual

connections between ideas and strategies and how they may be built upon to enhance understanding. Exploring Kate's meanings related to student struggle and classroom discourse further illuminates how her meanings of student learning/teaching reflect a fusion of constructivist and traditional approaches that shapes her approach to facilitation and her group's learning opportunities in lesson study.

Meanings about student struggle. In many ways, the way Kate talks about student struggle sounds very much like how Elena's describes student struggle. In the quote from above, for example, Kate describes student struggle as something positive, and, like Elena, associates it with student thinking/learning. However, a closer analysis, particularly of the sources and solutions Kate assigns to student struggle, suggests Kate's meaning of student struggle differs significantly from Elena's. For Kate, student struggle means that students have not yet figured out the correct answer and are working on a way to find a solution. This is often attributed to teaching—either students have not been taught a particular idea or strategy yet or the way they were taught was not adequate—but struggle may also emerge from a student mindset in which they expect instant answers. The teacher's role in relation to student struggle, then, is to identify the strategy or tool that may help students get to the correct answer and give students time, motivation, and contexts to attempt to find solutions. Several aspects of this are exemplified in the following quote, in which Kate has just been asked about the role of struggle in student learning:

For me, it teaches a lot of skills: perseverance, thinking through a situation. I have kids who won't even read the question and say, 'I don't get this.' It's just ingrained. Right away. 'Did you even read the question?' 'Well, no.' So I think it's important to make them think and have some independent think time, and then I think it's really important to

have kids discuss and talk about it and struggle through it together and get ideas from each other, then explain why they are doing it. Because sometimes the way they explain it to their peers compared to the way I explain it—sometimes a kid can say it in words and some other kid will go, "aaah." So when you struggle in math, it really develops your mental muscle, and I think kids nowadays don't have any mental muscle. Everything is we want it right now. Sometimes you got to work for something. It just teaches all problem-solving skills, not just in math, but in life, before you jump right in and solve their problem (Interview, Spring 2018).

Here again, much like Elena, we see that Kate associates struggle with thinking. However, in this comment we also see evidence that struggle means reading the question and thinking about the answer, perhaps talking it through with a peer, and asking the teacher for help. Implicit in many of Kate's mentions of student struggle is the idea that struggle is what happens before students get the correct answer—either from a fellow student or the teacher. For example, in the statement about why she relishes struggle, she says of students, "they're going to get it. I'm going to try and find a way. There are all the different ways." In a similar comment, she says, "that was my hardest thing too. Was to let go and let kids struggle and let kids figure it out, so I think that for all of us who are just natural-born helpers, that's the hardest thing." Elsewhere, she says, "if I am free and let them think, then they are somehow going to get this answer by some way." These comments suggest that, for Kate, struggle means that students figure out the answer or think through a solution, but the emphasis is on identifying a solution and not the process of synthesizing, evaluating, and reasoning that might precedes the correct answer.

This is subtly but notably different from Elena's view of student struggle as surfacing and evaluating student thinking so that students can build on their own ideas and others' ideas. One

way to see this difference is by considering how Kate describes the resolution of student struggle. Where Elena largely describes solutions as emanating from students as they analyze their own thinking, Kate's descriptions of resolutions usually suggest that either the teacher or a student will solve the problem. Consider, for example, the above quote where she says, "I'm going to try and find a way" or where she explains that "sometimes a kid can say it in words and some other kid will go, 'aaah." Both examples suggest that struggle can be fixed by someone else. This is further illuminated by analyzing Kate's meanings about the purpose of classroom discourse.

Meanings about the purpose of classroom discourse. The purpose of classroom discourse was also a key theme in Kate's discussion of lesson study. On several occasions, Kate describes how lesson study has changed the way she interacts with students in her classroom. My analysis of what she means by this suggests that Kate sees the purpose of classroom discourse as an opportunity to evaluate student understanding and, especially, identify student mistakes as they talk to one another and fix those mistakes as the teacher talks to students or as students talk to students.

For example, in the following excerpt where Kate discusses one way that lesson study has changed her approach to classroom discourse, we see evidence that she sees student-student talk as a way for students to teach and correct each other:

Now I do something when they talk to each other, about multiple times a day now, I really like to listen to what they say to each other. You know, it's one thing when they say it to me, the same kid that raises his hand all the time, but if—I really have a hard class this year, who are really, really struggling. And when I listen to them give ideas to each other, and how they go about correcting

each other, or if they are both lost together—you know, that's just as powerful, to see them both lost together, and to see what they're saying, so I can talk about that as well as the successful ones. (Interview, Spring 2015)

This comment also provides insight into the role of the teacher in classroom discourse. In the sentence about students who are "lost together," Kate suggests that she can listen to students' talk, so that she can address misunderstandings. This idea is clarified below:

You can listen to what they say, and see what they think, and now you can tweak your words based on what you know they're thinking.' Or you can find a misconception now, based on how you hear them think. (Interview, Spring 2016)

The subtle difference between Elena and Kate's approach to classroom discourse is that Elena sees classroom conversations as opportunities for students to surface and connect ideas and strategies by talking with their peers and through the teachers' strategically orchestrated conversations. Kate's descriptions of classroom discourse show that she sees it as more oriented towards identifying and fixing misconceptions. Said differently, Kate does not intentionally aim to foster cognitive dissonance among her students so that they can investigate its sources and build on another's ideas to generate and deepen understanding. Instead, she sees competing ideas—right answer versus wrong answer or strategy A versus strategy B—as opportunities to either identify the "best" option or demonstrate that there may be more than one good option.

Missing from this approach is a more in-depth discussion of the relationship between ideas, answers, and strategies. For this reason, I describe Kate's meanings of student learning/teaching as a fusion of constructivist and traditional approaches because she has largely, but not fully, embraced a meaning of teaching and learning that reflects constructivist-inspired visions of teaching.

That teachers may respond to learning about instructional improvement by fusing old ideas with new ideas has been well-documented in teacher professional learning literature (Cohen, 1990; Cuban, 1984; Thompson & Zeulli, 1999). In one of the clearest examples, Cohen (1990) describes the case of Mrs. Oublier, whose "classes present an extraordinary mélange of traditional and novel approaches to math instruction" (p. 312). Although Mrs. Oublier claims to have completely changed her approach to instruction to reflect new ideas of teaching mathematics for understanding after attending a workshop on her state's new approach to mathematics teaching, Cohen finds that she is actually implementing some new, constructivistinspired strategies, while largely leaving previous, more traditional meanings of teaching and learning untouched. Kate, on the other hand, is not implementing what someone else taught her to do in a workshop or applying strategies while missing the ideas. She is actively learning about and practicing constructivist approaches via lesson study in a self-initiated group. My analysis suggests that within this collaborative context, she has constructed new meanings about constructivist approaches to student learning/teaching. However, importantly, her new meaning misses a key ingredient because it does not fully recognize the role that surfacing, leveraging, and resolving conflicting ideas by guiding students to make connections between ideas and strategies may play in deepening students' understanding of mathematics.

Also, while Kate may recognize the value of letting students discuss mathematical ideas, listening to student thinking, and promoting students' understanding of mathematics, she has not confronted how those approaches may sometimes be at odds with her focus on correct solutions. This is much like the case of Mrs. Oublier, but whereas Mrs. Oublier is limited by a lack of ongoing professional learning and a shallow understanding of mathematics, Kate is not limited by those factors and her adoption of constructivist approaches has progressed further than Mrs.

Oublier's, whose practice suggests that she has adopted constructivist strategies without actually shifting her meanings of knowing and learning (Cohen, 1999). For example, Mrs. Oublier does not invite students to discuss mathematical ideas. Kate has recognized the value of student discussion as a way to investigate student thinking, but she does not emphasize the "centrality of thinking as the process through which conceptual learning takes place" (Thompson & Zeulli, p. 352). More specifically, she does not emphasize how guiding students to connect ideas and strategies may deepen their understanding of mathematics. Below, I argue that this fusion of constructivist and traditional approaches—where a key missing ingredient is a focus on thinking through the connections between ideas and strategies—shapes and is shaped by her approach to facilitation and teachers' opportunities to learn in lesson study as I discuss and contrast Elena and Kate's meanings about teacher learning and facilitation.

Meanings about Teacher Learning and Facilitating

As with their meanings about student learning/teaching, each TL's meanings about teacher learning and facilitating were notably different, despite many surface similarities, including emphasis on the importance of investigating student thinking, reading and discussing research, and providing spaces for teachers to collectively discuss struggles related to teaching. Analysis revealed that the purposes of investigating student thinking, reading research, and discussing struggles varied by TL in a way similar to the variations observed in meanings about student learning and teaching. Again, Elena's meanings related to teacher learning and facilitating reflected a more constructivist approach. For teachers, she equates struggle with teachers' experience of dissonance as they encounter evidence that challenges their previous understanding of teaching or mathematics (see Table 9). Group discourse is an opportunity to surface and work to resolve that dissonance. Kate's meanings reflect a unique view combining

traditional and constructivist approaches, where collaborative group discourse is a way for teachers to add to their existing repertoire of tools and strategies for teaching. Struggle in this view means teachers have identified the need for a new tool, strategy, or clarification but have not yet located the best source for the solution. Rooted in each TL's meanings of student learning/teaching, TL's meanings of teacher learning/facilitating are especially important for understanding how TLs exercise agency in lesson study, because they provide a source for understanding why TLs approach facilitation in particular ways.

Table 9: Meanings about teacher learning/facilitating.

	Elena	Kate
General view	Teacher learning means teachers evaluate and reflect on their current approach and explore ways to improve their teaching.	Teacher learning means teachers can add (or change) tools and strategies to their existing teacher repertoire.
Struggle	Struggle means that teachers experience a disequilibrium between their current practices and beliefs and new evidence such as student work or subject matter. This is normal and, over time and with supportive guidance, can lead to a deepened understanding of the relationship between mathematical ideas and pedagogy.	Struggle means that teachers do not know or understand something (e.g. a standard, teaching method, or definition of a word). This is normal and it is okay to ask a colleague or expert who does understand to explain.
Group Discourse	Teachers' collaborative discussions ideally mean that teachers have opportunities to evaluate and develop their knowledge about content and pedagogy. It is also an opportunity for teachers to share ideas based on their experiential knowledge of students.	Teachers' collaborative discussions mean that they can exchange ideas about effective tools and strategies and clarify one another's misunderstandings.

Elena. Above, I described how Elena's views of student learning/teaching largely align with the type of mathematics instruction promoted in constructivist-inspired reforms. In this

section, I highlight how similar meanings about teacher learning/facilitating also significantly shape the nature of her agency in lesson study. I argue that these meanings reflect and compose a general view of teacher learning/facilitating in which teacher learning means that teachers evaluate and reflect on their current approach and explore ways to improve their teaching. For Elena, this often entails exploration of content and investigation of student thinking.

Teacher struggle. My analysis of Elena's meanings related to lesson study showed that, much like her view of student struggle, Elena sees teacher struggle as the result of a disequilibrium, or dissonance, between teachers' current understandings, practices, or meanings and new evidence such as student work or subject matter. This type of disequilibrium is inherent in the improvement process, which Elena sees as dependent on deepening teachers' understanding of the relationship between mathematical ideas and pedagogy. Elena's meanings related to teacher struggle seem to stem from her own experiences, which illuminate two ways that teacher struggle may manifest as an important part of professional learning.

One way that Elena describes teacher struggle is as a result of realizing that there is a problem with their current approach to teaching. Elena describes the moment that she realized her previous approach to teaching was ineffective as, in her words, an "oh damn!" moment:

That's just what it was: How can I get to this point in my life and not know of this? And I actually remember when [the professional development presenter demonstrated the relationship between mathematical ideas], I put my head down in my hands, like this, and he came over to me, and he patted me on my back, and I looked up at him and I said, 'I didn't know this! How could I not know this?' (Interview 2018)

Here and elsewhere, Elena describes experiencing disequilibrium as a result of realizing that her own content knowledge about mathematics was lacking. For Elena, this was a problem because she could not apply the student-centered teaching approaches she was learning about without content knowledge:

Because how do you build a discovery lesson if you don't understand underlying ideas? Or how do you guide and how do you think of the questions to ask students in a discovery lesson if you don't understand the underlying ideas? (Interview, 2018)

For Elena, this moment of struggle was important because it was the catalyst for a major change in her practice. In fact, she implicates the lack of a disequilibrium of this type as a major obstacle to instructional improvement:

That's our problem right now. We have so many teachers who think they know the content knowledge, and they're not worried about improving, and that's stopping their growth as a teacher. They figure they got it, they can present it, and that's deeply stopping them, because they don't realize that there's another idea underneath that they should focus on or what idea is coming up next and how to prepare children for what's coming up next. They think they know, but they don't really know. (Interview, 2018) In this comment, Elena points to another manifestation of teacher struggle in professional learning. If first teachers must realize that there is a problem with their current approach to teaching, and, if, like Elena, that problem stems from a lack of understanding of content knowledge, then future struggles will occur as teachers attempt to grow their knowledge of the relationship between content and pedagogy, or as they "uncover the ideas underneath" the

Elsewhere, Elena describes this type of teacher struggle as wrestling with ideas:

I go back to, since we talked about it, to Dr. Jacobov's presentation. The first thing he did was to give us a problem and we solved it, and we had teachers in there from k-8, so we

content they want to teach.

solved it at multiple levels and in multiple ways, but we wrestled with the ideas ourselves, before he started presenting, and I think as a teacher, that definitely helped me understand what was being presented. I think it's true for teachers everywhere. If you wrestle with some ideas before you have to pull out the important knowledge, it will help you learn those ideas. It'll stick with you better. (2018)

This comment reveals the parallel between Elena's view of student learning and teacher learning. To better understand how mathematical ideas are connected and how to help students make those connections, teachers must wrestle with those ideas as well:

When you're doing it yourself, you learn to appreciate the kid who flat out could not make the connections, could not see it. Because you're going to hit a time when you can't. You know that frustration, so I think that helps you be more tender with the child who doesn't get it, because you know you've done it yourself. I do think teachers need to experience it. If you're going to teach with a discovery method, you should experience it yourself first. (Interview, 2018)

Elena's assertion that "you're going to a hit a time when you can't" shows that she sees struggling over the connection of mathematical ideas as normal for teachers too. Her meaning of this type of struggle as "wrestling" with the connection between ideas suggests that, like with student struggle, resolution to teacher struggle may emanate from the teachers experiencing the struggle. As the excerpt below illustrates, Elena's talk related to teacher struggle draws on language that reflects a view of learning that is gradual, learner-driven, and, sometimes difficult:

It's very important for you to admit that you don't know something and realize it because then you start the search of, 'how do I make this better? How do I take care of that very difficult part?' I would like all teachers to be able to say, 'Oh! I got this great 'aha' about multiplying fractions and now I understand it!' That would be the ideal, but in reality, that just may not happen, and as long as those teachers are okay with it, I'm surely okay with it, because I think it is a complex idea. And it's something that we just need to keep working on, to figure out how to make it easier to understand. (Interview, 2018)

Notice, for example, how Elena describes the solution to not knowing something as "starting a search" instead of *finding* an answer. In that comment, she is discussing how the teachers in her lesson study group described the topic chosen for study as difficult, and her response that "it's something that we just need to keep working on" reflects how she sees teacher learning as gradual. This also seems to stem from her own experience. Of her own professional learning, she says,

Once we saw our own gap, that's when it became, 'oh. Okay. We have to improve there.' And it happened over years. You have to think this journey really happened for me around 2000, 1998, so it happened over a period of time" (Interview, 2018).

This idea—that teacher learning may be gradual—is a key reason why continuous professional learning experiences such as lesson study have been promoted, since they recognize that teachers' learning represents a continuous interaction between teachers' current meanings of teaching and learning and their experiences with students and new ideas (Opfer & Pedder, 2011; Vescio, Ross, & Adams, 2008).

In sum, for Elena, struggle in teacher learning means teachers may experience a disequilibrium in their current understanding of teaching and new evidence—ideas or strategies—that conflict with that understanding. This reflects a general view of teacher learning characterized by reflection on and evaluation of current practice. This view of struggle stems from Elena's own professional learning experiences but it is also reflective of her constructivist

view of student learning and teaching, where teachers must better understand content in order to help students make connections between mathematical ideas. Elena's meanings related to group discourse reflect similar ideas.

The purpose of group discourse. My analysis of Elena's meanings related to the purpose of group discourse show that, for Elena, group discourse in lesson study means that teachers have opportunities to evaluate and develop their knowledge of content and pedagogy via conversations with other teachers about student understanding, mathematical ideas, and teaching. It is also an opportunity for teachers to share ideas based on their experiential knowledge of students. In both cases, the role of the facilitator is to ask questions that enable teachers to probe and evaluate their thinking and make connections between mathematical ideas and teaching. In Elena's words, "a facilitator is a bit like being a teacher, you don't want to tell; you would like to question, bring out the knowledge of the other person" (Interview, 2016). Here again, we see the influence of Elena's constructivist approach to teaching and learning, where the teacher, or facilitator, in this case, is tasked with surfacing the student's (or fellow teacher's) knowledge. When teachers' current understandings are surfaced, they can be problematized and evaluated in relation to new evidence or information, which may serve to deepen or transform teachers' understanding.

Elena describes the task of creating these types of discussions as a challenge, because she wants to honor teachers' thinking and respect their ideas, but explains "I get frustrated with conversations that stay at a shallow level: 'should the paper be yellow or white? Well, if we used yellow paper, then it would stand out a little more." And you go [makes sound of frustration]" (Interview, 2018). Discussing a lesson study cycle in which she worried the conversation was too shallow, Elena reflects:

I believe I need to be quiet, and I don't think it's good for me to just spout wisdom, or spout the things that I've learned, because what we're trying to do is to change their thinking and have them have the "a-has," so I'm trying very hard, harder than usual, to think of questions to ask that might prompt thinking rather than just saying "well if you did it this way, so and so would happen" or "we've done this in the past, blah, blah" and not go in that direction, but to try to craft a question, which would cause them to think. You're always doing that as a facilitator – to try to craft questions that would cause people in the group to think and discuss – but I think it's even more so with this group, and I don't want to be just espousing my knowledge. So I have to be careful to pull back a little bit, and let them go with their thinking. (Interview, 2016)

Here, Elena seems to be describing an attempt to create the kind of struggle, or disequilibrium, that she experienced about her own teaching when she first began her lesson study practice. She wants the teachers in her group to "have their own a-has" as they identify the sources of their own struggle, or disequilibrium. But she has learned that teachers sometimes need a "push" to prevent conversations from staying at the shallow level.

My analysis suggests that Elena's facilitation is guided by her navigation of three challenges that she has perceived over the course of her many years of facilitation: 1) teachers' inexperience with deeper conversations about content and pedagogy, 2) teachers' lack of background knowledge related to the pedagogical or mathematical topic, and 3) lesson study topics and/or tasks that are not conducive to exploration of ideas. Understanding each of these challenges sheds further light on how Elena sees the role of the facilitator in group discourse.

First, discussing the group she worried about in the previous quote, she explains that, because several of the teachers had not participated in lesson study before, they were not used to those kinds of conversations:

It's a much slower process to try to have a rich discussion about what is happening with the mathematics and the children's thinking. The tendency is "well, my kids will do this", and they'll say "my kids will do--," but not answer the "why—well, why do you think your children are thinking this way? And they are not used to analyzing children's reaction and just thinking about children's thinking. (Interview, 2016)

This suggests that the facilitator must explicitly attend to guiding teachers through conversations that probe them to consider the reasons behind students' reactions.

Second, Elena further suggests that a lack of "background knowledge" may also lead to shallow conversations. Discussing teachers' selection of a mathematical topic for the research lesson, she explains:

I think it's kind of like with the kids, I can sit here and tell that teacher why that's not a good idea, and first of all, she's probably going to get in a huff, because there I am acting like I know more than she does, and second of all, she may not understand me. She may not have enough background knowledge to understand what I'm talking about, why that idea is so easy and wouldn't require any deep thought. And if she can't get there, then I would try to go where she is and see what we could do. (Interview, 2018)

Another way to describe what Elena is explaining here is that a lack of background knowledge of a particular topic might lead to a failure to create dissonance—in this case, because the teacher might not understand why some mathematical topics (Elena cites the classification of triangles as an example) might not foster in-depth conversations about the relationship between content and

pedagogy. While this might seem like a difficult challenge for a facilitator to overcome, Elena references the importance of meeting learners where they are. This approach is related to her meaning of struggle and her view of learning as gradual and suggests that just as teachers needs to know their students in order to respond to their learning needs, facilitators must also recognize where teachers are located along a learning progression.

At the end of this comment, Elena suggests another challenge to meaningful group discourse when she references an idea being so easy that it "wouldn't require any deep thought." Here, Elena is referring to the importance of choosing a lesson study topic that provokes deeper conversations about student learning and mathematics. This is indicative of a third challenge to the kind group discourse Elena hopes for in lesson study, which is that the nature of tasks might not be conducive to "deeper" conversations. In addition to the above example of choosing a lesson study topic that is not challenging, she also expresses concerns that this may happen if teachers choose research articles that are not challenging. This suggests that in order to enable group discourses that surface teachers' understandings and provide a context to evaluate those, the facilitator must also structure tasks in a way that more easily leads to such conversations.

In sum, for Elena, the purpose of group discourse in lesson study is to surface teachers' understandings of teaching and mathematics, enabling potential moments of dissonance as teachers are presented with new evidence and guided to evaluate previous understandings in conversations with fellow teachers. Elena's meaning of shallow conversations and the challenges she describes in relation to them reveal that she sees conversations as shallow when they do not provide opportunities for teachers to surface and problematize their current understandings, which means that the facilitator must explicitly attend to creating conditions for group discourse that help overcome such issues.

Kate. Above I described Kate's meanings related to student learning and teaching as key to understanding the nature of her agency, identifying a unique approach to teaching and learning that combines constructivists and traditional approaches to teaching. In this section, I highlight how Kate's similar meanings about teacher learning/facilitating also significantly shape the nature of her agency in lesson study. Again, I focus on meanings about struggle and discourse as central to understanding the nature of Kate's agency. I describe how Kate's meanings about teacher struggle and group discourse reflect a general view of teacher learning where learning means that teachers can add tools and strategies to their existing teaching repertoire. This view has specific implications for Kate's role as a facilitator in lesson study.

Teacher struggle. My analysis of Kate's meanings related to teacher struggle in lesson study showed that Kate sees teacher struggle as instances in which teachers do not know or understand something, such as the meaning of a standard, teaching method, or definition of a word. The solution to this type of struggle is to seek out a colleague or expert who can help you understand. Like with student struggle, Kate associates this type of struggle with learning, although when talking about teacher learning, there is less of an emphasis on thinking and more on not knowing:

You have to tell people, 'you're not going to know sometimes all the stuff. I teach fourth grade. I took college a long time ago. I forgot. Things have all changed—Common Core and now it's all explaining, and sometimes you're just not going to know.' So it's okay, you just say it. You're not going to know...I think that's—I don't think that people generally do in education look down on you in education if you don't know an answer, so I think we've just had good experience, because first of all, we're okay with saying we

don't know. And the [Knowledgeable Other] didn't make us feel unintelligent because we didn't know.

In this comment, Kate emphasizes that it is okay for teachers to not *know* things. Her reference to college suggests that content might be one thing that teachers do not know or remember, and the reference to Common Core suggests that changing standards are another source of not knowing. Like with student struggle, Kate's view of teacher struggle is also illuminated by examining how she describes solutions to teacher struggle. In the same interview, she suggests a solution to teacher struggle when she describes calling back a knowledgeable other to say "Can you help us a little more? We don't know what you mean." She relates asking him to clarify a question, which instantly solved the problem of "not knowing." Elsewhere, she also describes the solution to not knowing as consulting someone else and/or asking for clarification:

I think that the culture at [our school] is one that "hey, if you don't get something, you just go ask a colleague." We're not embarrassed to call and say we don't know what this means. And so I think that it's just a culture in your school, and in your group, and in your grade level that you just have to say, "I need help." I try to make that culture in my classroom the same. Who cares? We all make mistakes. If we don't learn from our mistakes, then we're not really learning. So I think that's the most important thing for us is that we trust each other so much.

Another important view of teacher struggle is also suggested in this quote. Although subtle, Kate's use of the word "mistakes" instead of "misconceptions" is important and indicative of her approach to teaching and learning. Mistakes may result from inattention or temporary lapses in concentration, but misconceptions can be seen as incomplete understandings, or understandings that differ from expert conceptions. The solution to mistakes may be internal or external and

quickly "fixed" but resolving misconceptions may involve a more complex process characterized by a "gradual process of conceptual change" (Smith, Disessa, & Rochelle, 1994, p. 116).

Kate's use of the word "mistake" here is not incidental. It arises in conversations about student learning as well. In fact, in planning meetings and interviews, my analysis showed that Kate is much more likely to use the word mistake and words such as "correct" or "wrong" that indicate a view of understanding that focuses on the product of learning (solutions) instead of the process.

A view of teacher struggle that focuses on correcting teachers' mistakes or quickly identifying "solutions" differs in some ways from the reasons that research has advocated for continuous collaborative professional learning communities such as lesson study, because it does not emphasize the importance of engaging in a reflective process of inquiry in which:

the point is for teachers to consider and reconsider what they know and believe, to consider and reconsider what it means to know or believe something, and then to examine and reinvent ways of teaching that are consistent with their knowledge and beliefs" (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1999, p. 272)

Kate's meaning of teacher struggle does not focus on investigating, interpreting, and sometimes reinterpreting the sources of struggle and what that means for instruction. This view will have specific consequences for how she sees the purpose of group discourse in lesson study, and ultimately, for how her facilitation shapes teachers' opportunities to learn.

The purpose of group discourse. My analysis of Kate's meanings about the purpose of group discourse in teacher learning show that Kate sees group discourse as an opportunity for teachers to share and exchange ideas about effective tools and strategies as they collectively design an effective lesson to promote student learning. This means that, for Kate, the role of the

facilitator is to create opportunities for teachers to exchange ideas and ensure that teachers are on track to create a high-quality research lesson. Notably, what this does *not* mean is that the facilitator's role is to create opportunities where teachers' current understandings are problematized and investigated.

In fact, at multiple points, Kate emphasizes that she is not trying to change the way teachers' think. For example, discussing how she would respond to teachers who do not share her views of teaching, she says, "I say, you know, we're not trying to tell you how to teach. We're just giving you many tools to think about giving children different tools." In this comment, Kate ties her approach to facilitating to her approach to teaching, where both are characterized by giving learners more tools. However, whereas in her classroom, this might mean that Kate takes on a stronger "telling" role as a teacher, in her lesson study group, she describes seeing herself as an "equal participant":

I'm just a participant. I think in the beginning, I am just a facilitator in that I just kind of get things rolling and I keep the organization of the lesson study going, but in our meetings, I become just a participant. I don't think I'm any kind of different participant than the rest of the people, except that I'm the organizer and the contact person, that kind of stuff. In the beginning, I say "everybody bring your research, and when we get off task, I get us back on task. (Interview, 2016)

This reflects a view of teacher learning that it is more additive than transformative, and, like with Elena, is rooted in Kate's own professional learning experiences. Elaborating on this approach, Kate explains:

Right away, people are defensive. It's true. They are defensive, so you have to kind of soft pedal it a little bit and say, "this is just our tool." Just think about this. Take one thing

away from what we've told you. We're not asking you to change all the way you teach. And maybe you can do it one time, maybe it's not the algorithm you do some flexibility with, maybe it's something else and you just start to do a little bit at a time. One thing. And maybe they would start to see that, "hey, you could let go a little." Because that was my hardest thing too. Was to let go and let kids struggle and let kids figure it out, so I think that for all of us who are just natural-born helpers, that's the hardest thing. (Interview, Spring 2018)

In this comment, Kate explains that because she had a difficult time "letting go," it may be better to guide teachers to changes in teaching one strategy at a time. She also expresses concerns that teachers will be defensive if they feel their way of teaching is being questioned, a theme she returns to when she says, "If you told me, 'okay. [Kate]. I hate the way you teach.' And then you came and tried to tell me how to teach, I might feel a little defensive about that too" (Interview, 2018).

Another important aspect of Kate's meaning of group discourse is also suggested in this comment. If what Kate hopes to accomplish is to share effective tools and strategies for teaching mathematics, then the focus of group discourse will be on how to design an effective lesson. This might seem like an obvious focus of any lesson study group, but with the case of Elena, we have an example of a group whose purpose is more focused on designing a lesson that allows them to better understand student thinking of a particular topic. Kate also hopes that the research lesson will provide this kind of opportunity, but at multiple points, she suggests that that goal is secondary to designing an effective lesson. For example, in 2015 describing her goal for the lesson study cycle she says: "I hope we'll learn if this was an effective way to teach fractions greater than one." She further explains that she wants the group "to come away with a good

feeling like, 'huh! That was a good lesson." This focus on designing a good lesson creates a specific purpose for group discourse that lends itself to the exchange and evaluation of strategies, as teachers work together to collectively fix students' misunderstandings of mathematics.

Collectively considering Kate's meanings about the purpose of group discourse, several key aspects emerge. Importantly, the facilitator provides minimal guidance outside of pacing and organization. This is rooted in a view of group discourse in lesson study in which the primary purpose is to build an effective lesson that demonstrates the usefulness of a particular strategy and builds teachers' confidence to try that strategy. This is accomplished by exchanging and evaluating ideas for the lesson and sometimes consulting outside experts when clarification is needed. This view of group discourse is related to Kate's view of student learning and teaching. If the teachers' role in teaching mathematics is to surface and fix student misunderstandings over the course of a lesson, then lesson study is a way to identify effective strategies to do so. As I will describe below, Kate's meanings related to student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating interact via the enactment of her agency via facilitation of lesson study. This leads to opportunities to learn in Kate's group that are quite distinct from those in Elena's group.

RQ2: Opportunities to Learn

My analysis of TLs' agency at the level of meaning-making revealed that each TL has constructed distinct meanings about teaching and learning. These meanings are an important aspect of TLs' agency because they manifest via another level of agency—that of talk and action—as TLs facilitate lesson study. This is the level of agency where TLs may shape teachers' opportunities to learn as they manifest their meanings about teaching and learning via their approach to facilitation. To analyze how TLs' talk and action may shape opportunities to learn, I focused analysis on episodes from planning meetings in which contradicting ideas surface. Such

episodes are key moments for teachers to experience the kind of learning research has identified as essential to instructional improvement since teachers' experience of dissonance between existing beliefs and practices and new evidence may catalyze a transformation in their ideas of knowing, teaching and learning (Thompson & Zeulli, 1999). As such, they are also key moments for TLs to exercise agency as they facilitate conversations that require improvisation and responsivity as they respond to potential dissonance.

My analysis of how TLs' meanings shape opportunities to learn in lesson study revealed that Elena and Kate's distinct meanings of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating informed significantly different approaches to facilitation that shaped very different opportunities to learn for teachers within their groups. In alignment with her meanings of teaching and learning, Elena's approach to facilitation is characterized by an attempt to promote a specific vision of teaching and learning and surface and resolve cognitive conflicts related to this vision. This approach leads to opportunities for teachers in her group to reconsider their beliefs about teaching and learning and deepen their understanding of content and pedagogy. Kate's approach is characterized by an attempt to equip teachers with new tools and strategies by designing an effective research lesson. This shapes opportunities to learn that are limited in their capacity to shift teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning. Exploring exactly how these approaches to facilitation lead to distinct opportunities to learn reveals important keys for understanding the relationship between teacher leadership, agency, and instructional improvement.

To describe differences in facilitation and opportunities to learn, I describe key episodes from Elena's 2016 cycle and Kate's 2015 cycle in which teachers in each group discuss students' exploration of multiple strategies. For both groups, these conversations emerge organically over

the course of the lesson study cycle, as a result of teachers' own questions and concerns. The striking similarity between the topic of these conversations makes these conversations an ideal way to present cohesive and illustrative examples of how each TL's agency shapes teachers' opportunity to learn in lesson study.

Elena

Based on her meanings of teaching and learning, which stem from her own professional learning experiences over time, Elena uses her facilitation of lesson study to create opportunities for teachers to advance their understanding of the relationship between teaching and learning. Reflecting her view that "if you're not struggling, I'm not too sure you're learning," Elena intentionally fosters opportunities for members of her team to struggle with ideas and then guides them through a process of dissonance resolving that engages teachers in evaluating the relationship between new ideas and their own experiences and thinking. To achieve this, when moments of dissonance arise, Elena responds by probing teachers to make connections between their experiences with students and new information shared or generated by the group. Ultimately, this approach creates opportunities for teachers to both learn and unlearn as Elena advocates ideas that may challenge their current approach to teaching and deepen their understanding of content and its relation to pedagogy.

Elena's approach to facilitation is characterized by her active promotion of a specific approach to teaching mathematics, in which the goal is to help students develop an understanding of the ideas behind mathematical strategies, as opposed to merely learning how to execute algorithms correctly. Elena's belief in and active promotion of this approach has the effect of serving as a conceptual tool (Grossman, Smagorinsky, & Valencia, 1999) that Elena draws upon to guide conversations when dissonance arises. Said differently, Elena's strong belief

in this approach to teaching and learning mathematics serves as a source of expertise that helps her notice and attend to potential opportunities to learn as she guides teachers through a process of dissonance resolving characterized by connecting experiences, ideas, and evidence (National Research Council, 2000; National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Mathematics, 2018).

Elena's facilitation of conversations about students' exploration of multiple strategies during the 2016 cycle is a cohesive illustration of how this unfolds over the course of lesson study. The seeds of this conversation, in which teachers discuss how, why, and if early elementary students should be allowed to generate multiple strategies to solve mathematics problems, are planted early on in the first meeting of the cycle. As teachers discuss a book chapter that Elena has assigned, one teacher, Melissa, describes underlining a passage about giving students opportunities to "invent ways to solve a problem." Elena enthusiastically agrees that this is important and explains why:

Elena: ...I loved this idea of kids coming up with their own strategies, how did you solve it, and I think it gives them empowerment, they feel like 'Look what I can do!'—
Melissa:—'no one came up with this!' Right [laughs].

Elena: Yeah! And really that idea of 'I can use what I know to solve something new,' Wow! What an important learning idea that is, for any subject area. Go figure out what you know, and then how could you use that [hits table] when this situation comes up. That's a powerful tool. (Planning Meeting 1, 2016)

Here, Elena builds on Melissa's comment and connects the idea in discussion to a larger learning goal of helping students use what they know to solve something new. This is a key aspect of Elena's facilitation that directly reflects her meanings of teaching and learning. Because she has a strong vision of what mathematics teaching and learning should look like—and why—she

draws upon that vision as a conceptual tool to inform her responses, either by explicitly connecting teachers' ideas to larger learning goals, as in this example, or by guiding teachers to make their own connections, as will be illustrated below.

As the 2016 cycle unfolds, Elena's team repeatedly returns to the topic raised here about "multiple strategies." At first, as in the above and following example, it is another teacher who surfaces the conversation. However, as it becomes clear that most of the teachers in the group do not fully share or understand Elena's (or one another's) meanings regarding the importance of multiple strategies, Elena capitalizes on this dissonance to create opportunities for teachers to connect their learning and planning in lesson study to the idea that it is valuable for students to generate multiple strategies.

For example, in the following excerpt from a discussion about the goal of the research lesson, several teachers express a concern and/or misunderstanding regarding the idea of allowing students to generate multiple strategies. This conversation reveals a dissonance between that idea and teachers' experiences with students and/or understandings of why to teach multiple strategies. Elena's response reframes teachers concerns into a topic of inquiry and sets the stage for future conversations aimed at engaging and resolving the dissonances surfaced here.

Manuela: They're afraid of failing on their own.

Melissa: And if I said, 'Do it on your own. Show me different strategies,' they want 'which strategy do you want me to use?'

Manuela: And sometimes, they don't want to listen to a different way of doing it, because they know how to do it, and their way is good. And that's it. They don't want to broaden—So, they're afraid to try something different. Because they already know what they can do.

Melissa: Right. And that's why I think it's so important that we're showing all the strategies now. Before we just taught one way, and that was it. That's how you do it. And now, we're showing them all these different strategies. They work for some, not for others. Then, their favorite part is when you learn all these strategies, and I said, 'Well, what strategy would you like to use?' That's their favorite. That's usually when they take it on their own. But when I said, 'You've got to use this strategy today; or this strategy today'—

Carmenza:—that's when you find resistance.

Melissa: Yes.

Manuela: Well, um, for us—you know, our kids are a little bit different from your kids this year because your kids are going to be advanced in math—but 1st grade, when you show them different strategies, they want to find the one that it's the easiest for them, which is ok, but they tend to use the same one over, over, and over, again. Even if you might have 10 strategies out there—

Melissa:—right

Carmenza:—they don't want something new

Manuela: They'll go: '2 + 3; [finger counting] 1, 2, 3... 1, 2 [five hand gesture].' Because they're safe in doing that. And I think when their minds are so young, they're afraid to jump out. I don't think they know how to jump out. Even if we've done these problems, these five different ways, for 20 weeks, they're afraid to jump out. I don't think they trust themselves to know it's ok. I don't think that they know that they know how to choose a problem, a strategy.

Elena: And I think that's not just the learner, that's a human being problem, because I know adults that are that way, they have abilities that they are not using because they're afraid to fail, afraid to explore, afraid to step out. I mean, we all have felt that way about some things. But I really think it's important to deal with this idea.

Elena's immediate response to the dissonance that has just surfaced is to connect the challenges described by teachers to a more general "human being" problem. This reframes the problem away from being based on a developmental trait, as initially suggested by Manuela, to the generalized problem that learners of all ages "have abilities that they are not using." This is an important distinction because when teachers view challenges to ambitious instruction as stemming from the fixed traits of their students, they may not feel it is worth the time and effort to attempt those approaches (Horn, 2007; Wilson et al., 2017). On the other hand, if teachers believe the ability is there, they can help students develop the capacity to apply that ability. Elena hints at an awareness of this issue when she describes adults as also "afraid to fail, afraid to explore," subtly prompting teachers to reflect on how they too may have abilities they are not using by saying, "we have all felt that way about some things."

After reframing the concerns expressed by the team, Elena legitimizes those concerns and converts them into a topic of inquiry by asserting "it's important to deal with this idea." Like reframing the problem, this has the effect of positioning the concerns as something that teachers may be able to attend to via instruction. As Horn and Little (2010) explain in their analysis of teachers' talk in collaborative learning, this turned the conversation "toward teaching", creating affordances for teachers to explore the relationship between their concerns, content, and pedagogy (p. 192).

Immediately following this conversation, more sources of dissonance are surfaced as teachers continue to discuss students' learning needs. In this excerpt, we again see Elena notice the emergence of conflicting ideas and plant the seed for resolving that dissonance by prompting teachers to consider *why* to use multiple strategies:

Melissa: Sometimes, towards the end of when I have taught five strategies, I'll give them five problems, and they can only use one strategy—you know, each strategy one time. So all five problems have to be done with a different strategy. So I make them use all strategies.

Manuela: Yeah, but intellectually, some of them might not be ready to do all 5 strategies.

Allie: Some of them are still recounting—

Manuela:—they're still recounting. Even though we've... you know, that's good in theory. But to say, you can only use one-on-one, you'll literally have some kids crying, 'I can't do it that way. I can't do it that way.' If you sit down with them and say,

'Remember' and you guide them through it, they will be able to do it. But then to give them another problem to do it, and say 'Ok, you did it this way, now you try it this way.'

They'll sit and look at you [makes a perplexed face] you know.

Carmenza: At this point, if they have a strategy that works for them, I think that's the whole goal. As long as they're building later on—I'm not saying... you expose them, and they find what works for them. And then, kind of build upon that.

Melissa: But the only thing with that is that, sometimes, a certain strategy is later used for a reason—they have to learn that way [pause]. You know what I mean?

Carmenza: And I think that's my biggest issue with, you know... if they get the answer, how they did it—it doesn't matter how they got the answer. Just like, if they know, if

they can figure out what 2 + 2 is, whatever strategy they use, and they get the right answer—what's the problem? You know [laughs]. It is going back to that too.

Elena: And I put that up over there, and I really think we should go back and talk about why: what's the value of using different strategies? But I do agree with you; I think it's important to identify as a teacher.

By this point in the conversation, a fertile context for engaging in and resolving dissonance has emerged. More challenges have been expressed and several meanings related to using different strategies have surfaced, all of which differ from Elena's description of letting students generate multiple strategies so that they can make connections between them. Carmenza's comments, in particular, are a criticism of the idea that students should know how to solve problems using more than one strategy. Because Elena has strong ideas about why students should explore multiple strategies—in fact, she has already explained this to some extent at the beginning of the meeting—it is notable that she does not seize this opportunity to, in her words, "spout wisdom, or spout the things I've learned" (Interview, 2018). Instead, she reframes Carmenza's "What's the problem?" question—meant rhetorically and as a criticism—responding that she agrees with her that it is "important to identify" why students should be familiar with multiple strategies. This also reflects Elena's view of learning as building on current understandings to deepen or create new understandings. Instead of positioning Carmenza's belief as "wrong," Elena positions it as an idea that can be built upon.

Elena notices an opportunity to revisit the conversation in a later moment when teachers seem to be moving towards glossing over the discrepancy—between the idea that students should explore and create their own strategies and concern that students are not able to do so—

by selecting an activity that highly structures—and potentially limits—students' "exploration" of multiple strategies. Seizing on a teacher's mention of the word strategies, Elena prompts:

I do think, because we keep talking about different strategies, and I think it's important to get clear on why... why use different strategies? So, if we're doing—if we're teaching children how to add, why do we make a ten... '5 + 8, I'll take a 5 and make 10 plus 3 more'... The make a ten strategy. Why 5 + 8 = [counting fingers] 9, 10, 11, 12, 13.

Why give them different strategies? What's the purpose in it?

Elena's response prompts teachers to connect the use of multiple strategies to a learning goal. This creates an opportunity for teachers to generate and build upon their own understandings and those suggested by the group. Where, above, Elena reframed the conversation to connect teachers' concerns about multiple strategies to the broader learning problem of untapped capabilities, in this case, Elena's prompt orients the question towards connecting the use of multiple strategies to a goal related to mathematical understanding.

Using the "multiple strategies" conversation as an example, we see how Elena's meanings of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating functioned as a source of expertise that Elena used to shape teachers' opportunities to learn. Because of Elena's knowledge about why and how students' exploration of multiple strategies may advance their mathematical understanding, she was able to notice teachers' misunderstandings about teaching multiple strategies and then guide them to connect their beliefs about multiple strategies to students' learning needs, their own experiences as learners, and the content goals of the lesson. By reframing teachers' concerns as something important to "deal with" and "identify as a teacher," she fostered a tone of inquiry in the group, positioning teachers' conflicting beliefs about how and why to teach multiple strategies as ideas to be built upon. Ball and Cohen (1999) describe a

disposition of inquiry as an important element of teachers' professional learning in reform settings and, in a definition with considerable overlap with Thompson and Zeulli's (1999) description of dissonance resolving, explain it as a stance "that would support their generation of multiple conjectures about an issue in practice, their production of alternative explanations, and their efforts to weigh them rationally" (p. 27).

Positioning teachers' misunderstandings as ideas to be built upon not only reflects

Elena's meanings of teaching and learning, but it reflects her goal of empowering teachers and
learners of all types. In fact, her statement from the excerpt that opened this section could easily
summarize her approach to facilitation:

"That idea of 'I can use what I know to solve something new,' Wow! What an important learning idea that is, for any subject area. That's a powerful tool. (Planning Meeting 1, 2016)

Elena not only recognizes opportunities to build upon teachers' understandings, she recognizes the role that guiding teachers to make connections between current understandings and new evidence may play in advancing understanding. By noticing the learning potential in the dissonances expressed by teachers and converting them into a topic of further inquiry, Elena shapes an opportunity for teachers to use the remainder of the lesson study cycle to learn more about why and how to support students' exploration of multiple strategies. Notably, their inquiry stems from their own problems of practice and builds upon their current understandings to advance their knowledge of the relationship between content, pedagogy, and learning.

Kate

Reflecting differences in her meanings of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating, Kate's approach to facilitation is quite distinct from Elena's and shapes

different opportunities to learn for teachers in her group. Reflecting a general view of teaching and learning in which learners accumulate a repertoire of tools and strategies that can be used to solve problems, Kate does not necessarily perceive competing ideas as problematic, but rather as multiple potential paths to a solution. As a result, her facilitation is not characterized by the provoking, engaging, and resolving of dissonance. Instead, her approach to facilitation is characterized by prompts focused on which tools and strategies the lesson should include. My findings suggest this approach limits opportunities to learn characterized by dissonance resolving, as Kate's focus on an effective lesson and her hands-off approach to facilitation means potential dissonance is not recognized as an opportunity to build understanding by generating and connecting evidence. While different opportunities to learn may emerge, they are not defined by the kind of active engagement in dissonance resolving identified by literature as key to supporting shifts in instruction (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Thompson & Zeulli, 1999).

This is best exemplified in episodes of Kate's facilitation of the 2015 cycle. Similar to Elena's 2016 group, a repeated theme that emerged over the course of this cycle concerned how much students should be allowed to explore and generate their own strategies to solve problems in the lesson. Reflecting her meanings of teaching and learning, Kate's facilitation of these conversations seeks to honor both (traditional and constructivist) approaches and sees Kate on either side of the argument at different moments. Ultimately, the goal of creating a lesson that minimizes student confusion is consulted as justification to limit student exploration. In the examples that follow, I show how teachers' opportunity to learn *from* students' exploration or *about* students' exploration is minimized as the team focuses on the bigger goal of evaluating whether their selected strategy of teaching the modeling of fractions is effective.

Unlike Elena, Kate does not promote and explore a specific vision of teaching and learning via her lesson study facilitation. Instead, she focuses discussion on the creation of a "good lesson." Of course, it is completely expected that teachers would hope their research lesson helps students to understand the presented material, but what is notable in Kate's approach is the consistent focus on the good lesson, which manifests throughout her facilitation. For Kate, the goal of crafting a good lesson serves a similar purpose to Kate's vision of how to improve teaching and learning. In moments of uncertainty, this will be the goal that Kate and her team reference to resolve (or avoid) potential moments of dissonance.

This reflects Kate's meanings of teaching and learning, which focus primarily on solutions to problems instead of the kind of thinking that supports problem solving. However, where, for Elena, her meanings serve as a source of expertise that she leverages to support teachers' opportunities to learn, Kate's meanings of teaching and learning are more difficult to leverage as expertise because she has not fully acknowledged or resolved conflicts between constructivist and traditional approaches to teaching and, relatedly, sees herself as an "equal participant," facilitating the exchange of strategies and ideas instead of advancing teachers' understanding towards a particular meaning of student learning and teaching. This will serve to limit opportunities to learn as teachers engage in conversations primarily aimed at designing a good lesson.

This means Kate's role as facilitator involves helping teachers decide *what* to do instead of exploring in-depth the reasons behind selecting particular tools, strategies, or approaches. The result is that dissonance is not engaged or leveraged to advance understanding. This is succinctly illustrated in the exchange below, in which the question of how much student exploration to allow is first raised:

Eva: The question is are we just going to give them their kits and say go for it or are we going to do= the teacher is doing some kind of preview and *then* give them their kits?

Kate: We can do either way. Last year when I taught area, I gave my students a one-foot square and I gave them a yard square. I said we are going out to that courtyard over there and Ms. Javid wants to paint, she needs to know how much paint, and this is the only tool that you have to measure. They had to find the area of the basketball court... And then at the end, I said that we found the space on the floor, what do we call that? Then I said the word: "this is area." So you can do it either way, whatever way that we think is the most effective in this case is the way that we should do it. (Emphasis added.) (Planning Meeting 2, 2015)

Eva's question presents an opportunity to explore the reasons behind the two approaches she suggested (let students explore or teach first). It is a potential moment of dissonance as teachers could have come to perceive inconsistencies between the two approaches. However, Kate's response that they "can do either way" steers the conversation away from the potential dissonance by failing to problematize either approach or connect them to a particular philosophy of learning and teaching. She instead provides an example of a lesson in which she allowed students to explore first, suggesting perhaps that this is an approach she values.

Kate responds similarly later in the same meeting, when, in response to another question about how much exploration to allow, she again shares examples of lessons in which she allowed students to explore first, but then finishes the anecdote with "there is no right or wrong way of doing it, I don't think." These examples suggest that Kate may actually believe the lesson should start with exploration, but, reflecting both her hybrid view of student learning/teaching and her view of herself as an equal participant in the lesson study, she fails to connect her experiences

with student exploration to a reason *why* that should be incorporated into the lesson. This has the effect of producing what Slavit, Nelson, and Deuel (2014) characterized as "disconnected talk" or talk in which meaningful learning opportunities are limited because cognitive conflicts are not "actively confronted and collaboratively addressed" (p. 11).

Because Kate expresses the belief that both approaches have equal value, she proposes teachers should choose the option that is "most effective." Because Kate and her team have not discussed the elements that an effective lesson must include, they default to an implicit goal of minimizing student confusion. Tacit knowledge about what defines effectiveness remains tacit, and therefore is not investigated in a way that might alter or advance the meaning of an effective lesson. This is exemplified in the excerpt that follows, when Kate suggests that students should be allowed to explore multiple ways to compose the number 1 2/3 using measuring cups. Here we also see an example of facilitation aimed at discussing what to do instead of why:

Kate: If somebody gives you 4/4 and 2/3 – that's *great*. You *want them* to share. And then if somebody gives you 5/3, you probably want *them* to share. But if somebody gives you a ½ and ¼ and 1/3 and 2/10, and you know, then you probably don't want them to...I don't know, but then maybe they could defend, so maybe...just pick a couple. Just pick a few.

Laura: Yeah, whoever is teaching it, select the ones that are interesting. And then the teaching part is "Let me show you how to model this in a different way, an easier way." Kate: Or do we give the cups out and say "can you do this?" Do we give the cups out then at that time and say "can you use this and think about a way to do it?" We don't know what we are going to get but what do you think? Because we want *them* to physically pour the three-thirds in, don't we? Don't you think we do?

Laura: I think we need to show them how you can take the three-thirds and have it be one.

Kate: Have us show them?

Laura: Show them. I think it's like with gradual release – this is teacher time.

Kate: And then they can do their own and prove it?

Laura: Right. Because I think that it's going to be hard for a third grader to see that.

Kate: Me too.

(Planning Meeting 3, 2015)

In this instance, Kate creates an opportunity for dissonance by suggesting an alternative approach to the lesson. When another teacher disagrees with her, she asks clarifying questions—questions aimed at clarifying *what* the group should do, not *why* they might choose that approach. Instead, Kate could have expanded on why she thought students should be the ones initially filling the cups or further pressed Laura on why it might be difficult for a third grader, which would have generated more evidence for teachers to consider in relation to allowing student exploration of multiple strategies.

Unprompted, Laura does offer an explanation for why to limit student exploration, explaining that it might be too challenging for a third grader, but this evidence—that student exploration might lead to confusion—is not further investigated. Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1999) explain that because teachers' learning is tied to their practice, "teacher learning hinges on enhancing teachers' understandings of their own actions—that is their own assumptions, their own reasoning and decisions" (p. 257). By asking questions focused on what to do, Kate misses an opportunity to prompt teachers to reflect on the assumptions and reasoning behind the strategies they employ and enhance their understanding.

Kate's uncertainty at the end of the opening comment suggests that one reason she may not be guiding teachers towards a better understanding of if/when to allow student exploration may be because she herself is not exactly sure why. Kate expresses confusion about how to respond if a student gives an incorrect answer. Nevertheless, in her next talk turn, she proposes students be given time to "think about a way to do it," showing her awareness of the value of allowing students to explore and potentially struggle. Despite this awareness, Kate does not seem fully comfortable guiding teachers to design a lesson that allows students to productively struggle by trying to generate their own solutions.

Instead, the research lesson is eventually designed so that the teacher shows students (via direct instruction) multiple ways to solve a problem. This appears to reflect Kate's hybrid view of teaching and learning that values exposure to multiple ways to solve a problem, but largely misses the role that making connections between ideas and strategies may play in advancing students' (and teachers') understandings. With a clearer understanding of why to allow students' exploration of multiple strategies, Kate could leverage that understanding to more confidently and effectively guide teachers in her group towards advancing their own understanding.

Emphasizing solutions instead of the building upon and connecting of ideas limited teachers' opportunities to engage in productive struggle over the meaning of multiple strategies. This ultimately resulted in a research lesson that also limited *students*' opportunities to productively struggle by exploring multiple strategies.

The result is that teachers' opportunities to learn in Kate's group are characterized primarily by a more shallow evaluation of the strategies the lesson employs, where the implicit criteria for success is based on whether or not students experienced confusion in executing tasks or got the correct answers, without much consideration for the thinking processes that underly

correct—and incorrect—responses. The opportunity to advance teachers' understanding of approaches that allow more student exploration—and the opportunity to learn by studying students' response to exploration in the research lesson—is left on the table.

Conclusions

This chapter described how TLs exercise agency in lesson study by enacting meanings of student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating as they facilitate conversations that require improvisation and responsivity to teachers' competing ideas. In the case of Elena, her constructivist-inspired meanings of teaching and learning inform an approach to facilitation that values the provoking and resolving of cognitive dissonance. This results in opportunities to learn characterized by advancing teachers' understanding of the relationship between content, learning, and pedagogy. In the case of Kate, her hybrid (between constructivist and traditional) meanings of teaching and learning inform an approach to facilitation that values exchanging ideas to design an effective research lesson. This limits opportunities to learn via a process of resolving dissonance. In the following chapter, I describe how these findings are unique for what they reveal about the relationship between teacher leadership, agency, and collaborative professional learning in instructional reform contexts.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

This study was conducted to contribute to our understanding of the relationship between three factors currently promoted as drivers of instructional improvement: teacher leadership, collaborative professional learning, and teachers' agency. Focusing on the cases of two TLs who are very similar on the surface, yet very different in terms of their beliefs, I described how TLs exercise agency in lesson study by enacting meanings about teaching and learning that manifest via approaches to facilitation that significantly shape opportunities to learn. This chapter further discusses the relationship between cases to describe ways the study may help contribute to our understanding of TLs' agency in collaborative professional learning.

Discussion of Findings

The main insight that emerged from this comparative case study concerns the important role that TLs may play in promoting teacher learning by surfacing dissonance and engaging teachers in dissonance resolving. For both TLs, many of the dissonances that surfaced over the course of the lesson study cycle stemmed from teachers' own wonderings about how to improve instruction. They were not learning opportunities identified and planned in advanced by the facilitators, an administrator, our research team, or a professional development provider. This is precisely the kind of situated problem of practice that TLs may help attend to, not just in more structured learning environments such as lesson study, but in the collegial conversations that occur across a school day and that have been identified as mediators of teachers' learning and reform messages (Camburn, 2010; Coburn & Russell, 2008; Margolis & Doring, 2012; Putnam & Borko, 2000). These unscripted learning opportunities require TLs to improvise and tap into their expert knowledge to notice and respond to opportunities to advance teachers' understanding

of problems of practice. Schon (1995) described this as "the competence practitioners sometimes display in situations of uncertainty, complexity, uniqueness, and conflict," and explain that these actions reveal a "pattern of tacit knowing-in-action" (p.29).

My findings suggest that an important aspect of this competence relates to TLs' meanings of teaching and learning, particularly of the role of struggle and discourse in learning. Elena's meanings composed a coherent vision of teaching and learning, where the process of advancing understanding occurs as current understandings and new evidence are connected, compared, and evaluated. This requires "struggling" or recognizing inconsistencies or incompatibilities between competing ideas or strategies. For Elena, surfacing and resolving these struggles is a primary function of discourse in learning. This vision helps Elena to notice teachers' misunderstandings, or struggles, and leverage them as partial understandings that teachers can build upon to advance understanding. One way Elena accomplishes this is by reorienting teachers' conversations by prompting them to consider the reasons why to use a particular approach or strategy. Her questions are aimed at connecting student understanding to teaching and the progression of mathematical ideas.

This is possible because Elena understands how teachers' various beliefs about teaching and student learning can be connected with their prior experiences and new evidence in ways that lead to resolving dissonance over time. Elena's own learning journey—characterized by deepening her understanding of the connections between content, pedagogy, and learning—and her many years of experience working with teachers, inform this approach. Because she sees teacher learning as a continuous and gradual process, she does not promote prompt identification of solutions and strategies.

Elena's approach to engaging and advancing teachers' current understandings is precisely the kind of inquiry-based collaborative learning experience that much research has converged on as key to teachers' instructional improvement (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1999; Darling-Hammond & Richardson, 2009; Hawley & Valli, 1999; Loucks-Horsley, Hewson, Love, & Stiles, 1998; Putnam & Borko, 2000; Wilson & Berne, 1999). Yet, understanding how to enable such learning experiences within collaborative professional learning environments that check all the right boxes (e.g. job-embedded, content-focused, data-based) has proven elusive for researchers and professional development providers (Opfer & Pedder, 2011). Elena's case advances our understanding by highlighting the role that TLs can play by noticing and leveraging dissonance. This is enabled by a vision of teaching and learning that values dissonance as an opportunity to make new connections between current understandings and new ideas.

On the other hand, Kate also has many years of experience as a teacher and facilitator, though she has not practiced lesson study as long as Elena. Yet, my analysis shows Kate does not use this experience to notice and leverage dissonance as learning opportunities in lesson study. My findings suggest that this is related to the hybrid nature of Kate's beliefs. While Kate values some constructivist approaches to teaching and learning, her utilitarian focus on identifying effective strategies and solutions takes precedence. Research suggests that adopting some elements of an ambitious teaching approach while ignoring others is a common occurrence among teachers in reform environments (Coburn, 2005; Cohen, 1999; Huberman, 1995). Kate's case indicates that this in-betweenness relates to meanings of teaching and learning that do not emphasize the process of connecting and building upon ideas to deepen and advance understanding. Thompson and Zeulli (1999) describe this as the "centrality of thinking as the process through which conceptual learning takes place" (p. 352). Fostering an emphasis on the

process of thinking may be key to further supporting Kate's own shifts in meanings and the leveraging of her expertise.

This is where the multiple strategies conversations make for a particularly interesting example as parallels are noted between each TL's meanings about student learning of mathematics and teacher learning. Kate's talk during facilitation of these conversations suggests that the primary value she sees to teaching multiple strategies is to give students multiple options for solving a problem. Elena, on the other hand, emphasizes the way students can deepen their understanding of mathematics by noting connections between multiple solution pathways and understanding the mathematical idea behind each solution. The same can be said of their approach to teacher learning. Kate seeks to equip teachers with multiple tools and strategies, while Elena guides teachers to make connections between tools, strategies, experiences, and ideas by probing them to consider the reasons undergirding approaches and providing opportunities to bridge current understandings and new ideas.

Elena's approach fosters an opportunity for teachers to reevaluate their beliefs about student learning and teaching as connections are made between current understandings and new information. Kate's approach is not focused on guiding teachers to realize a problem or partial understanding related to their current approach. When competing ideas arise, she does not engage in an in-depth discussion of the reasons why particular approaches are warranted, and she does not guide teachers in her group through a process that could be characterized as engaging in and resolving dissonances related to meanings of teaching and learning. Since shifts in meanings of teaching and learning have been identified as central to supporting teachers' instructional improvement in reform contexts (Cohen & Ball, 1999; Lampert, 1990; Putnam & Borko, 2000),

this is a notable omission, with important implications for research, policy, and practice that will be addressed below.

Reconceptualizing Teacher Agency

In my literature review, I described how recent research and policy reports may have oversimplified the role of teacher agency in instructional improvement by focusing on the quantity of teachers' agency and assuming that more agency will produce positive results (Buchanan, 2015; Calvert, 2016; Lasky, 2005; The Mirage Report, 2016). These studies and reports have focused on teachers' perceptions of agency within policy-influenced structures such as teacher accountability and standardized testing. This focus implicitly emphasizes a conceptualization of agency as a feeling that is more static and structure-dependent than dynamic, complex, and relational. Drawing from sociocultural theory, this study sought to emphasize, and thus better understand, how TLs' agency manifests at the levels of meaningmaking and talk/action. This reflects a view of agency in which thought and action are mediated by meanings continuously shaped in interaction with others and environment (Wertsch, 1993). Such an approach allowed me to explore how the nature and enactment of agency may vary between TLs and showed how TLs' agency may shape different opportunities to learn.

The cases of Elena and Kate illustrate the value of conceptualizations of teacher agency that see agency as a dynamic interaction between teachers' meanings and interactions with people and ideas in their context. Both are highly committed TLs who have successfully engaged their peers in a sustained collaborative professional learning activity that teachers in their groups credit with improving their teaching. Following the common definition of agency as capacity to act towards valued outcomes (Ahearn, 2001; Bandura, 2001; Buchanan, 2015; Lasky, 2005; Pyhälto et al., 2012), both of these TLs have displayed a high amount of agency. However, to

effectively support teaches' agency, we need more nuanced understandings of both the capacity and hoped-for valued outcomes that compose agency.

My findings show how, for Elena and Kate, these are intertwined, connected by their meanings about teaching and learning and shaped by group interactions. I showed how differences in their meanings of teaching and learning lead to very different enactments of agency, with the result of distinct learning opportunities for teachers within their groups. Meanings about teaching and learning not only shaped the valued outcomes Elena and Kate sought to achieve, they composed an important aspect of each TLs' capacity to work towards those outcomes.

I also showed how Elena and Kate's agency manifested—and varied—in unscripted moments in which competing ideas arose. This points to the relational and dynamic aspect of agency and underscores the importance of understanding agency in relation to the meanings that undergird it. In collaborative professional learning, unscripted moments may signify key learning opportunities for teachers; they are also moments that require improvisation on the behalf of those leading learning. For TL facilitators, this means their meanings about teaching and learning will interact with the emergence of ideas to influence the nature and enactment of their agency.

These findings point to a need to conceptualize teacher agency as composed by a dynamic interaction between teachers' meanings and emergent ideas as teachers interact with others. This conceptualization of agency is more aligned with the sociocultural theories that undergird most studies of teachers' agency, because it stands to capture the dynamic and context-specific aspects of teachers' agency as they interact with other teachers to make and remake meanings about teaching and learning. My findings suggest this is a useful way to understand linkages between teacher leadership, agency, and collaborative professional learning. Future

theoretical and empirical studies could build on this study to further conceptualize the role of teachers' agency in instructional improvement.

Study Limitations and Future Research

Though effort was made to ensure that findings reflect an accurate portrayal of both cases, the study design limited my observation of many other factors that may shed further light on how TLs exercise agency in collaborative professional learning. For example, the focus on TLs means that analysis of ways that other factors may shape learning opportunities was limited. One such factor worthy of inclusion in future studies is the role of other teachers' in the group. Their meanings and agency should also influence the group culture and the nature of conversations. As TLs interact with and respond to other teachers, this almost certainly further shapes the nature and enactment of their agency and influences opportunities to learn.

Another factor that almost certainly also influenced teachers' opportunities to learn concerns the organizational context. For example, support from school and district administrators, the school culture, and the state policy context are all aspects of the organizational context that would further illuminate findings. School and district administrators help to set professional learning priorities and expectations, and the involvement of principals, via feedback or provision of time and resources, may either facilitate or constrain particular approaches to learning. Because during the period of data collection, the state was transitioning to standards influenced by Common Core and also implementing teacher evaluations based on student achievement, the state policy context may also have influenced TLs' agency and the kinds of opportunities to learn shaped within their groups.

Another limitation concerns the purposive sampling of emergent TLs. These TLs were selected precisely for the potential of their emergent status to illuminate ways that meanings

about teaching and learning manifest in more autonomous learning environments. My broad aim was not to learn how TLs perform their duties in top-down professional learning activities, but to learn how emergent TLs approach their work. Nonetheless, it is possible that TLs' meanings of learning and teaching manifest in different ways in the kinds of mandated roles that TLs often find themselves. The small and purposive aspect of my sample means that my results may not be generalizable, but they can be used to inform future studies that address such issues.

Despite these limitations, my findings indicate some potentially fruitful areas for future research. One such topic that builds upon my current findings concerns investigation of the kind of expertise that TLs need in order to support fellow teachers' learning. While prior research has identified a number of factors such as knowledge of students and context (Ross et al., 2011), knowledge of content (Koellner et al., 2011; Ross et al., 2011), and knowledge of and relationships with teachers (Gigante & Firestone, 2008) as important factors contributing to TLs' expertise, none to my knowledge have attended to how these factors might interact in complex ways to help teachers notice and capitalize on dissonance-resolving learning opportunities.

Supporting the development and leveraging of TLs' expertise requires a better understanding of what composes that expertise. While Kate and Elena's cases have helped illuminate important aspects of TLs' expertise, larger samples in more diverse contexts are needed to better inform our understanding of the role of dissonance-inducing and resolving as a component of TL expertise.

Although the focus on opportunities to learn was very useful for what it revealed about facilitation approaches, an important next step is to analyze actual changes in teachers' beliefs and practice as a result of TL's facilitation. Teacher learning outcomes are challenging to record and observe, particularly in a context such as Elena's group, where learning may be gradual and

involve the raising of more questions instead of straightforward solutions. My analysis of this data suggests that teachers' talk in later planning meetings, the debrief, and interviews conducted after the lesson study cycle are all potential sources for analyzing how facilitation approaches influence teachers' understandings. While a well-designed survey is a tempting way to capture changes in teachers' beliefs, the unpredictable nature of the dissonances that emerge as learning opportunities creates a challenge to pre- and post- designs, since it requires anticipating the beliefs that may change. Reflections are another promising source of data, since they provide a venue for teachers to articulate their thinking process. However, reflections, interviews, or any other tools designed to capture the outcomes of dissonance-based learning opportunities would need to be adapted and targeted to prompt teachers' reflection on the topics around which dissonance emerges in the course of conversation.

It is also important to understand how TLs' agency relates to the ultimate valued outcome in instructional improvement: student learning. Examining student learning during the research lesson is one way to use lesson study data to address this research goal. Analysis of students' conversations and responses during the research lesson would illuminate the kind of student thinking supported by the lessons crafted as a result of facilitation approaches. On a larger scale, data would need to be collected that linked the learning of students whose teachers participated in lesson study with the facilitation approaches of TLs. While establishing those links might be challenging, such data could be a useful tool to inform further research and policy.

Another extension of this project that addresses another study limitation is understanding how the group's collective agency shapes and is shaped via facilitation. This would further capture the dynamic and contextual aspect of agency. Existing data with the same groups could be applied to investigate how group members' collective and individual meanings of teaching

and learning also shape opportunities to learn via lesson study. This would entail identifying variations in meanings of teaching and learning between teachers and coding conversations to see how those meanings are negotiated in group interactions to shape collective agency. Such a study could further illuminate how interactions between TLs and teachers shape learning opportunities.

To better understand why Elena and Kate's approaches differ and how to support the development of TLs, it would also be helpful to conduct a more thorough analysis of how Elena and Kate's past and current learning experiences—and the contexts of those experiences—have shaped their meanings of learning and leadership. Additional in-depth interviews designed to prompt further reflection on past and current learning experiences would be needed to complement existing data. Given considerable overlap in how they learned about lesson study, further analysis of how their meanings of teaching and learning were developed before, during, and because of lesson study would add to findings about the nature of their agency, with implications for how to support future TLs and facilitators of lesson study.

Policy Implications for Teacher Leadership in Professional Learning

Despite decades of promotion in both research and practice around the world, we still do not fully understand the mechanisms that might enable effective collaborative professional learning for teachers (Akiba, Howard, & Liang, in press; Opfer & Pedder, 2011). Teacher leaders may have unique potential to mitigate challenges to teachers' sustained and meaningful engagement in instructional improvement, but this study suggests that TLs may need unique policy and learning supports to recognize that potential.

Creating policy pathways for teachers to exercise leadership in collaborative professional learning should entail providing support and preparation for TLs that includes engaging TLs in a

process of surfacing, evaluating, and advancing their own beliefs and understandings of teaching, learning, and pedagogy. My findings suggest that TLs may need guidance on how to evaluate and use their own experiences as a source of expertise in a way that builds upon and respects the ideas and professionalism of their peers. As described above, findings from this study suggests that TLs' meaning about teaching and learning form an important aspect of their leadership capacity. That TLs need time and support to build leadership capacity has been noted elsewhere (Gigante & Firestone, 2008; Margolis & Huggins, 2012; Taylor et al., 2011). This study reinforces those findings and adds the suggestion that TLs need opportunities to evaluate and reflect on their current approaches to teaching, leading, and learning and, importantly, connect their approaches to a broader vision of instructional improvement.

One promising way to do this is by establishing networks of TLs, in which TLs can learn from one another and build a dynamic knowledge base of teacher leadership. This means that practice of TLs should be made public, in much the way that calls for making teachers' practice public has been promoted (Morris & Hiebert, 2011). For example, although Kate has had opportunities to observe Elena as she teaches a research lesson to students, she has not had opportunities to observe Elena as she leads and facilitates teachers. The purpose of such observations would not be to allow Kate to copy the strategies employed by Elena, but to prompt evaluation and reflection on her own approach, and the beliefs that undergird it. My findings suggest that strategies such as modeling dissonance-resolving conversational patterns or providing TLs with a list of recommended questioning strategies may be limited in their ability to support TLs if they are not accompanied by efforts to engage TLs' tacit meanings about teaching and learning and advance and connect those meanings to suggested tools or strategies. This may be facilitated by networking TLs, but it should not be assumed to be in an inherent

feature of TL networks. Instead, explicit attention should be given to engaging teachers' meanings in ways that build upon and advance their current understandings.

Of course, such a proposition is both timely and costly, requiring time away from the classroom, funding for substitutes, and continued opportunities to share and reflect. Video may be one way to mitigate some logistical challenges, but it is also costly. In any case, this study suggests that funding for teacher leadership positions should be accompanied by ways to fund time and space for ongoing teacher-leader professional learning characterized by observation and reflection.

Other ways that TLs may surface and evaluate their beliefs about student learning/teaching and teacher learning/facilitating include professional learning opportunities in which TLs reflect on their own learning experiences over time, how those experiences have shaped their current approaches, and how those experiences align (or not) with new evidence related to teaching and learning. This type of learning is also well-suited to collaboration with other teacher leaders, but skillful facilitation would be key to balancing the need for a supportive environment and conversations aimed at probing and evaluating current understandings—and tying them to TLs' practice. This may be a fruitful area for research-practice partnerships that draw upon the expertise of experienced teachers of teachers and the situated experiences of emerging or practicing TLs to collectively develop and test new knowledge about how TLs can support meaningful learning opportunities for teachers.

Finally, to truly support TLs' capacity to effectively shape teachers' opportunities to learn, evaluation and accountability policies should balance the focus on proof of learning with a focus on engaging in a process of improvement (Margolis & Doring, 2012). For teacher policy, this could mean rewarding evidence of reflection and improvement as well as outcomes of those

efforts. Teacher leaders would also need their roles defined in ways that reflect the goal of continuous improvement instead of the transmission or disbursement of best practices.

In sum, leveraging teacher leadership requires supporting TLs' continual growth via learning opportunities responsive to the unique challenges of teachers leading teachers. At the federal level, these supports could come in the form of competitive grants that reward efforts to engage TLs in networked professional learning activities. State-level policymakers could ensure that systems for evaluating teachers and TLs reflect a focus on improvement as well as proving, create programs to build statewide networks of TLs, and incentivize professional development plans that include time, funding, and learning supports for TLs leading collaborative professional learning. Districts may have a particularly important role to play, since they are usually charged with coordinating professional development offerings, including scheduling and allocating funds. By building in time for TLs to not only attend to the learning of their peers, but their own professional learning, districts could better leverage the potential advantages of TLs as keys to instructional improvement. At the school level, administrators are in a key position to identify emergent TLs and connect them to the kinds of supports that would help them recognize and develop their expertise. Many of these suggestions may already be underway in some areas, but this study suggests that their success may be dependent on the degree to which they engage and advance teachers' meanings of teaching and learning.

In the long-term, further research on the complex relationship between teacher leadership, collaborative learning, and teachers' agency that investigates learning as engaging in dissonance resolving should helpfully inform policies that effectively support teachers' instructional improvement. Building upon this study to inform such research stands to enhance understanding of how to support the development of TLs and how to support teachers'

engagement in professional learning activities that lead to the improved student learning outcomes envisioned by reform.

APPENDIX A

IRB APPROVAL



Office of the Vice President for Research Human Subjects Committee Tallahassee, Florida 32306-2742 (850) 644-8673 · FAX (850) 644-4392

APPROVAL MEMORANDUM

Date: 05/15/2018

Cassandra Howard

Dept.: EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS AND POLICY STUDIES

From: Thomas L. Jacobson. Chair

Re: Use of Human Subjects in Research
TEACHER AGENCY IN COLLABORATIVE PROFESSIONAL LEARNING IN INSTRUCTIONAL REFORM
CONTEXTS

The application that you submitted to this office in regard to the use of human subjects in the proposal referenced above have been reviewed by the Secretary, the Chair, and two members of the Human Subjects Committee. Your project is determined to be Expedited per 45 CFR § 46.110(7) and has been approved by an expedited review process.

The Human Subjects Committee has not evaluated your proposal for scientific merit, except to weigh the risk to the human participants and the aspects of the proposal related to potential risk and benefit. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals, which may be required.

If you submitted a proposed consent form with your application, the approved stamped consent form is attached to this approval notice. Only the stamped version of the consent form may be used in recruiting research subjects.

If the project has not been completed by 05/13/2019 you must request a renewal of approval for continuation of the project. As a courtesy, a renewal notice will be sent to you prior to your expiration date; however, it is your responsibility as the Principal Investigator to timely request renewal of your approval from the Committee

You are advised that any change in protocol for this project must be reviewed and approved by the Committee prior to implementation of the proposed change in the protocol. A protocol change amendment form is required to be submitted for approval by the Committee. In addition, federal regulations require that the Principal Investigator promptly report, in writing any unanticipated problems or adverse events involving risks to research subjects or others.

By copy of this memorandum, the chairman of your department and/or your major professor is reminded that he/she is responsible for being informed concerning research projects involving human subjects in the department, and should review protocols as often as needed to insure that the project is being conducted in compliance with our institution and with DHHS regulations.

This institution has an Assurance on file with the Office for Human Research Protection. The Assurance Number is IRB00000446.

Motoko Akiba

HSC No. 2018.22695

APPENDIX B

CONSENT FORMS

Teacher Agency in Lesson Study Project: Facilitator Consent Form

Dear Facilitator,

Thank you for your participating in the Teacher Agency in Lesson Study Project. You were invited to participate based on your facilitation of a lesson study team during the 2014-15 and 2015-16 school years. We ask that you please read this form carefully and ask any questions you may have.

The objectives of this project are to learn about: 1) how teachers interact with other teachers during lesson study, 2) how those interactions reflect teachers' values, goals, and beliefs about teaching and learning, and 3) how those interactions influence the group learning process.

Your participation in this project is <u>voluntary</u>. If you agree to be a part of this study, you will be asked to participate in an audio-recorded interview lasting approximately 120 minutes each in which you will be shown video clips of your facilitation of lesson study and asked about 1) group interactions during lesson study, 2) values and beliefs related to learning and instruction, and 3) your perception of the current reform environment in education. A list of specific questions and video clips will be emailed to you before the interview date. If you decide to participate, you can still withdraw from the project at any time.

Interviews will be audio-recorded. To minimize the risk of your responses being shared with colleagues or superiors, all the data collected from you will be treated as <u>confidential</u> to the extent allowed by law, and only the researchers will have access to the data. The data will be stored in password-protected computers and destroyed after ten years. The information gathered through this interview will NOT be shared with anyone outside the project team.

If you decide to participate in this project, you will receive a \$100 Amazon gift card for your time. This gift card will be emailed to you after completion of the interview. There are no other anticipated benefits to you directly, though we hope that this study will benefit the teaching profession by growing our knowledge of how to support teachers' learning.

Please provide your signature if you agree with the following statements:

- I understand the nature of my participation in this project consent to participate in the interview described above.
- I understand that I can withdraw from the project at any time.

Your name _			
-------------	--	--	--

Your signature	Date:
If you have any question about the pro-	oject, please contact:
Cassie Howard, Resear	rcher,
Dr. Motoko Akiba, Acade	
For questions related to the rights of h	numan subject, please contact:
_	Human Subjects Office
hu	mansubjects@fsu.edu
	(850) 644-8673
	The project ID:

Teacher Agency in Lesson Study Project: Teacher Consent Form

Dear Teachers,

Thank you for considering participation in the Teacher Agency in Lesson Study Project. You were invited to participate based on your involvement on a lesson study team during the 2014-15 and 2015-16 school years. We ask that you please read this form carefully and ask any questions you may have.

The objectives of this project are to learn about: 1) how teachers interact with other teachers during lesson study, 2) how those interactions reflect teachers' values, goals, and beliefs about teaching and learning, and 3) how those interactions influence the group learning process.

Your participation in this project is <u>voluntary</u>. If you agree to be a part of this study, you will be asked to participate in an audio-recorded interview lasting approximately 60 minutes in which you will be shown a video clip of your interactions during lesson study and asked about 1) group interactions during lesson study, 2) values and beliefs related to learning and instruction, and 3) your perception of the current reform environment in education. A list of specific questions and video clips will be emailed to you before the interview date. If you decide to participate, you can still withdraw from the project at any time.

Interviews will be audio-recorded. To minimize the risk of your responses being shared with colleagues or superiors, and all data collected from you will be treated as <u>confidential</u> to the extent allowed by law, and only the researchers will have access to the data. The data will be stored in password-protected computers and destroyed after ten years. The information gathered through this interview will NOT be shared with anyone outside the project team.

If you decide to participate in this project, you will receive a \$25 Amazon gift card for your time. This gift card will be emailed to you after completion of the interview. There are no other anticipated benefits to you directly, though we hope that this study will benefit the teaching profession by growing our knowledge of how to support teachers' learning.

Please provide your signature if you agree with the following statements:

- I understand the nature of my participation in this project consent to participate in the interview described above.
- I understand that I can withdraw from the project at any time.

Your name	
Your signature	Date:
If you have any question about the project, please contact: Cassie Howard, Researcher, Dr. Motoko Akiba, Academic Adviser,	

For questions related to the rights of human subject, please contact:

FSU Human Subjects Office

humansubjects@fsu.edu (850) 644-8673 The project ID:

REFERENCES

- Ahearn, L. M. (2001). Language and agency. *Annual review of anthropology*, 30(1), 109-137.
- Akiba, M., Howard, C., & Liang, G. (in press). Teacher learning communities for systemwide improvement of teaching and student learning. In L. E. Suter, R. (Ed.), Sage handbook of international research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Akiba, M., & Wilkinson, B. (2016). Adopting an international innovation for teacher professional development: State and district approaches to lesson study in Florida. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 67(1), 74-93.
- Allen, C.D. & Penuel, W.R. (2015). Studying teachers' sensemaking to investigate teachers' responses to professional development focused on new standards. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 66(2), 136-149.
- Alvesson, M., & Sandberg, J. (2011). Generating research questions through problematization. *Academy of Management Review*, *36*(2), 247-271.
- Ball, D.L. (1996). Teacher learning and the mathematics reform: What we think we know and what we need to learn. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 77(7), 500.
- Ball, D.L. & Cohen, D.K. (1999). Developing practice, developing practitioners: Toward a practice based theory of professional development. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Ed.), *The heart of the matter: Teaching as the learning profession*, (3-32). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special?. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389-408.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 1-26.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Toward a psychology of human agency. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *1*(2), 164-180.
- Bannister, N. A. (2015). Reframing practice: Teacher learning through interactions in a collaborative group. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 24(3), 347-372.
- Bausmith, J. M., & Barry, C. (2011). Revisiting professional learning communities to increase college readiness: The importance of pedagogical content knowledge. *Educational Researcher*, 40(4), 175-178.
- Berry, B. (Ed.). (2011). *Teaching 2030: What we must do for our students and our public schools: Now and in the future*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Bolam, R., McMahon, A., Stoll, L., Thomas, S., Wallace, M., Greenwood, A., Smith, M. (2005). *Creating and sustaining effective professional learning communities*. London: Department for Education and Skills.
- Borko, H., Koellner, K., & Jacobs, J. (2014). Examining novice TLs' facilitation of mathematics professional development. *The Journal of Mathematical Behaviors*, *33*, 149-167.

- Bridwell-Mitchell, E. (2015). Theorizing teacher agency and reform: How institutionalized instructional practices change and persist. *Sociology of Education*, 88(2), 140-159.
- Brown, J. S., Collins, A., & Duguid P. (1989). Situated cognition and the culture of learning. *Educational Researcher*, 18(1), 32–42.
- Bryk, A., Camburn, E., & Louis, K. (1999). Professional community in Chicago elementary schools: Facilitating factors and organizational consequences. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *35*(5), 751-781. doi:10.1177/0013161X99355004
- Bryk, A., & Schneider, B. (2002). *Trust in schools: A core resource for improvement*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Buchanan, R. (2015). Teacher identity and agency in an era of accountability. *Teachers and Teaching*, 21(6), 700-719.
- Calvert, L. (2016). Moving from compliance to agency: What teachers need to make professional learning work. Oxford, OH: Learning Forward and NCTAF.
- Camburn, E. M. (2010). Embedded teacher learning opportunities as a site for reflective practice: An exploratory study. *American Journal of Education*, *116*(4), 463-489.
- Coburn, C. (2001). Collective sensemaking about reading: How teachers mediate reading policy in their professional communities. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 23(2), 145-170.
- Coburn, C. (2005). The role of nonsystem actors in the relationship between policy and practice: The case of reading instruction in California. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 27(1), 23-52.
- Coburn, C. (2016). What's policy got to do with it? how the structure-agency debate can illuminate policy implementation. *American Journal of Education*, 122(3), 465-475.
- Coburn, C., Russell, J., Kaufman, J., & Stein, M. K. (2012). Supporting sustainability: Teachers' advice networks and ambitious instructional reform. *American Journal of Education*, 119(1), 137-182.
- Coburn, C., & Russell, J. (2008). District policy and teachers' social networks. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 30(3), 203-235. doi:10.3102/0162373708321829
- Coburn, C., & Stein, M. K. (2006). Communities of practice theory and the role of teacher professional community in policy implementation. In M.I. Honig, Ed. *New Directions in Education Policy Implementation: Confronting Complexity*, (25-46). Albany: SUNY Press.
- Cochran-Smith, M. (2004). Stayers, leavers, lovers, and dreamers: Insights about teacher retention. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *55*(*5*), 387-392.
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S. L. (1999). Chapter 8: Relationships of knowledge and practice: Teacher learning in communities. *Review of Research in Education*, 24(1), 249-305.
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S.L. (2006). Troubling images of teaching in no child left behind. *Harvard Educational Review*, 76(4), 668-697.
- Common Core State Standards. (2018). *Mathematics standards*. Retrieved from < http://www.corestandards.org/Math/>

- Cohen, D. K. (1990). A revolution in one classroom: The case of Mrs. Oublier. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 12(3), 311-329.
- Corbin, J. M., & Strauss, A. (1990). Grounded theory research: Procedures, canons, and evaluative criteria. *Qualitative Sociology*, *13*(1), 3-21.
- Creswell, J. W. (2005). Research design: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Merrill.
- Cuban, L. (1984). *How Teachers Taught: Constancy and Change in American Classrooms,* 1890-1980. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Curry, M. (2008). Critical Friends Groups: The possibilities and limitations embedded in teacher professional communities aimed at instructional improvement and school reform. *Teachers College Record*, 110(4), 733-774.
- Damşa, C. I., Kirschner, P. A., Andriessen, J. E., Erkens, G., & Sins, P. H. (2010). Shared epistemic agency: An empirical study of an emergent construct. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 19(2), 143-186.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2005). Teaching as a profession: lessons in teacher preparation and professional development. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87(3), 237-240.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Richardson, N. (2009). Research review/teacher learning: What matters. *Educational leadership*, 66(5), 46-53.
- Datnow, A. (2012). Teacher agency in educational reform: Lessons from social networks research. *American Journal of Education*, 119(1), 193-201.
- Dewey, J. (1929). The quest for certainty. New York: Minton, Balch & Co.
- Elliott, R., Kazemi, E., Lesseig, K., Mumme, J., Carroll, C., & Kelley-Petersen, M. (2009). Conceptualizing the work of leading mathematical tasks in professional development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 60(4), 364-379.
- Elmore, R. (2002). *Bridging the gap between standards and achievement: The imperative for professional development in education*. Albert Shanker Institute. 313-344.
- Emirbayer, M., & Mische, A. (1998). What is agency? *American Journal of Sociology*, 103(4), 962-1023.
- Eteläpelto, A., Vähäsantanen, K., Hökkä, P., & Paloniemi, S. (2013). What is agency? Conceptualizing professional agency at work. *Educational Research Review*, 10, 45-65.
- Fernandez, C., & Yoshida, M. (2004). Lesson study: A Japanese approach to improving mathematics teaching and learning. Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five misunderstandings about case-study research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(2), 219-245.
- Freire, P. (2007). Pedagogy of the oppressed: 30th anniversary edition. New York: Continuum.
- Gallimore, R., Goldenberg, C. N., & Weisner, T. S. (1993). The social construction and subjective reality of activity settings: Implications for community psychology. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 21(4), 537-559.

- Garet, M. (2008). The impact of two professional development interventions on early reading instruction and achievement. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences. U.S. Department of Education.
- Garet, M., Porter, A., Desimone, L., Birman, B., & Yoon, K. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American educational research journal*, 38(4), 915-945.
- Garet, M., & Warner, E. (2010). *Middle school mathematics professional development impact study*. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Dept. of Education.
- Garet, M., Wayne, A., Stancavage, F., Taylor, J., Eaton, M., Walters, K., . . . Doolittle, F. (2011). Middle school mathematics professional development impact study: Findings after the second year of implementation. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.
- Gigante, N. A., & Firestone, W. A. (2008). Administrative support and teacher leadership in schools implementing reform. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 46, 302–331.
- Giles, C., & Hargreaves, A. (2006). The sustainability of innovative schools as learning organizations and professional learning communities during standardized reform. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 42(1), 124-156. doi:10.1177/0013161X05278189
- Goldring, R., Taie, S., & Riddles, M. (2014). *Teacher Attrition and Mobility: Results from the* 2012-13 Teacher Follow-Up Survey. First Look. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Grossman, P.L., Wineburg, S., & Woolworth, S. (2001). Toward a theory of teacher community. *Teachers College Record*, 103(6), 942-1012.
- Grossman, P. L., Smagorinsky, P., & Valencia, S. (1999). Appropriating tools for teaching English: A theoretical framework for research on learning to teach. *American Journal of Education*, 108(1), 1-29.
- Hanuscin, D. L., Sinha, S., & Rebello, C. M. (2011). Supporting the development of science teacher leaders-Where do we begin? *Science Teacher*, 21(1), 12-18.
- Hanushek, E., & Rivkin, S. G. (2006). Teacher quality. *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, 2, 1051-1078.
- Hargreaves, A. (1991). Contrived collegiality: The micropolitics of teacher collaboration. In J. Blase (Ed.), *The politics of life in schools: Power, conflict, and cooperation* (pp. 46-72). Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Hargreaves, A. (1994). Changing teachers, changing times: Teachers' work and culture in the postmodern age. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Hargreaves, A. (1998). The emotional politics of teaching and teacher development: With implications for educational leadership. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, *1*(4), 315-336.

- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (2012). *Professional capital: Transforming teaching in every school*. Teachers College Press.
- Harris, A., Leithwood, K., Day, C., Sammons, P., & Hopkins, D. (2007). Distributed leadership and organizational change: Reviewing the evidence. *Journal of Educational Change*, 8(4), 337-347.
- Hart, L. C., Alston, A. S., & Murata, A. (2011). Lesson study research and practice in mathematics education (p. 10). New York: Springer.
- Hawley, W.D., & Valli, L. (1999). The essentials of effective professional development: A new consensus. *Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice*, 127, 150.
- Hiebert, J., Gallimore, R., & Stigler, J. (2002). A knowledge base for the teaching profession: What would it look like and how can we get one? *Educational Researcher*, 31(5), 3-15.
- Hiebert, J., & Grouws, D. A. (2007). The effects of classroom mathematics teaching on students' learning. *Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning*, 1, 371-404.
- Hirsh, S. (2017). Leverage professional learning wins in ESSA for better learning systems. Retrieved from http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/learning_forwards_pd_watch/2017/01/leverage_professional_learning_wins_in_essa_for_better_learning_systems.html?utm_source=feedblitz&utm_medium=FeedBlitzRss&utm_campaign=learningforwardspdwatch
- Honig, M. (2006). Complexity and policy implementation. *New Directions in Education Policy Implementation: Confronting Complexity*, 1-25.
- Horn, I. S. (2007). Fast kids, slow kids, lazy kids: Framing the mismatch problem in mathematics teachers' conversations. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *16*(1), 37-79.
- Horn, I. S., & Kane, B. D. (2015). Opportunities for professional learning in mathematics teacher workgroup conversations: Relationships to instructional expertise. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 24(3), 373-418.
- Horn, I.S., & Little, J. (2010). Attending to problems of practice: Routines and resources for professional learning in teachers' workplace interactions. *American Educational Research Journal*, 47(1), 181-217.
- Huberman, M. (1995). Networks that alter teaching: Conceptualizations, exchanges and experiments. *Teachers and Teaching*, 1(2), 193-211.
- Ingersoll, R. M. (2001). Teacher turnover and teacher shortages: An organizational analysis. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(3), 499-534.
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2008). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Kennedy, M. (2016). How does professional development improve teaching? *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 945-980.

- Ketelaar, E., Beijaard, D., Boshuizen, H. P., & Den Brok, P. J. (2012). Teachers' positioning towards an educational innovation in the light of ownership, sense-making and agency. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 273-282.
- Killion, J., Harrison, C., Colton, A., Bryan, C., Delehant, A., & Cooke, D. (2016). *A systemic approach to elevating teacher leadership*. Learning Forward. Retrieved from < https://learningforward.org/docs/default-source/pdf/a-systemic-approach-to-elevating-teacher-leadership.pdf>
- Koellner, K., Jacobs, J., & Borko, H. (2011). Mathematics professional development: Critical features for developing leadership skills and building teachers' capacity. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, 13(1), 115-136.
- Lampert, M. (1990). When the problem is not the question and the solution is not the answer: Mathematical knowing and teaching. *American Educational Research Journal*, 27(1), 29-63.
- Lampert, M., & Ball, D. L. (1999). Aligning teacher education with contemporary K-12 reform visions. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Ed.), *The heart of the matter: Teaching as the learning profession*, (33-53). San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Lasky, S. (2005). A sociocultural approach to understanding teacher identity, agency and professional vulnerability in a context of secondary school reform. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(8), 899-916.
- Learning Forward. (2017). Standards for professional learning: Leadership. Retrieved from https://learningforward.org/standards/leadership
- Leithwood, K., & Mascall, B. (2008). Collective leadership effects on student achievement. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 44(4), 529-561.
- Lewis, C., Perry, R., & Murata, A. (2006). How should research contribute to instructional improvement? the case of lesson study. *Educational Researcher*, 35(3), 3-14.
- Lewis, C., & Hurd, J. (2011). Lesson Study step by step: How teacher learning communities improve instruction. Portsmouth, NH: Heinneman.
- Lipponen, L., & Kumpulainen, K. (2011). Acting as accountable authors: Creating interactional spaces for agency work in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(5), 812-819.
- Little, J. W. (1990). The persistence of privacy: Autonomy and initiative in teachers' professional relations. *Teachers College Record*, *91*(4), 509-536.
- Lord, B., & Miller, B. (2000). *Teacher leadership: An appealing and inescapable force in school reform?* Boston: Education Development Center.
- Lortie, D. C. (1975). School teacher. Chicago & London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Loucks-Horsley, S., Hewson, P. W., Love, N., & Stiles, K. E. (1998). *Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press, INC.

- Louis, K., Dretzke, B., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). How does leadership affect student achievement? Results from a national US survey. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 21(3), 315-336.
- Louis, K. S., Marks, H. M., & Kruse, S. (1996). Teachers' professional community in restructuring schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 33(4), 757-798.
- Mangin, M., & Stoelinga, S. (Eds.). (2008). Effective teacher leadership: Using research to inform and reform. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Margolis, J., & Huggins, K.S. (2012). Distributed but undefined: New teacher leader roles to change schools. *Journal of School Leadership*, 22, 953–981.
- Margolis, J., & Doring, A. (2012). The fundamental dilemma of teacher leader-facilitated professional development: Do as I (kind of) say, not as I (sort of) do. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 48, 859–882.
- McLaughlin, M. (1998). Listening and learning from the field: Tales of policy implementation and situated practice. In A. Hargreaves, A. Lieberman, M. Fullan, and D.W. Hopkins. *International handbook of educational change: Part two.* (pp. 70-84). New York, NY: Springer.
- McLaughlin, M. W., & Mitra, D. (2001). Theory-based change and change-based theory: Going deeper, going broader. *Journal of Educational Change*, 2(4), 301-323.
- McLaughlin, M., & Talbert, J. (2001). *Professional communities and the work of high school teaching*. University of Chicago Press.
- Markow, D., Macia, L., & Lee, H. (2013). The MetLife survey of the American teacher: Challenges for school leadership. New York, NY: Metropolitan Life Insurance Company. Retrieved from < https://www.metlife.com/assets/cao/foundation/MetLife-Teacher-Survey-2012.pdf>
- Morris, A. K., & Hiebert, J. (2011). Creating shared instructional products: An alternative approach to improving teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 40(1), 5-14.
- Muijs, D., & Harris, A. (2003). Teacher leadership—Improvement through empowerment? An overview of the literature. *Educational Management & Administration*, 31(4), 437-448.
- Murata, A., Akiba, M., Howard, C., Kuleshova, A., & Febrega, J. (2016). What do teachers mean when they say student understanding? Collective conceptual orientations and teacher learning in lesson study. Paper presented at Association of Mathematics Teacher Educators Annual Conference.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2018). *Principles and standards*. Retrieved from < https://www.nctm.org/Standards-and-Positions/Principles-and-Standards/Process/>
- National Research Council. (2000). *How people learn: brain, mind, experience, and school: expanded edition*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/9853.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *How people learn II: learners, contexts, and cultures*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24783.

- Neumerski, C. (2013). Rethinking instructional leadership, a review: What do we know about principal, teacher, and coach instructional leadership, and where should we go from here?. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 49(2), 310-347.
- Opfer, V. D., & Pedder, D. (2011). Conceptualizing teacher professional learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(3), 376-407.
- Ortner, S. B. (1984). Theory in anthropology since the sixties. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 26(1), 126-166.
- Penuel, W. R., Fishman, B. J., Cheng, B. H., & Sabelli, N. (2011). Organizing research and development at the intersection of learning, implementation, and design. *Educational Researcher*, 40(7), 331-337.
- Perry, R., & Lewis, C. (2009). What is successful adaptation of lesson study in the US? *Journal of Educational Change*, 10, 365-391
- Priestley, M., Edwards, R., Priestley, A., & Miller, K. (2012). Teacher agency in curriculum making: Agents of change and spaces for manoeuvre. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 42(2), 191-214.
- Priestley, M., Biesta, G. J., & Robinson, S. (2013). Teachers as agents of change: Teacher agency and emerging models of curriculum. In M. Priestley & G.J. Biesta (Eds), *Reinventing the curriculum: New trends in curriculum policy and practice* (pp. 187-206). London: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Priestley, M., Biesta, G.J., & Robinson, S. (2015). *Teacher agency: An ecological approach*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (2000). What do new views of knowledge and thinking have to say about research on teacher learning? *Educational Researcher*, 29(1), 4-15.
- Pyhältö, K., Pietarinen, J., & Soini, T. (2014). Comprehensive school teachers' professional agency in large-scale educational change. *Journal of Educational Change*, 15(3), 303-325.
- Pyhältö, K., Pietarinen, J., & Soini, T. (2015). Teachers' professional agency and learning–from adaption to active modification in the teacher community. *Teachers and Teaching*, 21(7), 811-830.
- Pyhältö, K., Pietarinen, J., & Soini, T. (2012). Do comprehensive school teachers perceive themselves as active professional agents in school reforms? *Journal of Educational Change*, 13(1), 95-116.
- Rentner, K., Kober N., Frizzell, M., & Ferguson, M. (2016). Listen to us: Teachers views and voices. Center on Education Policy. Retrieved from < https://cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=1456>
- Resnick, L. B. (1987). The 1987 presidential address learning in school and out. *Educational Researcher*, 16(9), 13-54.
- Richardson, V. (1997). Constructivist teaching and teacher education: Theory and practice. In *Constructivist teacher education: Building a world of new understandings.* (pp. 3-14). London: Falmer Press.

- Riveros, A., Newton, P., & Burgess, D. (2012). A situated account of teacher agency and learning: Critical reflections on professional learning communities. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 35(1), 202-216.
- Robinson, S. (2012). Constructing teacher agency in response to the constraints of education policy: Adoption and adaptation. *Curriculum Journal*, 23(2), 231-245.
- Ronfeldt, M., Farmer, S. O., McQueen, K., & Grissom, J. A. (2015). Teacher collaboration in instructional teams and student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, *52*(3), 475-514. doi:10.3102/0002831215585562
- Rose, M. (2017). Devos strips stakeholder engagement from ESSA requirements. *AFT: Our News*. Retrieved from < https://www.aft.org/news/devos-strips-stakeholder-engagement-essa-requirements>
- Ross, D., Adams, A., Bondy, E., Dana, N., Dodman, S., & Swain, C. (2011). Preparing teacher leaders: Perceptions of the impact of a cohort-based, job embedded, blended teacher leadership program. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(8), 1213-1222.
- Schon, D.A. (1995). *The reflective practitioner: How professionals think in action*. New York: Arena.
- Scribner, J., Sawyer, R., Watson, S., & Myers, V. (2007). Teacher teams and distributed leadership: A study of group discourse and collaboration. *Educational Administration Ouarterly*, 43(1), 67-100.
- Scribner, S. (1985). Knowledge at work. Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 16(3), 199-206.
- Scribner, S., & Cole, M. (1981). Unpackaging literacy. Writing: The nature, development, and teaching of written communication, 1, 71-87.
- Servage, L. (2008). Critical and transformative practices in professional learning communities. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 63-77.
- Servage, L. (2009). Who is the "professional" in a professional learning community? an exploration of teacher professionalism in collaborative professional development settings. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *32*(1), 149.
- Slavit, D., Nelson, T. H., & Deuel, A. (2013). Teacher groups' conceptions and uses of student-learning data. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 64(1), 8-21.
- Smith III, J. P., Disessa, A. A., & Rochelle, J. (1994). Misconceptions reconceived: A constructivist analysis of knowledge in transition. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 3(2), 115-163.
- Spillane, J., Reiser, B., & Reimer, T. (2002). Policy implementation and cognition: Reframing and refocusing implementation research. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(3), 387-431.
- Stein, M. K., & Nelson, B. S. (2003). Leadership content knowledge. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 25(4), 423-448.
- Stein, M. K., Silver, E. A., & Smith, M. S. (1998). Mathematics reform and teacher development from the community of practice perspective. In J. G. Greeno & S. Goldman (Eds.).

- Thinking practices in mathematics and science learning (pp.) Hillsdale, N. J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- Stigler, J. W., & Hiebert, J. (1999). *The teaching gap: Best ideas from the world's teachers for improving education in the classroom*. New York: The Free Press, A Division of Simon & Schuster Inc.
- Stoll, L., Bolam, R., McMahon, A., Wallace, M., & Thomas, S. (2006). Professional learning communities: A review of the literature. *Journal of Educational Change*, 7(4), 221-258.
- Szczesiul, S.A., & Huizenga, J.L. (2015). Bridging structure and agency: Exploring the role of teacher leadership in teacher collaboration. *Journal of School Leadership*, 25(2), 368-410.
- Swan, M. (2001). Dealing with misconceptions in mathematics. In Gates, P. (Ed.), *Issues in mathematics teaching*, (147-165). New York: RoutledgeFalmer
- Taylor, M., Goeke, J., Klein, E., Onore, C., & Geist, K. (2011). Changing leadership: Teachers lead the way for schools that learn. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *27*, 920–929.
- The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. (2014). *Teachers know best: Teachers' views on professional development*. Retrieved from http://k12education.gatesfoundation.org/resource/teachers-know-best-teachers-views-on-professional-development/>
- Thomas, C. (2017, Feb 15). Interview of secretary of education Betsy DeVos. *TCA Opinion*. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1874741387
- Thompson, C. L., & Zeuli, J. S. (1999). The frame and the tapestry: Standards-based reform and professional development. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Eds), *Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice*, (341-375). San Francisco: Josey-Bass.
- Timperley, H. (2011). Leading teachers' professional learning. *Leadership and Learning*, 118-130.
- Tyack, D. B., & Cuban, L. (1995). *Tinkering toward utopia*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). Fact Sheet: Teach to lead. Retrieved from < https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-sheet-teach-lead>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). Teacher professional and career development. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/oii-news/teacher-professional-and-career-development
- Vähäsantanen, K. (2015). Professional agency in the stream of change: Understanding educational change and teachers' professional identities. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 1-12.
- Vähäsantanen, K., & Eteläpelto, A. (2009). Vocational teachers in the face of a major educational reform: individual ways of negotiating professional identities. *Journal of Education and Work*, 22(1), 15-33.
- Vernon-Dotson, L. J. (2008). Promoting inclusive education through teacher leadership teams: A school reform initiative. *Journal of School Leadership*, *18*, 344–373.

- Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practice and student learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 80-91.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1962). *Thought and language*. Cambridge, M.I.T. Press, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Vygotsky, L.S. (1981). The genesis of higher mental functions. In J.V. Wertsch. (Ed.), *The concept of activity in Soviet psychology*. (pp. 144-188). Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe
- Warford, M. K. (2011). The zone of proximal teacher development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(2), 252-258.
- Warshauer, H. K. (2015). Productive struggle in middle school mathematics classrooms. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 18(4), 375-400.
- Webster-Wright, A. (2009). Reframing professional development through understanding authentic professional learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 702-739.
- Wenner, J. A., & Campbell, T. (2017). The theoretical and empirical basis of teacher leadership: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 87(1), 134-171.
- Wenger, E. (1998). *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wertsch, J. V. (1993). Voices of the mind. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Wertsch, J. V., & Rupert, L. J. (1993). The authority of cultural tools in a sociocultural approach to mediated agency. *Cognition and Instruction*, 11(3-4), 227-239.
- Wertsch, J. V., & Tulviste, P. (1992). LS Vygotsky and contemporary developmental psychology. *Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 548.
- Wertsch, J. V., Tulviste, P., & Hagstrom, F. (1993). A sociocultural approach to agency. *Contexts for learning: Sociocultural dynamics in children's development*, 23, 336-356.
- Willis, P. (1977). Learning to labour. London: Saxon House.
- Wilson, S. M., & Berne, J. (1999). Chapter 6: Teacher Learning and the Acquisition of Professional Knowledge: An Examination of Research on Contemporary Professional Development. *Review of Research in Education*, 24(1), 173-209.
- Wilson, P. H., Sztajn, P., Edgington, C., Webb, J., & Myers, M. (2017). Changes in teachers' discourse about students in a professional development on learning trajectories. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(3), 568-604.
- Wood, D. R. (2007). Professional learning communities: Teachers, knowledge, and knowing. *Theory into Practice*, 46(4), 281-290.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research (Vol. 5). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publishing.
- York-Barr, J., & Duke, K. (2004). What do we know about teacher leadership? Findings from two decades of scholarship. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(3), 255-316.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Cassie received her B.A. from the University of Mississippi and her M.A. in Latin American Studies from the University of Florida. She has taught in elementary, middle, and high schools, which spurred her interest in how to support and prepare teachers in ways that lead to enhanced, meaningful learning opportunities for all students. Her areas of research interest include teacher professional learning, teacher leadership, teacher agency, and teacher policy and reform.